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FORMS.

“Pleadings and the entries of judgments and decrees ought to be in the
language of the law.”
Cuier Justice Ru¥riN, in Henry v. Henry, 9 Iredell (N. C.), 286.

‘ One departure from the rule invites another, and this proceeds until
no rule is left.”
Curier Justice RurriN, in Henry v. Henry, supra.

TRUTH.
“Truth is the handmaid of justice, freedom is its child, peace is its
companion, safety walks in its steps, and victory follows in its train.”
SIDNEY SMITH.






CASES

SUPREME JUDICIAL  COURT
OF THE

STATE OF MAINE.

JamMes W. PEASLEY vs. SUMNER S. DRisko.

SAME vs. BroN TIBBEITS.
Washington.  Opinion Sept. 25, 1906.

Deeds. Description. Construction.

1. The rule that a later specific description controls a prior general de-
scription in a conveyance of land is limited to the evident subject matter
of the conveyance. It does not require the inclusion of other matter.

2. In the description of the land to be conveyed by a deed the expression
“the same deeded to me by B.”” may only indicate the source of the
grantor’s title, or locate and identify the parcel intended to be conveyed.
It does not necessarily adopt all and singular the boundaries named in the
deed referred to.

3. In this case the land to be conveyed was described in the deed as fol-
lows: ‘“Also.one other lot of meadow land lying on the Main Indian
River Stream the same deeded to me by John Burns, meaning and intend-
ing to convey all my right in fresh meadow lands on both streams.” In
the deed from Burns the land conveyed was described by metes and
bounds which included meadow and upland.

The meadow was only about one-fifth of the parcel described and the line
of demarcation between the upland and the meadow was plainly visible.
Held : that the subject matter of the conveyance was meadow land only;
that the reference to the deed of Burns was merely to identify or show
the location of the meadow land; and that the upland included in the
boundaries named in the Burns’ deed, did not pass by the deed in question.

VOL. cII 2 '
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On exceptions by plaintiff. Overruled.

Trespass quare clausum fregit alleging that the defendant broke
and entered the plaintiff’s close in Jonesport and picked and carried
away and converted to his own use 200 quarts of blueberries growing
in said close. Plea, the general issue.

Heard at the January term, 1906, of the Supreme Judicial Court,
Washington County, by the presiding Justice, without the interven-
tion of a jury, with the right to except.

The plaintiff’s close is described in his writ as ““the land lying on
the Main Indian River Stream, within the limits of Lot numbered
12, as according to B. R. Jones survey and plan of Township No.
22.” The defendant admitted that he picked the blueberries on said
Lot numbered 12, but claimed that he picked them on upland, within
the limits of the land described in the writ, to which upland the
defendant claimed title as an heir of one Timothy Drisko. The
plaintiff claimed title under a mortgage given by said Timothy Drisko
to one Stephen Reynolds. (The description of the premises conveyed
by said mortgage fully appears in the opinion.) The parties agreed
that their rights depended ‘“ upon the interpretation of and the con-
struction of the desecription” contained in the aforesaid mortgage
given by said Timothy Drisko to said Stephen Reéynolds. The pre-
siding Justice ruled that the mortgage conveyed only the meadow
land part of the lot and not the upland part. To this ruling the
plaintiff excepted.

The gist of the case appears in the opinion.

A. D. McFaul, for plaintiff.
H. H. Gray, for defendants.

Sirring: EMERY, WHITEHOUSE, SAVAGE, PEABODY, SPEAR,
JJ.

EMERY, J. In the granting clause of a deed of real estate from
Timothy Drisko to Stephen Reynolds the description of the land is
as follows: ¢ A certain piece of meadow land situated, lying and
being in the town of Jonesport in said county and bounded and



Me.] PEASLEY . DRISKO. 19

described as follows (viz) one lot on Steel Meadow Brook so called,

being the same I bought of Isaac N. McCaslin. Also one other lot
of meadow land lying on the main Indian River Stream, the same
deeded to me by John Burns, meaning and intending to convey all

my right in fresh meadow lands on both streams.” In the granting
clause of the deed last referred to (John Burns to Timothy Drisko)
the description is as follows: ¢ A certain piece or parcel of land

situated in Jonesport in said county and State, bounded as follows :

by Indian River Stream on the west a short distance below the Rogers
Meadow Brook so called ; on the south by land of the said Timothy
Drisko and Barnabas B. Leighton; on the east by Lot 12 in the
Third Range; and on the north by land of Joseph Emerson in No.

11 in the Second Range; containing 50 acres more or less.” The
boundaries named in this last named description (Burns to Drisko)

include both upland and meadow land. It appears from the evi-

dence that there is a distinet line of demarcation between the two,

and that the meadow land is not over one-fifth of the whole. The

determining question is whether the language of the whole descrip-
tion in the deed from Timothy Drisko to Stephen Reynolds shows
an intention to convey the whole of the 50 acre lot described in the
deed from John Burns to Drisko, or only the meadow land part of

it.

The plaintiff contends (1) that the description in the deed Burns
to Drisko is to be read as a whole into the deed Drisko to Reynolds,
and (2) that when so read into the latter deed, it fixes the boundaries
of the lot to be conveyed, under the rule that a later specific descrip-
tion controls a prior general description. But the reading into the
description the words in the deed referred to does not read out of it
the other words in the description. The reference to another deed
does not necessarily make the boundaries named in that deed the
boundaries of the lot named in the first deed. The language may
show that the reference was only to state the source of the title, or
to identify the lot, and not for statement of boundaries. Brunswick
Sav. Inst. v. Crossman, 76 Maine, 577, at p. 585 ; Lovejoy v. Lovett,
124 Mass, 270. Again, the rule invoked is limited to the evident
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subject matter of the conveyance. It does not require the inclusion
of other matter. Thus, if A. writes: ¢“I grant White acre, the
same deeded to me by B,” and the deed of B. included Black acre
with White acre, it does not follow that A. has granted Black acre
also. So if A. should write “I grant a certain parcel of flats, the
same deeded to me by B.” and the deed of B. included upland and
flats in one description it would not follow that A. had granted the
upland as well as the flats especially if the upland was five times the
extent of the flats.

In this case it seems evident to us that the subject matter of the
deed Drisko to Reynolds was meadow land only, and that the refer-
ence to the Burns’ deed in the description of the second lot was not to
state its boundaries, but merely to identify it, to show its place on
Indian River Stream. The first lot is specifically described as “a
piece of meadow land.” The second lot is also specifically de-
seribed as ¢ One other lot of meadow land.” The description then
closes with the words: *“ Meaning and intending to convey all my
right in fresh meadow on both streams.” The whole description is
so plainly limited to meadow land, it should not be enlarged to
include a much larger tract of upland merely because of the refer-
ence to a deed which conveyed meadow land and also upland. The
language is not so explicit as to require it. Grammatically, the
word “same’ may refer to “meadow land” as well as to “lot,”
and even if it refers to ¢lot,”” that ‘“lot” is still a “lot of meadow

land.”
Ezxceptions overruled.
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I

CuARLES W. STEPHENS vs. CITY OF O1p TowN.

Penobscot.  Opinion September 26, 1906.

Public Officers. Superintendent of Streets. Compensation. Quantum Meruil.
R. 8., chapter 23, section 72.

A public officer for the performance of his official duties is entitled to
such compensation only as is fixed by law for that office. If no compen-
sation has been thus fixed he is not entitled to any.

A public officer appointed by a municipality, though subject in some
respects to the orders of the municipality, cannot recover of the munici-
pality any compensation for his official services unless a compensation
thereof has been fixed by law for the municipality to pay, and then only
to the extent so fixed. He cannot recover anything upon a quantum
meruit count. '

The Superintendent of Streets in Old Town in 1904-5 was not an employee
or agent of the city entitled to damages for breach of contract for employ-
ment, but was a public officer possessing official powers and charged with
public duties.

The Street Board of Old Town though authorized by law to ‘“make all
contract for labor ”’ on the streets was not authorized to fix the compensa-
tion of the Superintendent of Streets.

The action of the City Council of Old Town in allowing from time to time
as presented, bills of the Superintendent of Streets for services in the care
of the streets did not fix any salary or compensation for that office.

Though the plaintiff may have been de jure Superintendent of Streets in
Old Town from April, 1904, to Jan’y 26, 1905, it does not appear that any
salary was fixed by law for that office to be paid by the city, hence he
cannot recover any salary for that time.

The statute R. S., chapter 23, section 72, provides a per diem compen-
gation ‘‘ for every day of actual service’” only. The plaintiff rendered no
service during the time named and hence cannot recover under that statute,
even though he was prepared and desired to perform all the duties of the
office, but was prevented by the action of the City Council.

The plaintiff hasincluded in his claim, however, an item of three dollars
for services performed the preceding year, for which the defendant city
consents that he may have judgment, and therefore the plaintiff may have
judgment for that sum.

On report. Judgment for plaintiff for $3.00.
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Assumpsit on account annexed to recover the sum of $610.13, for
salary connected with the office of Superintendent of Streets of the
defendant city. The writ also contained a quantum meruit count as
follows:

« Also, for that the said defendant, at said Bangor, to wit, at said
Old Town, on the 4th day of April, A. D., 1905, in consideration
that the plaintiff, at its request, had done and performed certain labor
and services for it, the said defendant, promised the plaintiff to pay
him on demand, so much money as he reasonably deserved to have
therefor ; and the plaintiff avers that he reasonably deserved to have
the sum of six hundred and ten dollars, and thirteen cents therefor,
(8610.13) of which the defendant then and there had notice.”

This action came on for trial at the January term, 1906, of the
Supreme Judicial Court, Penobscot County, at which said term an
agreed statement of facts was filed, and then by agreement the case
was reported to the Law Court “for decision upon the agreed facts.”

The agreed statement of facts is as follows :

1. That, at the annual election of officers in said city, held on
the first Monday in April, 1903, plaintiff was duly elected to the
office of superintendent of Streets of said city, by the Street Board,
under the amendment to the City Charter of 1903 as provided by
chap. 197 of the Private and Special Laws for the year 1903, and

acted in that capacily during the municipal year ending the first -

Monday in April, 1904, and that the balance of three dollars as
specified in the account annexed to plaintiff’s writ, was, and is due to
him on his salary for the municipal year ending April 3, 1904.

“2. That, at the annual election of officers in said city, held on
the first Mounday in April, 1904, said plaintiff was re-elected to the
office of Superintendent of Streets, by the Street Board, and that
plaintiff duly qualified for that office and immediately entered upon
the discharge of the duties of said office.

«3. That, at the regular meeting for election of officers held on
the first Monday in April, 1904, as aforesaid, the regularly elected
and qualified City Council of said city for said year, proceedea to,
and did elect an entire new Street Board of five members, and this
Board so elected, proceeded to, and did elect one George W. Griffin
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to the office of Superintendent of Streets; that said Griffin thereafter-
ward, namely, on April 6th, 1904, forcibly seized the team and other
property pertaining to the Street Department, and assumed the office
of Superintendent of Streets, and entered upon the performance of
the duties thereof, thereby ousting the plaintiff from said office;
that the said City Council refused to recognize said Stephens as the
rightful incumbent of the office of Superintendent of Streets, but did
recognize said Griffin in said office, and paid to him from month to
month the salary fixed for that office by the de facto Street Board ;
that said Griffin, on and after April 6th, 1904, performed all the
duties, and exercised all the functions of that office until, and includ-
ing the 26th day of January, 1905, on which said date the said Street
Board, elected in 1903 was declared to be the legally elected Street
Board, and the said plaintiff the rightful incumbent of said office of
Superintendent of Streets, and thereupon all the property pertaining
to the Street Department was surrendered and turned over by said
Griffin to the parties legally entitled to possession thereof, and said
plaintiff was then and there re-instated in, and assumed the said office.

“4. That, from and after his election to said office as aforesaid,
on the said first Monday in April, 1904, and before any payments
had been made to said Griffin, as aforesaid, said plaintiff gave notice
to said City Council that he claimed to be the legally elected Super-
intendent of Streets, and that from said 6th day of April; 1904, to
and including said 26th day of January 1905, said plaintiff repeated-
ly gave notice as aforesaid of his claim to said office, and held him-
self at all times in readiness to assume and perform the duties
thereof; that he never resigned from said office nor was he discharged
by the Street Board which elected him to that office; that during
said period said plaintiff regularly presented to the said City Council
of said city, monthly bills for the amount of the per diem salary due
and payable to him from said office at the end of each month, accord-
ing to the annexed schedule, payment of which was refused by said
City Council.

«5. That, after assuming said office, on January 27th, 1905, as
aforesaid, plaintiff performed all the duties and exercised all the
functions pertaining thereunto for the remainder of the current
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municipal year, and during that time, namely, from January 27th,
1905, to April 3rd, 1905, was paid by said City Council of said
city, on monthly bills rendered therefor-to that body, the per diem
salary of $1.50 per day, as fixed for said office by said Street Board,
as hereinafter specified.

“6. That the yearly salary or emolument fixed for the office of
Street Superintendent by the Street Board for the years 1903 and
1904 consisted of two parts, namely: a flat sum of two hundred
dollars, and $1.50 per day additional.

“7. That no salary for the office of Superintendent of Streets
was fixed by the City Council for either of the years 1903, 1904 or
1905 ; that no special appropriation for salary for this office was
made for either of said years 1903, 1904 and 1905, nor for several
years previous to 1903 ; that for several years the salary of the
Superintendent of Streets has been paid out of the appropriation for
roads and bridges ; that the usual method of payment of this salary

_has been by presentment of bills for the per diem salary for each
month to the City Council, which body approves and orders payment
thereof monthly, and the flat salary is usually paid semi-annually, in
September and February, and this is the usual manner of payment
of salary and compensations in all similar cases ; that since the pas-
sage of the said amendment of 1903, the Superintendent of Streets
has been elected and the salary for that office has been fixed by the
Street Board each year.

“8. 'That said plaintiff is the present incumbent of said office of
Superintendent of Streets, and the aforesaid method of fixing his
salary and the payment thereof has been followed during the current
municipal year by the City Council of said city.

“9. That the amount claimed to be due by the plaintiff is cor-
rectly stated in the account annexed to writ, but the defendant does
not hereby admit that anything is due from defendant city to the
plaintiff.”

Clarence Scott, for plaintiff.

F. J. Whiting, for defendant.
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SrrriNe : WisweLy, C. J., EMERY, WHITEHOUSE, * SAVAGE,
PEABODY, SPEAR, JJ.

e

EMERY, J. From the first Monday in April, 1904, to January
26, 1905, the plaintiff was de jure, though not de facto, superintend-
ent of streets in the city of Old Town, holding an office created by
the charter of the city, and he was willing and prepared to perform
the duties of the office, but was prevented from doing so by the city
council’s wrongful recognition of another person as superintendent
of streets who did perform the duties of the office. The plaintiff
now brings this action to recover the salary or emoluments of the
office accruing during that time.

The superintendent of streets in Old Town was not, under the
city charter, an employee or agent acting under contract with the
city and entitled to damages for breach of a contract for employment.
He was a public official possessing official powers and charged with
public duties and hence, according to the well settled law, can
recover only the salary or emoluments established by law for that
office to be paid by the city. The question, therefore, is whether
any such salary or emoluments were established for the office of
superintendent of streets in Old Town.

The only statute cited is R. 8., ch. 23, sec. 72, which provides that
the compensation of the road commissioners of towns “shall be such
sum as the town shall annually vote therefor, which sum shall in
no case be less than one dollar and fifty centsa day for every day
of actual service.” Even if this statute includes the superintendent
of streets provided for in the charter of the city of Old Town, it
does not avail the plaintiff, since it limits the per diem compensa-
tion to days of actual service, and the plaintiff did not perform any
service.

No such salary was established in terms by the city council.
No appropriation was made for it, the compensation to the
superintendent of streets being paid from time to time out of
the general appropriation for roads and bridges upon bills pre-
sented therefor and allowed by special order of the council. The
Street Board, however, a Board charged by the charter with general
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superintendence of the streets and with the election of the superin-
tendent, assumed as in preceding years to fix the salary at $200 per
year and $1.50 per day additional. It is not claimed that the Street
Board had any express authority from the legislature or city council
to establish such salary, but it did have legislative authority to
“make all contracts for labor.” 'This power, however, cannot be
stretched to include the power to establish an official salary for a
public office.

The plaintiff contends that by allowing and paying for the munici-
pal year 1904-05 and for several years next preceding the bills of
the superintendent for salary as thus fixed by the Street Board, the
city council impliedly adopted that act of the Board as its own act,
and thus, by implication at least, established that salary for the
office. 'This contention must be overruled. The payment of a
claim made by an official for a specific sum as his official salary only
disposes of that particular claim. It does not oblige the payment of
any similar claim afterward made. It does not establish a salary for
the office. : ‘

The plaintiff also counts upon a quantum meruit, and contends
that, even if no siated sum has been established by law for the office,
the sum claimed by him is a reasonable sum and what the responsi-
bilities and duties of the office are reasonably worth. Asalready stated,
there was no contractual obligation upon the city to make any com-
pensation, hence there can be no recovery upon a quantum meruit.
The city’s obligation was only to pay such salary or make such com-
pensation as should be established by law for the office. The gov-
ernment is not obliged to provide any salary or emoluments for the
incumbent of any public office. If an office unprovided with com-
pensation i3 accepted, the incumbent has no legal claim for compensa-
tion. The plaintifi’s office does not appear to have been provided by
competent authority with any compensation to be paid by the city,
hence he cannot recover any for the time named. He has included
in his claim, however, an item of three dollars for services actually
performed the preceding year, for which the city consents he may

have judgment.
Judgment for the plaintiff for three dollars.
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ErLisaA S. MARTIN, et al.
V8.

BExjaMIN L. SmiTH AND ABBIE R. SMITH.

Washington. Opinion September 25, 1906.

Deeds.  Prior and subsequent mortgages. Exception in covenant of freedom from
incumbrances. Prior unconditional grant not limited thereby. Reformation
of written instruments in action at law not authorized by R. S., chapter
84, sections 17 et seq. Action at law may be stayed. Equitable
defenses. R. S., chapter 84, sections 16, 17.

1. In adeed of conveyance of land an exception in the covenant of free-
dom from incumbrances does not limit the extent or effect of the prior
unconditional grant.

2. The statute R. S., ch. 84, sec. 17 et seq. does not authorize the court in
an action at law to reform a written instrument to correct mistakes of the
scrivener, and such mistakes eannot under that statute be held a legal or
equitable defense to the action.

3. The court, however, may stay an action at law for a reasonable time to
enable a party to procure a reformation of the instrument by appropriate
decrees in equity.

On report. Report discharged and action remitted to nisi prius.

Real action to recover possession of certain real estate in the town
of Marion, Washington County.

Tried at the January term, 1906, of the Supreme Judicial Court,
Washington County. The plaintiffs introduced in evidence a mort-
gage of the demanded premises, given by the defendants to the plain-
tiffs dated December 11, 1902, of the following tenor, to wit:

“Know all men by these presents, That we, Benj. L. Smith and
Abbie R. Smith, both of Marion in said County and State, in con-
sideration of four hundred twenty-five dollars paid by E. S. Martin
& Son of Eastport in said County and State, the receipt whereof we do
hereby acknowledge, do hereby give, grant, bargain, sell and convey,
unto the said E. S. Martin & Son, their heirs and assigns forever, a
certain lot of land situated in said Marion, containing about seventy
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acres with the building and improvements thereon, described and
bounded as follows:
(Description of premises here follows.)

“To have and to hold the aforegranted and bargained premises
with all the privileges and appurtenances thereof to the said
E. S. Martin & Son, heirs and assigns to their use and behoof for-
ever.

“ And we do covenant with the said grantee, their heirs and assigns,
that we are lawfully seized in fee of the premises; that they are free
of all incumbrances; except a mortgage to the said Abbie R. Smith
that we have a good right to sell and convey the same to the said
grantee to hold as aforesaid; and that we and our heirs shall and
will warrant and defend the same to the said grantees, their heirs
and assigns forever, against the lawful claims and demands of all
persons.

“Provided nevertheless, that if the said Benj. I. Smith and Abbie
R. Smith, heirs, executors, or administrators pay to the said E. S.
Martin & Son, their heirs, executors, administrators or assigns, the
sum of four hundred and twenty-five dollars in three years from this
date, viz. $150.00, Dec. 11th, 1903, $150.00, Dec. 11th, 1904,
$125.00, Dec. 11th, 1905 in settlement of the notes of B. L. Smith,
from the day of the date hereof, with interest on said sum at the rate
of five per centum per annum, payable annually, then this deed
shall be void, otherwise to remain in full force.

“In witness whereof, we the said Benj. L. Smith and Abbie R.
Smith, have hereunto set our hands and seals this eleventh day of
December in the year of our Lord one thousand nine hundred and
two.”

This mortgage was duly executed, delivered and recorded, and
was duly foreclosed for nonpayment as shown by the record.

The defendants also introduced in evidence a mortgage of the
demanded premises given by the defendant, Benjamin L. Smith, to
Thomas W. Wood, dated January 1, 1900, of the following tenor,
to wit:

“Know all men by these presents, that I, Benj. L. Smith of
Marion, in the county of Washington and State of Maine, in consid-
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“eration of the sum of one thousand dollars paid by Thomas W.
Wood of City of Boston and State of Massachusetts, the receipt
whereof I do hereby acknowledge, do hereby give, grant, bargain,
sell and convey, unto the said Thomas W. Wood, his heirs and assigns
forever, a certain lot of land situated in said Marion, containing
about seventy acres with the buildings and improvements thereon,
described and bounded as follows, viz:
(Description of premises here follows.)

“To Have and to Hold the aforegranted and bargained premises
with all the privileges and appurtenances thereof to the said Thomas
W. Wood, his heirs and assigns, to his use and behoof forever ;

“And I do covenant with the said Wood, his heirs, and assigns,
that I am lawfully seized in fee of the premises; that they are free
of all incumbrances ; except twelve hundred mortgage to Charles E.
Capen, that I have good right to sell and convey the same to the said
Thomas W. Wood to hold as aforesaid ; and that I and my heirs
shall and will warrant and defend the same to the said Wood, his
heirs and assigns forever, against the lawful claims and demands of
all persons. ’

¢ Provided Nevertheless, That if the said Benjamin L. Smith, his
heirs, executors, or administrators pay to the said Thomas W. Wood
his heirs, executors, administrators or assigns, the sum of one thou-
sand dollars in six months from this date, then this deed as also one
certain note bearing even date with these presents, given by the said
Benjamin L. Smith to the said Thomas W. Wood, to pay the sum
and interest at the time aforesaid shall both be void, otherwise shall
remain in full force.

“In witness whereof, I the said Benj. I.. Smith and Abbie R.
Smith wife of the said Benj. L. Smith in testimony of her relinquish-
ment of her right of dower in the above described premises, have
hereunto set our hands and seals this first day of January in the year
of our Lord one thousand nine hundred.”

This mortgage was also duly executed, delivered and recorded.

Thomas W. Wood to whom this last mentioned mortgage was
given was the father of the defendant Abbie R. Smith who is the
wife of the other defendant, Benjamin L. Smith, Said Thomas W.
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Wood, a resident of Boston, Mass., at the time of his death, died
testate July 22, 1902, bequeathing the last aforesaid mortgage to the
said Abbie R. Smith and also naming her as the sole executrix of his
last will and testament which was duly probated and allowed and
letters testamentary issued to her.

At the conclusion of the testimony, it was agreed to report the case
to the Law Court ¢ for that court to pass upon and decide all ques-
tions of law and fact involved, upon so much of the evidence as is
legally admissible.”

The pith of the case appears in the opinion.

J. H. Gray and E. B. Jonah, for plaintiffs.

J. F. Lynch and A. D. McFaul, for defendants,

Sirring :  WisweLr, C. J., EMERY, WHITEHOUSE, SAVAGE,
PeaBopY, SPEAR, JJ.

EMERY, J. This action is reported to the Law Court for decision
of “all questions of law and fact involved.” There is no limitation
of the defense to any pleadings, and hence the court can give effect
to any contention in defense which is s'upported by the evidence and
could have been pleaded in the action. The action is a writ of entry
or real action, and the plaintiff’s title and right of possession are
apparently sustained by a foreclosed mortgage of the demanded land
from the defendants themselves. The defendants contend, however,
and only contend, (1) that the mortgage by its terms is subject to a
prior mortgage now held by one of the defendants and which both
claim under as the older and better title, and (2) that if the mort-
gage to the plaintiffs is not in terms subject to the prior mortgage it
does not express in that particular what was-intended by both mort-
gagors and mortgagees, viz: that it should be subject to the prior
mortgage and hence it should now be held to be subject to that
mortgage.

The first contention cannot be sustained. The only mention of a
prior mortgage in the mortgage deed to the plaintiffs is in the cove-
nant of freedom from incumbrances as follows: ¢ they”” (the
premises) “are free of all incumbrances except a mortgage to the
said Abbie R. Smith.” The granting clauses, the habendum, and
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the covenant of full warranty are unconditional and without excep-
tion and operate to convey all the title of each grantor without
exception. The exception in the covenant of freedom from incum-
brances does not limit the effect of the prior unconditional grant.
Maker v. Lazell, 83 Maine, 562.

The second matter set up in defense, if true in fact, is not an
available defense in this action even since the statute allowing equit-
able defenses to be pleaded in an action at law. R. 8., ch. 84, sec.
17.  True, the statute declares that the defendant may plead in
defense ¢ any matter which would be ground for relief in equity,”
but the context shows that the only relief to be granted is ¢ against
the claims of the plaintiff,”” that is, the claims made in the action.
¢ The statute does not go so far as to provide for the separate deter-
mination of a legal right and of a distinct, independent, equitable
right in the same action at law, and then for setting off the judgment
upon the equitable right against the judgment upon the legal right.
The equitable matter to be pleaded in the action at law must be
matter of defense to the plaintifP’s claim, not matter of set off, not
matter constituting ground for relief in equity apart from and inde-
pendent of the action at law.

In this action the plaintiffs set up only a legal right and prima
facie sustain it by an effective deed of conveyance from the defend-
ants themselves. Without some matter, legal or equitable, to upset
or avoid that deed, there is no defense to the action. The evidence
does not disclose any such matter. The only claim made affecting
the deed is that in drafting it there was omitted one provision the
parties intended to have inserted. The validity of the deed as it
stands is not questioned, and its effect to vest title and right of pos-
session in the plaintiffs is clear. It is a muniment of title and must
be given effect according to its terms in any action, legal or equit-
able, until duly reformed so that its terms shall have a different
effect.

The procedure to reform a written instrument by changing its lan-
guage to such as the parties intended to use, or to change its effect to
accord with their intention, has always been exclusively in equity,
and necessarily in equity, in those jurisdictions where the distinction
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between legal and equitable procedure still prevails. Winnipiseogee
Paper Co. v. Eaton, 64 N. H. 234. It is evident that any judg-
ment at law though it might avoid the deed or refuse it effect, could
not reform it. The nature of the right of reformation is such as to
require for its enforcement the flexible decrees obtainable by suits in
equity.

This right of reformation of a written instrument is not mere mat-
ter of defense to an action in which the instrument is set up as the
basis or source of a right. It is an independent affirmative right
arising as soon as the instrument is delivered. Being independent of
any action at law and requiring decrees in equity for its enforcement,
it should be enforced by a separate suit in equity and not interposed
as an equitable defense to an actionat law. In this case the sustain-
able claim of the defendants (if it should prove to be sustainable) is
not that the deed is void, but only that in one particular its language
fails to express an intention of the parties. If this be so, the deed is
not to be declared void nor refused effect in an action at law, but is
to be reformed so it can have the effect intended. For reasons above
given such reformation can be effected only by suit and decrees in
equity. The statute, R. S., ch. 84, sec. 17, does not go so far as to
provide that it shall, or even may, be done in an action at law.

Nor can such reformation be effected under sec. 16 of the same
statute; ch. 84, which provides for the transformation of an action at
law into a suit in equity “when it appears that the rights of the
parties can be better determined and enforced by a judgment and
degree in equity.” This provision applies only to the rights of the
parties which are made the subject matter of the action at law, not
to other and independent rights. In this action the only right in
question is that of the plaintiffs, to the possession of the demanded
land. That right, if it exists, is a pure legal right to be enforced
by judgment and execution at law. Should the action be trans-
formed into a suit in equity in order to have the deed reformed, the
right of possession under the deed as reformed is still to be deter-
mined and enforced by judgment and execution at law. In Lewiston
v. Gagne, 89 Maine, 396, begun and decided after the passage of the

. statute, (secs, 16 and 17) the action was at law upon a tax collector’s
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bond, and it was heard on report as in this case. It appeared in evi-
dence that the bond was intended to cover the year 1893, but by
mistake had been written to cover the year 1894. The court said
that the bond must be reformed by process in equity, unless the
parties would agree to have the damages assessed as if the bond were
written for the correct year.

Though we cannot consider in this action the question of how or
whether the deed should be reformed, we think the defendants
should have reasonable opportunity to present that question by suit
in equity before judgment in this action. They should not be
deprived of that opportunity because of this opinion that it could not
be presented here. The statute is not so clear as to make the con-
trary opinion evidence of ignorance or carelessness. The report will
therefore be discharged, and this action remitted to nisi prius to be
continued for a reasonable time to enable the defendants to present

by suit in equity their claim to have the deed reformed.
So ordered.

VOL. CII 3
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Mavup S. LoGUE
v8.

Tae GrAND TrRUNK RAarLway CoMPANY.
Cumberland. Opinion September 29, 1906.

Negligence. Evidence. Burden of Proof. Uncontradicted testimony not binding,
when.

1. When it is proved that a mechanical appliance had at one time been
broken and thereby had become dangerous, the burden of evidence is
upon the party alleging that the danger was afterward removed.

2. In such case the testimony of one witness that he had done what would
have removed the danger is not binding on the jury, though uncontra-
dicted by any other witness, when circumstances tend to show that in fact
the danger was not removed.

On motion by defendant. Overruled.

Action on the case to recover damages for personal injuries sus-
tained by the plaintiff and caused by the alleged negligence of the
defendant in allowing its semaphore wire across a public street to
sag down into the street thereby causing the horse which was draw-
ing the carriage in which the plaintiff was riding, to stumble and
fall down, in consequence of which the plaintiff was thrown into the
street and injured.

Tried at the October term, 1905, of the Supreme Judicial Court,
Cumberland County. Plea, the general issue. Verdict for plaintiff
for $3000. The defendant then filed a general motion for a new
trial.

The material facts appear in the opinion.

Foster & Foster and J. M. Libby, for plaintiff.

C. A. & L. L. Hight, for defendant.
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Srrrine:  Wiswewn, C. J., EMERY, WHITEHOUSE, SAVAGE,
PeaBoDpY, SPEAR, JJ.

EMERY, J. At the Grand Trunk Railway station at Mechanic
Falls, the semaphore wire rope, composed of five or six strands and
nearly half an inch in diameter, passed, when in order, high over a
public street out of the way of travelers. This wire rope had parted
near one end, so that across the street, unless held up, it would sag
down in the way of travelers. The break was not repaired for several
days. In the meantime on one occasion the rope was down across
the street, and the plaintiff traveling along the street was injured
thereby without any fault on her part. So far the liability of the
railroad company is clear.

It was in evidence, however, that immediately after the rope was
broken some measures were taken by the company’s servants to so
fasten it up that where it crossed the street it should not sag down in
the way of travelers. A signalman in the company’s employ testified
that he drew the rope taut, up out of the way of travelers, and then
tied the end around a post with two or three half hitches which held
the rope in place. Immediately after the accident he went to this
post and found the rope unfastened, or, to use his own words, ¢ the
half hitch was taken out.”” The station agent testified that at the
time of the breaking of the rope he went to see if the signalman had
effectually fastened it up and found it had been “securely” tied
around the post, but he did not describe how it had been tied.
This testimony was uncontradicted by any oral evidence, and the rope
had been thus held up for a time. The defendant company contends
that this testimony being uncontradicted must be taken as true; that it
shows that the company had exercised due care; and that until the
plaintiff traces the undoing of the tie around the post to some agency
of the company (which it is contended she has not done) she has not
overcome the defense thus set up.

On the other hand, the plaintiff adduces various circumstances
shown in evidence as sufficient to overcome the testimony of the
signalman and station agent, and as sufficient to authorize the jury
to find in fact that the rope had not been proper]y fastened up. The
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signalman had but one hand; the wire rope was very stiff, so stiff
that a piece one foot long could hardly be bent at all by the two
hands; there was a heavy strain on the rope during the process of
tving and afterward, a strain liable to be increased at times by
various causes ; the rope did come down. The testimony of the sig-
nalman was really uncorroborated. The station agent did not
corroborate him as to the mode of fastening, but simply gave an
opinion that the fastening was secure, an opinion on the very ques-
tion for the jury. Again, the fact that the wire was broken having
been established and its dangerous condition as to travelers being
manifest, the burden of evidence, at least, was upon the company to
show that afterward and before the injury the rope had been in fact
securely fastened up.

The case turns upon the question whether the broken rope was in
fact so securely fastened up that its possible falling down across the
street was not to be apprehended by ordinarily careful men bound to
know the full situation and the danger. It is not enough that the
company’s servants believed the fastening to be sufficiently secure to
prevent the falling of the rope. The question is one of fact, not of
belief. How the rope was fastened up and whether that fasten-
ing was a compliance with the duty of the company were questions

_for the jury. 'The issue before us is therefore narrowed down to
this: Was the jury bound by the testimony of the signalman to
find that the rope was in fact fastened up as he stated, and that such
fastening was such as should have been made under all the c¢ircum--
stances? We think not. It is not an unreasonable inference from
all the evidence that the fastening the signalman in fact did make
was not sufficient to hold the rope up in place.

Motion overruled.
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INHABITANTS OF CAS0C0 vs. INHABITANTS OF LIMINGTON.

Cumberland.  Opinion October 10, 1906.

Judgment of jury will not be revised, when. Insane paupers. Ezxpenses. Pauper
statute. Contagious diseases statute. R. S., chapter 18, section 61 ;
chapter 27, section 87.

1. When the only evidence to fix a date is the recollection of witnesses, the
court will not revise the judgment of the jury as to whose recollection is
the better.

2. Expenses incurred by a town to protect its inhabitants or the public
from danger of injury by insane paupers are not recoverable under the
pauper statute R. S., chapter 27, section 37, nor under the contagious dis-
eases statute R. S., chapter 18, section 51.

On motion by defendant. Sustained unless plaintiff files remitti-
tur within thirty days.

Action to recover for pauper supplies furnished by the plaintiff
town to one Osgood Nason and his family, whose pauper settlement
was alleged to be in the defendant town.

Tried at the October term, 1905, of the Supreme Judicial Court,
Cumberland County. Plea, the general issue. Verdict for plaintiff
town for $600. The defendant then filed a general motion for a
new trial.

The material facts appear in the opinion.

W. C. Whelden and W. G. Chapman, for plaintiff.
A. F. Moulton, for defendant.

Srrrivg:  Wiswewn, C. J.,, EMERY, WHITEHOUSE, SAVAGE,
PeaBoDY, SPEAR, JJ.

EMmEry, J. The proper determination of the main issue, the
settlement of the pauper, depended upon the date of his removal from
the Lane house in Hollis to the Came house in Standish. He moved
in the July next before, or next after, the death of Lane at the Lane
house in December, 1883, Perhaps more witnesses testified that the
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removal was in the July before Lane’s death, but several witnesses
testified with more or less positiveness that it was in the July there-
after. Unfortunately neither party produced any contemporaneous
written entries or memoranda to fix the date and the jury were
obliged to depend upon the recollections of witnesses. It is plain,
therefore, that the verdict as to the main issue must prevail since the
jury saw and heard the various witnesses and we have not.

The jury further found all the items charged by the plaintiff town
for the support of the pauper and his family to be reasonable in
amount and proper in character. Some of these items were for pay-
ments to watchers over an insane son of the pauper, and it appears
plainly from the evidence that the main purpose in employing these
watchers was not the better care of the patient but to prevent his
doing harm to the neighbors and others. The pauper statute
authorizes the recovery only of the expenses of relieving persons des-
titute, and of their removal or burial. R. S, ch. 27, sec. 37.
Expenses incurred by a town to protect its inhabitants or the public
from danger of hurt by paupers are not recoverable under the pauper
statute. Kennebunk v. Alfred, 19 Maine, 223. The statute author-
izing recovery of expenses of preventing the spread of contagious
diseases by paupers (R. S., ch. 18, sec. 51} is not applical;le to a case
of insanity.

While the insanity of the son may have required some extra care
for him, much of the expense charged on that account was clearly
not for that purpose. It is difficult to determine the amount of the
excess, but upon the present evidence it appears to be at least $200.

New trial ordered, unless the plaintiff within thirty
“days cfter the filing of the certificate of decision
shall remit all of the verdict over four hundred
dollars, in which case judgment is to be entered
on the remaining verdict.
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SAMUEL G. DAMREN et al. vs. GEORGE E. TRrASK.

Androscoggin.  Opinion October 11, 1906.
Covenant broken. Assignment of breaches. Evidence.

It is a well settled general rule respecting the assignment of breaches of
covenants that the plaintiff may allege the breaches generally by simply
negativing the words of the covenant, special averments being required
only when such a general assignment would not necessarily show a breach.

In an action of covenant broken upon a contract under seal for the purchase
of a quantity of clapboards, the plaintiffs in their declaration set out the
covenant according to its terms, and alleged performance and breach as
follows: ‘“‘And the plaintiffs aver that, pursuant to such deed, they have
done and performed all things by them according to the covenants afore-
said to be performed. Yet said defendant has not taken away from said
mill the clapboards as aforesaid, and has not paid the plaintiffs therefor
the sum of forty dollars per thousand, but wholly refuses and neglects to
do so, and so has not kept his covenant aforesaid, but has broken the
same.”’

Held : that the language of the plaintiffs’ assignment may reasonably be
construed to signify a refusal to pay for the clapboards taken, as well as a
refusal to pay for those not taken; and inasmuch as a breach of the con-
tract would he established by evidence of a partial failure, as well as by
evidence of a total failure in the respects named, it was a sufficient general
assignment of the breach to allege an entire failure to take the clapboards,
although a portion had in fact been taken, and to allege an entire failure
to pay for them, although a portion had in fact been paid for.

It is a well settled and familiar rule that in cases of negligence the evidence
must be confined to the time and place and circumstances of the injury,
and the fact that the same person had been guilty of negligence on certain
other specified occasions can have no legitimate bearing upon the question
of his carefulness or competency at the time in controversy.

Evidence of a self serving character is uniformly held to be inadmissible.
This is a branch of the general rule that a man shall not be allowed to
make evidence for himself.

On exceptions both by plaintiffs and by defendant. Sustained.

Action of covenant broken upon a contract under seal for the
purchase of a quantity of clapboards of certain specified kinds and
dimensions.

Tried at the April term, 1906 of the Supreme Judicial Court,
Androscoggin County. Plea inferred to be non est factum with a
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brief statement alleging performance of the contract on the part of
the defendant and a failure on the part of the plaintiffs to perform a
condition precedent. Verdict for plaintiffs for $1119.97. Excep-
tions to rulings made by the presiding Justice during the progress
of the trial, were taken both by plaintiffs and by defendant.

The case sufficiently appears in the opinion.

Oakes, Pulsifer & Ludden, for plaintiffs.

Arthur 8. Littlefield and C. L. Macurda, for defendant.

SiTTING : WHITEHOUSE, SAVAGE, POWERS, PEABODY, SPEAR, JJ.

WHITEHOUSE, J. This is an action of covenant broken upon a
contract under seal for the purchase of a quantity of clapboards of
certain specified kinds and dimensions. The verdict was for the
plaintiffs for $1119.97, and the case comes to this court on excep-
tions by both parties. '

The plaintiffs’ exceptions.

By the terms of the contract, the clapboards were to be taken by
the defendant from the plaintiffs’ mill when dressed and bundled
according to the contract, and paid for at the rate of forty dollars per
thousand, thirty days after delivery. Up to June 13, 1904, about
40,000 clapboards were taken by the defendant, amounting at the
contract price, to $1604, and a portion of these had been paid for.

The plaintiffs in their declaration set out the covenant according to
its terms, and allege performance and breach as follows: ¢ And the
plaintiffs aver that, pursuant to such deed, they have done and per-
formed all things by them according to the covenants aforesaid to be
performed. Yet said defendant has not taken away from said mill
the clapboards as aforesaid, and has not paid the plaintiffs therefor
the sum of forty dollars per thousand, but wholly refuses and neglects
to do so, and so has not kept his covenant aforesaid, but has broken
the same.”

On the thirteenth day of June, 1904, the defendant refused to
take any more clapboards, claiming that the plaintiffs had failed to
perform the contract, and that the clapboards were not of the proper
quality.
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The plaintiffs claimed to recover for the clapboards delivered up
to and including June 13, 1904, and damage for refusal to take
clapboards thereafter; but the defendant claimed that under the
allegations of breaches in the declaration, the plaintiff could not
recover for the clapboards delivered but not paid for.

The court sustained the position of the defendant, and ruled that
the plaintiffs, under their declaration, could not recover for any
amount, which the defendant owed them on account of the forty
thousand clapboards actually received by him.

The plaintiffs asked leave to amend by alleging specifically the
breach of the defendant, by his refusal to pay for the clapboards so
delivered, but on objection by the defendant the court ruled that this
would have the effect of introducing a new cause of action, and that
as a matter of law such amendment could not be allowed. To these
rulings the plaintiffs have exceptions.

It is a well settled general rule respecting the assignment of
breaches of covenants that the plaintiff may allege the breaches gen-
erally by simply negativing the words of the covenant, special aver-
ments being required only when such a general assignment would
not necessarily show a breach. Glover v. O’ Brien, 100 Maine, 551.
“ A common law method for assigning a breach of covenant is to
negative the words of the covenant and this is generally sufficient.
And it may be assigned in other words which are co-extensive with
the import and effect of the covenant and as general as those in
which the covenant is expressed ; or by stating its legal effect. But
it must distinctly appear by express words or by necessary implica-
tion that the facts stated in the declaration cannot be true when the
covenant is broken.” Encye. Pl. & Pr. Vol. 5, 369; Cye., Vol. 11,
p. 1144, and cases cited ; 1 Chit. PL (16 Ed.) 175. i

In Brown v. Stebbins, 4 Hill, 154, there was a covenant “to sell
and dispose of said lots of land to the best advantage that he can
obtain for the same and to pay the proceeds of said sales to the said
Brown ; “and the breach assigned was that the defendant ¢“did not
sell and dispose of the lots to the best advantage or for the most he
could obtain for them.” A special demurrer to this assignment was
sustained. In the opinion the court say; ‘Does the pleader mean
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that Stebbins did not sell at all, or that he did not sell for the best
price which could have been obtained ? It is impossible to say which.
If there was no sale, that fact should have been directly alleged ;
and if the complaint be that Stebbins sold, but did not get the best
price which could have been obtained, the pleader should have said so
- in explicit terms. Without such an averment the defendants can
neither know how to plead, nor what evidence they may expect to
meet on the trial.

The breach is not assigned in the words of the joint covenants, or
either of them. And when the pleader undertakes to assign a breach
coming within the substance, effect or intent of the covenant, he is
held to a more strict rule than when he follows, either negatively or
affirmatively, as the case may be, the words of the contract. (Com.
Dig. Pleader, C. 47.)

The remaining breach is, that Stebbins did not use all necessary
care and diligence in the sale of the lots.  Here the pleader has fol-
lowed and negatived the words of one of the joint covenants, and as
a general rule that is sufficient.”

In the case at bar it is to be inferred from the exceptions that the
defendant’s plea was non est factum with a brief statement alleging
performance of the contract on his part, and a failure on the part of
the plaintiffs to perform a condition precedent. No question was
raised by the pleadings in regard to the sufficiency of the declaration.
The plaintiffs’ allegation that the ¢ defendant has not taken away
from said mill the clapboards as aforesaid, and has not paid the
plaintiffs therefor the sum of forty dollars per thousand” negatives
the words of the contract. True, it does not inform the defendant
specifically whether the plaintiffs compiain that the contract was
broken by a refusal to accept or a refusal to pay for the clapboards,
or a refusal to pay for some and a refusal to accept others. It is
not a particular and explicit statement of the plaintiffs’ claims. It
might perhaps have been held objectionable on special demurrer ;
but errors which might be deemed fatal on a special demurrer will
be disregarded when the demurrer is general, or when the defendant
sets up the general issue, or a plea equivalent to the general issue.

Blake v. M. C. R. R. Co., 70 Maine, 60; Crocker v. Gilbert, 9
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Cush. 134 ; and all objections to the form of a declaration, or that it
does not sufficiently set forth the ground of the plaintiffs’ claim,
must be raised by demurrer. 1 Chit. Pl. 693, and cases cited. Only
when no cause of action is stated in the declaration is the defendant
justified in pleading the general issue and raising the objection upon
the trial,  Fuller v. Jackson, 82 Mich. 482. But the language of
the plaintiffs’ assignment may reasonably be construed to signify a
refusal to pay for the clapboards taken, as well as a refusal to pay
for those not taken ; and inasmuch as a breach of the contract would
be established by evidence of a partial failure, as well as by evidence
of a total failure in the respects named, it was a sufficient general
assignment of the breach to allege an entire failure to take the clap-
boards, although a portion had in fact been taken, and to allege an
entire failure to pay for them, although a portion had in fact been
paid for. It is accordingly the opinion of the court that, if other-
wise entitled to prevail, the plaintiffs are not precluded by any insuffi-
ciency in their declaration from recovery for the clapboards actually
delivered, and that the plaintiffs’ exceptions must be sustained.

This conclusion renders it unnecessary to consider the questidn of
the plaintiffe’ right to amend the declaration as proposed in their
motion; but see Wilson v. Widenham, 51 Maine, 566, where it was
held that if the covenants are set out in full, but a breach of only
one is alleged, an amendment is allowable adding a new count alleg-
ing the breach of another covenant.

The defendant’s exceptions.

Inasmuch as the question of the admissibility of the evidence relat-
ing to the character of the bundles of clapboards sawed prior to May
15, but not finished and sorted until after June 13, 1904, will neces-
sarily arise upon the second trial of the case, it becomes the duty of
the court to consider the exceptions taken by the defendant to the
admission of this evidence at the first trial.

On the fifth day of April, 1904, the defendant agreed to purchase
all of the clapboards of certain kinds and dimensions then sawed and
all that the plaintiffs might saw at their mill in Sheepscot, Maine,
prior to May 15, 1904. It was in evidence at the trial that on the
13th day of June, 1904, the defendant having then hauled away
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about forty thousand of the clapboards, refused to take or pay for
any more on the ground that the quality was not in accordance with
the requirements of the contract. - The plaintiffs claimed damages
on account of such refusul of the defendant to take and pay for the
clapboards finished by them after June 13, but the defendant sought
to justify his refusal by evidence tending to show that the clapboards
finished and bundled up to the time of such refusal, were not in
accordance with the contract. On the other hand for the purpose of
showing that the clapboards were in -accordance with the contract,
the plaintiffs were permitted, subject to objections and exceptions, to
introduce testimony as to the quality of the clapboards sawed prior
to May 15, but not finished or sorted until after the defendant’s
refusal to receive any more.

With respect to this evidence and the issue between the parties,
the presiding judge instructed the jury as follows: “I propose to sub-
mit to you the simple question, whether or not, as to those forty
thousand that were finished and sorted and bundled and delivered to
Trask and taken by Trask up to and including the 13th day of
June, 1904, they were in accordance with the contract as I have
explained it. If they were not in accordance with the contract, if
this defendant after having entered into this contract on the 5th day
of May had taken clapboards delivered by the plaintiffs up to the
13th of June to the extent of forty thousand or thereabouts, and
they had not been in accordance with the terms of the contract as
written and as 1 have explained to you, then the defendant had the
right to refuse to take any more.”

“You have heard all these witnesses, you have heard testimony as
to the identity of the various bundles that have been exhibited to
you, as to where they came from, testimony upon both sides. And
I also permitted testimony as to the character of the bundles that
were finished and bundled after the 13th because it might throw
some light upon the question, especially if no change had been made
i the methods of finishing or sorting, would throw some light upon
the question as to the quality of them.”

Thus upon the question of fact whether the clapboards as finished
sorted and bundled prior to June 13, were in accordance with the
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contract, evidence was admitted “as to the character of the bundles
that were finished and bundled ”’ after the defendant’s refusal on that
date to accept any more of them, and the jury were allowed to con-
sider it without proof that “no change had been made in the methods
of finishing or sorting.” They were instructed that such evidence
“ might throw some light upon the question especially if no change
had been made in the methods” ete. While this instruction empha-
sizes the importance of the evidence if the methods of sorting had
not been changed, it did not exclude it from the consideration of the
jury, even if they were satisfied that the methods had been changed.
They were authorized to understand that the evidence of subsequent
bundling was entitled to more weight if there had been no change in
the methods, but even if the methods had been changed, the evidence
“ might throw some light upon the question of the quality of them ”
as bundled before that time, and in any event it was to be considered
by them. :

It appears from the exceptions that the contract provided for the
manner in which the clapboards should be dressed, sorted and bundled.
These processes necessarily involved the exercise of personal care and
skill and judgment on the part of the operators, and the possibility
of a design on the part of the plaintiffs to produce results advanta-
geous to themselves, even though at variance with the contract.
Assuming, however, that it was practicable, under these circumstances,
to show that the manner of ¢ dressing, sorting and bundling” was in
all respects the same after June 13, as before, and that there was
evidence to warrant the jury in finding that fact and also that the
result after June 13, was according to the contract, evidence of such
subsequent operations would doubtless have been admitted without
objection upon the question in dispute, whether the clapboards
received were in accordance with the contract. But in the absence
of evidence to establish such identity of process before and after June
13, and to show results according to contract after June 13, evidence
of the manner of dressing, sorting and bundling after June 13, could
have no legitimate tendency to prove that the clapboards dressed,
sorted and bundled before June 13, were in accordance with the con-
tract. It not only fails to meet the ordinary requirement and prac-
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tical test of relevancy, but it is obnoxious to some of the rules of what
Mr. Wigmore terms “auxiliary probative policy.” In attempting
to dispute or explain away the evidence thus offered, new issues will
arise as to the occurrence of the instances and the similarity of condi-
tions, new witnesses will be needed whose cross-examination and
impeachment may lead to further issues; and thus the trial will be
unduly prolonged, and the multiplicity of minor issues will be such
that the jury will lose sight of the main issue, and the whole evi-
dence will be only a mass of confused data from which it will be
difficult to extract the kernel of controversy.” 1 Wigmore on Ev.
sec. 443, p. 526. <« Moreover, the adverse party, having no notice
of such a course of evidence, is not prepared to rebut it.” 1 Greenl.
Ev. sec. 52. It is therefore open to the objections of unfair sur-
prise and confusion of issues.

With respect to the element of personal care involved in the
process of sorting and bundling, for aught that appears, the work
before June 13, may have been done by negligent and incompetent
men, and after June 13, by careful and competent men; but if done
by the same men before and after that date, it is a well settled and
familiar rule that in cases of negligence the evidence must be con-
fined to the time and place and circumstances of the injury, and the
fact that the same person had been guilty of negligence on certain
other specified occasions can have no legitimate bearing upon the
question of his carefulness or competency at the time in controversy.
Parker v. Portland Pub. Co., 69 Maine, 173 ; Maguire v. Middlesex
R. B. Co., 115 Mass. 239 ; Hatt v. Nay, 144 Mass. 186; Mayhew
v. Sullivan Mining Company, 76 Maine, 100.

If any departures from the contract were disclosed by the sorting
and bundling before June 13, and they were the result of either neg-
ligence or design on the part of the plaintiffs, it might be expected
that after complaint from the defendant in regard to the quality of
the clapboards and refusal to accept any more, the plaintiffs would
endeavor to change their methods in order to make the clapboards
conform more nearly to the requirements of the contract, and evidence
of the results of such sorting and bundling after June 13, would
obviously be of the self serving character uniformly held to be inad-
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missible. This is a branch of the general rule that a man shall not
be allowed to make evidence for himself. Chamberlayne’s Best on
Ev. p. 478.
It is accordingly the opinion of the court that the entry must be
Plaintiffs’ exceptions sustained.
Defendant’s exceptions sustained.

In Equity.

Mary H. WHITMORE
VS,

SYLVESTER B. BRowN AND PEDRICK D. GILLEY.
Hancock. Opinion October 25, 1906.

Nuisance. Equity power to remove same will nol be exercised, when. Erection of
structures whick may be a nuisance will not be enjoined, when. Structures which
are nuisances not outlaws. Structures lessening value of other land not subject
to abatement. Wharf cannot be lawfully erected on one’s own flats in
tide water without license.  Legal rights not infringed because struc-
tures are unsightly.  Wharf obstructing navigation on tide water
18 infringement of public right only. Oumer of land on tide
waters may have nuisance abated, when. Colonial
Ordinances, 1641-1647 ; R. S., chapter 4, sections
96, 97, 98, 99; chapter 22, sections 5, 13.

1. Except in extreme cases, the court will not exercise its equity powers to
compel the removal of existing structures alleged to be a nuisance, but will
remit the plaintiff to his remedies at law which in this state are ** plain,
adequate and complete.”

2. Nor will the court intervene with its equity powers to abate a nuisance
which the plaintiff has long tolerated, but will require him in such case to

- establish his claim at law.

3. Nor will the court enjoin the proposed erection of a structure which may
be a nuisance, unless the right threatened by such structure is clear, and
the fact clearly established that the proposed structure will infringe such
right ; otherwise the plaintiff must first establish his claim at law.
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4. The mere fact that structures are, or will be, erected and maintained on
one’s own land without the license required by statute or ordinaice, does
not make them outlaws, to be lawfully destroyed by any one, or abated at
the private suit of any person.

5. Also the mere fact that structures upon the land of the person maintain-
ing them, lessens the commercial value of other lands, or the enjoyment of
them by the owners, does not make such structures subject to abatement
by force or by suit.

6. No one can lawfully erect or maintain a wharf upon his own flats upon
tide water without a license from the municipal officers of the town as
provided in R. 8., chapter 4, sections 96 to 99 inclusive, but if so erected
and maintained, the wharf cannot be abated except at the suit of the
public, or of some private person showing that it infringes some particular
right of his own, distinet from his share in the public right.

That such a wharf is unsightly and obstructs the view from an adjoining
residence lot and thereby reduces the value of the residence, does not
infringe any legal right of the owner or tenant of such lot, and does not
give him any right to an abatement by suit or otherwise. .
8. That the wharf obstructs the navigation, or boating facilities, on the tide

waterin front of an adjoining residence lot is an infringement of a public

right only, and does not give the owner or tenant of such lot a right to an
abatement even though the wharf thereby lessens the value of the lot.

9. Where a lot of land borders on tide waters the owner or tenant has the
right of access to, and departure from, the lot by water, and such right ig
a private right peculiar to such owner or tenant distinct from the public
right of navigation, and if the unlicensed wharf obstructs such right of
access and departure, it is to that extent a nuisance which can be abated
at the suit of such owner or tenant.

10. In this case no infringement of any private legal right of the plaintiff by
the unlicensed wharf is shown, except possibly the right of access to, and
departure from, her land by water. The infringement of that right, how-
ever, is not so clearly established as to authorize the court to issue an
injunction even against a proposed extension of the wharf. Hence the
plaintiff must be remitted to the usual legal remedies.

See Whitmore v. Brown, 100 Muaine, 410.

In equity. On appeal by plaintiff. Bill dismissed.

Bill in equity alleging that a certain wharf and buildings thereon
encroach upon the plaintiff’s premises, that said wharf is a nuisance,
&c., and praying that the defendants be perpetually enjoined from
maintaining so much of said wharf and buildings as encroach upon
the plaintif’s premises, that so much of said wharf and buildings as

encroach upon the plaintif’s premises be declared a nuisance, and

-~
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that the defendants be perpetually restrained from enlarging said
wharf and buildings, ete.

The plaintifPs bill, omitting the formal parts, is as follows:

“Mary H. Whitmore of Mt. Desert, in said county and state,
complains against Sylvester B. Brown and Pedrick. D. Gilley, both
of Mt. Desert, and says:

“1. That subject to the rights of the public in and to the high-
way crossing the premises hereinafter described, and subject to a
grant to William W. Vaughan under date of January 1, A. D.
1903, of the right to have the flats of your petitioner at Northeast
Harbor, Maine, clear of any structure for three years from the date
thereof, your petitioner is seized and possessed of certain real estate
at said Northeast Harbor, in said town of Mt. Desert, particularly
described as follows, to wit:

“Bounded northerly by land of Manchester heirs, westerly by
Somes Sound, southerly by land of heirs of Nathan Smallidge and
land of Helen Smallidge, Avelia Holmes and Annie E. Lindsay, and
easterly by Gilpatrick’s Cove, all as will more fully appear from
original instruments of transfer or office copies thereof to be pro-
duced in court.

«“2. That the said respondents are maintaining a wharf and
buildings thereon upon the shore or flats in the tide waters at the
head of said Gilpatrick’s Cove, which said wharf and buildings, as
your complainant is informed and believes and therefore alleges, are
wholly or in part situated upon the premises hereinabove in para-
graph one of this bill described.

“3. That on February 14, A. D. 1903, a heariug was held by
the selectmen of said town of Mt. Desert, in the building upon said
wharf, upon petition by the said respondents under (then) section 60
of chapter 3 of the Revised Statutes of said state of Maine, for per-
mission to extend and enlarge said wharf, which application and peti-
tion was by said selectmen then and there refused and denied.

«4, That on March 24, A. D. 1903, a second hearing was held
by said selectmen of said town of Mt. Desert, in the said building
upon said wharf, upon another petition by the said respondents,
under said section 60 of chapter 3 of the Revised Gtatutes of said

VOL. cII 4
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State of Maine, for permission to extend and enlarge said wharf,
which application and petition was then and there not granted by
said selectmen, but leave to withdraw said petition without prejudice
was by said selectmen to said respondents granted.

“5. That your complainant is informed and believes and there-
fore alleges, that the said respondents are illegally and without
proper authority, maintaining said wharf and buildings, as above set
forth, in said tide waters of said Gilpatrick’s Cove, in that no license
or permission to erect or. maintain any wharf in the tide waters of
said Gilpatrick’s Cove has at any time ever been granted by the
municipal officers of said town of Mt. Desert, as required by the pro-
visions of said section 60 (now section 96) of chapter 4 of said
Revised Statutes, or by other proper authority, and that said wharf
and buildings, as at present maintained, obstruct or impede, without
legal authority, the passage of the harbor or collection of water
known as Gilpatrick’s Cove aforesaid, and therefore constitute a
public nuisance under the provisions of section 5 of chapter 22 of
said Revised Statutes. )

“6. That your complainant is informed and believes and there-
fore alleges, that notwithstanding the said illegal existence of said
wharf and buildings, and notwithstanding the said refusal of the
municipal officers of said town of Mt. Desert to grant permission to
said respondents to .enlarge or extend said wharf, the respondents
illegally and without authority, threaten to construct, and are about
to construct, erect, build, maintain and extend the said wharf into
said tide waters of said Gilpatrick’s Cove. '

«“7. That the said wharf and buildings, as at present constructed
and maintained, are not only an encroachment physically upon the
property of your complainant as herein above particularly set forth in
paragraph two, and a public and common nuisance as hereinabove
set forth in paragraph five but also especially infringe otherwise
upon the private rights of your complainant in that the said wharf
and buildings in their entirety injure and depreciate the market
value for purposes of sale or rent of said real property of your com-
plainant so situated upon said western shore of said Gilpatrick’s
Cove, and in the immediate vicinity of said wharf, and destroy and"
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materially injure many rights and privileges of your said complain-
ant to which she is lawfully entitled in connection with the use and
ownership of her said real estate, and are in fact an actual nuisance
to your complainant, depriving her of her property for private uses,
and without compensation.

“8. That any extension or enlargement of said wharf will add to
and increase the injuries to your complainant as above recited.

“9. That your complainant is informed and believes and there-
fore alleges, that she has no plain, complete and adequate remedy at
law.

“Wherefore your complainant prays:

“l. That the said respondents, their servants, agents and em-
ployes, be perpetually enjoined and restrained by writ of injunction
from maintaining so much of said wharf and buildings as stand or
encroach upon the premises of said complainant as described in para-
graph one of this bill, and that such portion of said wharf and build-
ings be declared a nuisance to your complainant, and that said re-
spondents be ordered and required to remove the same forthwith, and
that any orders, decrees and necessary processes issue from this court
to secure the abatement of the same.

“2. That the said respondents, their servants, agents and em-
ployes, be perpetually enjoined and restrained by writ of injunction
from extending or enlarging said wharf or buildings.

«3. That upon hearing, said respondents, their servants, agents
and employes may be temporarily enjoined pending these proceedings,
from constructing, erecting, building or maintaining any extension of
said buildings or wharf into said tide waters of said Gilpatrick’s
Cove.

“4, That subpeena in the usual form may issue to said respon-
dents, commanding them to appear and answer this bill of complaint, as
provided by law, but not under oath, answer under oath being hereby
expressly waived.

“5. And for such other and further relief as the nature of this
case may require, and to this Honorable Court may seem fit and
proper.”

The defendant’s answer, omitting formal parts, is as follows:
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“The answer of Sylvester B. Brown and Pedrick D. Gilley, who
say :

«1. That they have not information in regard to the allegations
contained in the first paragraph of the plaintiff’s bill. They there-
fore deny the allegations of said first paragraph.

«2. They admit that they are maintaining a wharf and building
thereon at the head of Gilpatrick’s Cove, so called, which said wharf
with the building thereon, is partly above and partly below the line
of high water mark in said Cove, and which said wharf is constructed
entirely upon the land and shore owned by and belonging to them
the defendants. 'They deny all other allegations in the second para-
graph of said plaintiff’s bill.

“3. They deny the allegations contained in paragraphs three,
four and five of the plaintiff’s bill.

“4, They admit that in the fall of 1903 they were preparing to
and intended to enlarge their said wharf by building a portion on to
the easterly side thereof, but they deny all the other allegations
contained in paragraph six of said bill.

“5. They deny all the allegations contained in paragraph seven
of said bill.

“6. They deny the allegations contained in paragraph eight of
said plaintiff’s bill.

. 7. They deny the allegations contained in paragraph nine of
said plaintiff’s bill. (

“8. Further answering the said defendants say that they are
and have been for several years the owners of a small tract of land
at the head of Gilpatrick’s Cove, conveyed to them by Arthur
Gilpatrick by his warranty deed dated February 1, 1902, and
recorded in Vol. 378, page 332 of the Registry of Deeds for Han-
cock county, Maine, described in said deed as follows:

“A certain lot or parcel of land situated at North East- Harbor
in said Mount Desert bounded and described as follows, to wit:

¢ Beginning at a stone post set in the top of the bank at the
Gilpatrick’s Cove, so called, on the south side of the town.road
and in the eastern line of land conveyed to said grantor by Samuel
N. Gilpatrick, (here follows the technical description of the prem-
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ises,) containing one and twenty-one hundredths (1.21) acres more
or less, exclusive of ways. Together with the building and wharf
located thereon.

““That said wharf with the building thereon, mentioned in the
plaintif’s bill, is the same wharf and building thereon so conveyed
to the defendants in said deed from Arthur Gilpatrick, that said
whartf is entirely constructed upon the land described in said deed;
that said wharf extends over the line of high water mark of said
Gilpatrick’s Cove in a southerly direction about two hundred feet,
and is about forty feet in width; that the distance from the outer
end or head of said wharf to mean low water mark is about six
huundred feet; that the highway road passes by and adjoins the
northerly end of said wharf and building ; that the building on said
wharf covers only a portion of it and contains two stores, one of
which is occupied by one of the defendants as a stove store, and the
other is occupied by one of the defendants for a grocery store with
furniture, hardware, etc. ; that said wharf and building thereon do
not in fact impede or obstruct the passage of the waters of said
Gilpatrick’s Cove, being situated at the extreme northern point of
said Cove, and more than five hundred feet above low water mark
and at that point where the waters of said Cove are not, and have
never been used for purposes of navigation, and could not practi-
cally be so used.

“Aund the defendants further say that in the fall of 1903, they
did intend and undertake to construct upon the easterly side of
said wharf a small addition thereto which was to be entirely upon
their own shore and flats, and within the boundaries of their said
deed, and which said addition was not to extend southerly beyond
the outer end of said wharf as it has existed for many years past,
and that they had, being the owners of the said land and shore, a
“perfect right so to enlarge their said wharf as contemplated, which
said contemplated extension is that complained of in the said plain-
tifP’s bill.

“Wherefore, the defendants pray that they may be hence dis-
missed with their reasonable costs in this behalf most wrongfully
sustained.”
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To this answer the plaintiff filed the usual replication. The
cause then came on to be heard before the Justice of the first instance
upon bill, answer, replication and proof, and after hearing and argu-
ment, such Justice ordered, adjudged and decreed that the bill be
dismissed with costs. Thereupon the plaintiff, in accordance with
the provisions of section 22 of chapter 79, R. S., appealed to the
Law Court.

All the material facts appear in the opinion.

Hale & Hamlin, for plaintiff.

Arno W. King and John A. Peters, for defendants.

SitriNg: EMERY, WHITEHOUSE, SAVAGE, PowERs, PEA-
BODY, SPEAR, JJ.

EMERY, J. From the bill, answer and evidence we find the fol-
lowing facts: On the south side of Mt. Desert Island is a small
cove of tide water called “Gilpatrick’s Cove.” The defendants have
a warranty deed of a lot of upland on this cove at its head or extreme
northern end, and also of so much of the shore or flats of the cove
as is included within the extension of the side lines of their upland
across the shore or flats so as to include the structures hereinafter
described. The plaintiff owns a lot of upland bordering on the cove
next south-west of the defendants’ upland, but, so far as appears in
this case, she does not own any part of the ghore or flats of the cove.
(100 Maine, 410.) The defendants, being in possession under a
warranty deed, must therefore be held to have a prima facie title to
the flats named in their deed, at Jeast as against the plaintiff. The
defendants’ grantor some twelve years ago erected on the land
included in his deed to them a wharf extending from the upland out
upon their flats in front, and also erected upon this wharf a building
Jor trading purposes. This wharf and building have been maintained
ever since, and are now maintained by these defendants and are
wholly upon their land. They are now proposing to widen the
wharf by an addition to its eastern side within the side lines of their
flats and not extending any further out from the upland. The pres-
ent wharf was erected and has ever since been maintained without
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the license required therefor by the statute, R. 8., ch. 4, secs. 96 to
99 inclusive, and no such license has been obtained for the proposed
extension. The statute prohibits the erection and maintenance of an
unlicensed wharf. The plaintiff by her bill asks the court to enjoin
the proposed extension of the wharf and also the further maintenance
of the present structures on the flats upon the ground that being for-
bidden by the statute they are a nuisance in law, and injure the
plaintiff <“in her comfort, property and the enjoyment of her estate,”
(R. 8., ch. 22, sec. 13) her land being used and valuable as a sum-
mer residence.

If the existing structures alone were the subject matter of this
suit, the bill would need be dismissed under the settled doctrine of
this court that it will not, exceptin extreme cases, exercise its equity
powers to compel the removal of existing structures upon. the land

of the defendant though they may be a nuisance in law, but will

mtom remedy’“:ﬂ' faw-which'1 i this ‘state is « plam
adequate and complete.” “Séethe statute on nuisances, R. S., ¢. 22 ;
Davis v. Weymouth, 80 Maine, 310; Tracy v. LeBlanc, 89 Maine,
304 ; Sterling v. Littlefield, 97 Maine, 479. In Prop. Maine Wharf
v. Custom House Wharf, 85 Maine, 175, the structure was not on
the defendant’s land and the rights had been settled at law. No
such hurt or danger of hurt is shown by the evidence in this case as
would take it out of that rule.

The bill would also need be dismissed under the general principle
of equity jurisprudence that an equity court will not intervene
where the plaintiff has long tolerated the alleged nuisance, but will
leave him to establish his claim at law. These present structures
had been tolerated for ten years, during all which time they were
as much nuisance as now, having the same effect on persons and
property at Gilpatrick’s Cove. The danger of future hurt from
them is no more imminent now than at first. After ten years the
claim of the plaintiff for their removal is much too stale for the
court to enforce by decrees in equity.

But the claim of the plaintiff for an injunction ag(unst the pro-
posed extension is cognizable in equity and hence requires consid-
eration in this suit; and the already extensive and increasing occu-
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pation of lands bordering on the tide waters of the Maine coast
for summer residences by citizens of this and other states and
countries justifies, we think, a somewhat elaborate exposition of the
law governing cases like this. The wharf extension, if erected,
will, so far as appears, be wholly on flats owned by the defendants.
Under our law, based on the Colonial Ordinance of 1641-1647,
their ownership of their flats is as full and complete as their owner-
ship of their upland, except that it is subject to some extent to
certain public rights. State v. Wilson, 42 Maine, 9; Moore v.
Grifin, 22 Maine, 350; King v. Young, 76 Maine, 76. In this
case, however, we have to do only with the public right of naviga-
tion since no complaint is made of infringement of any other public
right. Prior to the statute cited (R. S., ch. 4, secs. 96 to 99, inclu-
sive,) the owner of flats could erect wharves on them as freely as
upon his upland, provided he did not thereby actually interrupt or
impede navigation. Com. v. Charlestown, 1 Pick. 180; Com. v.
Alger, 7 Cush. 53; Low v. Knowlton, 26 Maine, 128; State v.
Wilson, 42 Maine, 9. Whether a wharf did actually obstruct or
impede navigation and thereby become a nuisance at common law
or under R. 8., ch. 22, sec. 5, was a question of fact, and sometimes
a difficult one, to be determined in each case upon the evidence in
that case. The legislature has now intervened and created a tribunal
to determine that question, viz: the municipal officers of the town,
and has prohibited the erection of wharves in tide waters without a
license from that board (R. S., ch. 4, secs. 96 to 99, inclusive). If
that license is duly granted, the wharf cannot under the state law
be abated as an obstruction to navigation, even if it be such in fact,
though, of course, the license will not protect the wharf from com-
plaints for infringement of private rights. If the license is not
obtained, the wharf erected without it is an unlawful structure even
if it does not in fact obstruct navigation. That the legislature has
the power to thus require a license for the erection of wharves on
flats is not questioned. Com. v. Alger, 7 Cush. 53.

Such being the rights of the defendants and of the state in and over
their flats, we proceed to consider what right the plaintiff may have
to an injunction against the proposed extension of the defendants’
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wharf and also to an abatement of the existing structures, assuming
for convenience of statement and argument the present suit to be
appropriate for that purpose.

The mere fact that the structures are, or will be, erected and
maintained without the required statutory license does not make them
outlaws, to be lawfully assailed and destroyed by anyone, or abated
at the private suit of any person. Brightman v. Bristol, 65 Maine,
426. Indeed the statute does not declare them to be a nuisance in
law. An equity court will not at the suit of a private party restrain
the erection of a building, not in fact a nuisance, merely because its
erection is forbidden by statute or ordinance. St. John Village Corp.
v. MecFarlan, 33 Mich. 72 ; Mayor of Manchester v. Smith, 64 N. H.
380. Again, the mere fact that the existence of these structures upon
the defendants’ flats do or will lessen the plaintif’s enjoyment of her
lot, even as a summer residence, and lessen its commercial value, does
‘not give her a right to an abatement or even to damages. A neigh-
bor’s building on his own land, by its ugliness of architecture or by
its mere proximity, may lessen one’s enjoyment of his own residence
and lessen its market value; or a competing, neighboring factory
may lessen one’s business profits and the value of his own factory,
and yet no legal right be infringed. It is not enough, therefore, for
the plaintiff to show that the structures on the defendants’ flats are
there without the required statutory license and that they lessen the
enjoyment and market value of her land. She must go further and
" show that they infringe some individual right recognized by the law
as a legal, private right of hers. That they infringe the legal rights
of others gives her no cause of action against them.

The present structures and the proposed extension are forbidden
by statute, and to that extent are, and will be, illegal. Do they or
will they infringe any individual legal right of the plaintiff? There
is no evidence nor complaint that they do or threaten any injury to
the plaintiff or her land by vitiating the air or water, by unhealthy or
offensive odors, by disturbing noises, or by obstructing the passage of
light or air, or by otherwise unfavorably affecting her health or phys-
ical comfort. The plaintiff practically advances but three proposi-
tions, viz: (1) that the structures are in law and in fact an obstruc-
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tion to the navigation of the cove and thereby reduce the value of her
land in the cove; (2) that the structures are unsightly and also
obstruct the view of the scenery from her land, and thus lessen the
enjoyment and value of her estate; and (3) that the structures
materially impede the passage by water to and from her land, and
thus lessen its value.

As to the first proposition, whatever the damage to the plaintiff or
her land, the right infringed, that of the unimpeded navigation of the
cove, is a public right common to all the people of the state and not
a right peculiar to owners and occupants of land bordering on the
cove. It is the settled law of this state that structures which only
infringe public rights can be dealt with only by the public, that is,
by proceedings in the name of the state or some authorized person in
behalf of the public. An individual affected has no separate right of
action in his own name. To enforce the public right for his benefit
he must set the public agencies in motion. It is only when the
structures inflict upon him some special legal injury different in kind
as well as degree from that suffered by others that he has an indi-
vidual right of action against them. Holmes v. Corthell, 80 Maine,
33 ; Penley v. Auburn, 85 Maine, 281 ; Taylor v. P .K. & Y. 8t.
Ry. Co., 91 Maine, 193,

The plaintiff contends, however, that boating privileges in and
about the cove are attached to her lot, that these are a large and
peculiar element in its market value and constitute a legal right
appurtenant thereto apart from the public which has no right to
make use of it to facilitate their use of their public right, and that
the structures restrict and abridge these privileges. There may be
appurtenant to her lot a right of passage by boats, &c., to and from
it, Maine Wharf v. Custom House Wharf, 86 Maine, 175, but that
is only the right of access to and departure from her land by water.
Any other use of the water for boating or other navigation would
be under the public right alone.

But the plaintiff further urges that, conceding the right violated
to be a public right only, the violation of that public right has
damaged the value of her land, and that this damage is individual
and peculiar, one not suffered by the public at large. The question,
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however, is not whether the plaintiff’s land has been damaged, but
whether any of her legal rights have been infringed. The land
owner has no legal right that the market value of his land shall not
be disturbed.

Though by reason of her land being on this cove the plaintift
may have more need or occasion than other persons to make use
of the public right to the unimpeded navigation of the cove, and
her land may be more damaged by the violation of that right, the
right itself is still public and not private. Her ownership of land
on the cove gives her no greater nor different right to navigate it.
Every other citizen has the same right in kind and degree. The
plaintiff may have a greater interest than others in the right and
a greater need of its enforcement, but that does not change the
public right into a private right.  Frost v. Wash. Co. B. R. Co., 96
Maine, 76. It may be that an individual actually obstructed by an
unauthorized structure while in the actual exercise of the public
right may maintain an action for damages resulting, as was held in
Brown v. Watson, 47 Maine, 161 ; but that is a different case from
this where the only complaint is of the unfavorable effect upon the
enjoyment and value of the land.

The plaintiff further urges the hardship of her being left to the
action of public officials to enforce the public right and relieve her
from the damage done her by these unlicensed structures. She
suggests that the officials, influenced by local, political, or other
immaterial considerations, may improperly neglect and even refuse
to act upon application and thus leave her helpless. Even if this
apprehension be well founded, the court cannot afford relief in this
suit. Her remedy against recalcitrant public officers is in some
other procedure.

To the second proposition there are two answers. The law of
this state does not recognize any legal right to an anobstructed view
of scenery over and across the lands, even the flats, of others unless
acquired by grant; nor does the law recognize as a cause of action
the annoyance caused by the proximity or ugliness of otherwise
harmless structures upon the land of another. The pleasure of an
unobstructed view and of a prospect free from unsightly objects may
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be great, but in the present state of the law it is too refined for
legal cognizance. Again, the annoyances complained of, and the
consequent loss in value of land, were not caused by the fact that
the structures are or will be erected and maintained without the
required statutory license. The plaintiff must prove that her damage
was caused by the particular element in the character or use of the
structure which renders it a nuisance. Burbank v. Bethel Steam
Mill Co., 75 Maine, 373, at p. 382. The hurt to the plaintiff must
come from the structure, qua nuisance, to give her a cause of action
for maintaining it. Bowden v. Lewis, 13 R. I. 189 a case in many
respects similar to this. In the first case the plaintifi’s buildings
were destroyed by fire communicated from the defendant’s steam mill
situated on its own land but without the required statutory license
therefor. The statute declared any stationary steam engine so
erected without the license “to be a common nuisance,” and the
statute R. S., ch. 22, sec. 13, giving a right of action for injury from
a common nuisance, was then in force. It was held, nevertheless,
that the absence of the required license did not give the plaintiff
a right of action, and that unless the steam mill was a nuisance in
fact, its erection and use were not wrongful as to the plaintiff. In
the second case the plaintiff was lessee of certain oyster lots from the
state, and erected a building on them without the required statutory
license therefor. This building somewhat impeded navigation, was
unsightly, and alse obstructed the view from the defendant’s villa
lots near by. After the denial of a request for the removal of the
building, the defendant himself removed it. In an action of trespass
for such removal, it was held that neither the absence of the required
license nor the described damage to the defendant’s villa lots justified
his action. _The plaintiff had judgment. In the case at bar had the
license been obtained and the structures made lawful, the incon-
venience to the plaintiff from the obstruction to navigation, the lessen-
ing of her enjoyment of her estate and of its value from the proximity
and ugliness of the structures, would have been the same in kind
and degree. Hence she was not injured by the lack of the license
and cannot maintain this suit on that ground. The two cases cited
by the plaintiff, being from other states, are not compelling authority
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however closely in point, but we think they are each distinguishable
from this case. In Wheeler v. Bradford, 54 Conn. 244, the plain-
tif’s residence fronted on a public park. The defendant undertook
to enclose a large part of the park for his own use. The court
enjoined him at the suit of the plaintiff. The park, however, was
not established or reserved simply as a highway for purposes of pas-
sage, but to be kept open for air and prospect as well. Resi-
dences fronting on this park practically had annexed to them
the privilege of air and prospect over the park, a distinct privilege
appurtenant, and as such of material value. It was as if A. had
granted to B. a privilege of prospect over his land as appurtenant to
B’s residence, and C. should undertake to obstruct it. In the case
at bar the flats are the defendants’ private property, subject only to
certain public rights. Neither the public, however, nor the plaintiff
has any privilege of prospect over them. In Tyson v. First N. Bank,
133 Ala. 459, (32 So. 144) the plaintiff owned a store on a business
street. The defendant owned an adjoining lot on the same side of
the street, and proposed to extend its building into the street of
which it owned the fee subject to the easement of a public street.
The plaintiff alleged that the proposed extension would obstruct not
only the view of the street from his store, but also the view of his
store from the strect. It was held on demurrer that the plaintiff
had stated an injury different in kind and degree from that suffered
by the public. Granting that the owner of a store on a business
street has as appurtenant thereto the right that nothing shall be
erected by his neighbor on the street to hide his store from the pass-
ing throng upon whose custom his store depends, the case is obviously
not the one at bar.

Undoubtedly these structures do annoy the plaintiff and the occu-
pants of her land, and do reduce its renting and selling value, but,
so far at least, it appears to be a case of dammnum absque injuria.
It is clear, we think, that her first and second propositions do not,
under our law, sustain her suit. ‘

We come now to her third and last proposition, viz: that the
structures in fact materially impede the passage by water to and
from her land, and thereby infringe a legal right appurtenant to her
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lIand, and distinet from the public right. As to the structures in
existence at the time she filed her bill, she must be remitted to her
action at law under the rules stated in the early part of this opinion.
As to the proposed extension, the evidence does not make it plain
to us that it will materially impede passage by water to and from
the plaintif’s land. It is by no means so plain a case as that of
Maine Wharf v. Custom House Wharf, supra. The defendant’s
upland and wharf are at the extreme head of the cove. The plain-
tif’s land is wholly west of them. The proposed extension is on the
east side of the wharf and no farther out toward the sea. Not being
fully convinced of the fact alleged, we cannot make it the basis of
a decree in equity for a permavent injunction, but must leave the
plaintiff to establish it at law. A decree of absolute injunction is
too sharp and heavy an instrument to be used unless the right to
be protected thereby has been established by a judgment at law
or made indisputable in equity.

We find no ground upon which this suit can be maintained in
equity, and hence the decree dismissing the bill must be affirmed;
but since the plaintiff may possibly be able to establish in an action
at law some infringement of her individual legal rights, such as the
“right of access, the decree of dismissal should be without prejudice
to such an action. Since the wharf and the proposed extension are
confessedly in violation of the statute requiring a license, we think
the defendants should not recover costs of appeal.

Final decree to be made in accordance with this
opinion.
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In Equity.
DANIEL M. JACOBS et al. vs. ADDIE M. PRESCOTT et als.

- Lincoln.  Opinion October 30, 1906.

Wills.  Construction. Technical Words. ¢ Heirs.” “Farﬁily.”

It is a general rule in the construction of wills that words not technical are
to be understood in their usual, ordinary, popular signification, and that
technical words are presumed to be employed in their technical sense,
unless there is something in the context or subject matter to indicate that
the testator intended a different use of the terms employed.

In a bequest of personal property the word *‘heirs’” means, prima facie,
those who would be entitled to it had the testator died intestate, and the
word ‘‘ family’”’ is synonymous with kindred. or relations, those who are
related by blood and who are enlitled as next of kin under the statute of
distributions.

A testatrix after giving legacies to numerous persons, the most of whom
were related to her by consanguinity and the rest as relatives of her
deceased husband, directed ‘“any money remaining after my debts and
expenses are paid to be divided between my heirs by my family herein
named,’’ excepting N, who was one of the legatees related to her by
blood.

Held : that the words ‘“my heirs by my family herein named” did not
embrace those legatees who were related to the testatrix’s deceased hus-
band only, and that those of the legatees named in the will, except N,
take under this clause, who would have been entitled to the estate had
the testatrix died intestate, in the proportionsin which they would take
under the statute of distributions.

In equity. On appeal by defendants. Appeal sustained. Decree
according to opinion.

Bill in equity brought by the plaintiffs, Daniel M. Jacobs and
Joel P. Huston, administrators with the will annexed of the estate of
Melinda H. Sanborn late of Damariscotta, deceased, against Addie
Prescott, Frances Whitten, Etta M. Tedford, Gertrude M. Peabody,
Ruth Newcomb, Hattie Tibbetts, Helen F. Newcomb, Charles F.
Newcomb, Barnet M. Stuart, Albion W. Stuart, Joel A. Sanborn,
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Robert M. Sanborn, Warren M. Abbott, Loren Stuart, Fred Stuart,
Willis Stuart, Allura J. Jacobs, Eliza A. Sanborn, and Adoniram J.
Sanborn, asking the court to determine who took as beneficiaries
under the residuary clause of the said will of the said Melinda H.
Sanborn.

This cause came on for hearing before the Justice of the first
instance and was argued by counsel, and thereupon the plaintiffs’
bill was sustained with costs and it was ordered, adjudged and
decreed as follows :

“First. That the word ¢ family,” found in the phrase “my heirs
by my family herein named” contained in the nineteenth and resid-
uary clause of the will set forth in the bill, includes and was
. intended by the testatrix to include all the beneficiaries named in said
will related to the testatrix both by consanguinity and affinity, and
that the following persons named in said will except Helen F.
Newcomb are entitled to receive said residuary estate in equal shares,
to wit: (Here follows the names of all the defendants, except that
of Helen F. Newcomb.)

“Second. That the costs of all parties to this bill, both of plain-
tiffs and defendants, including reasonable counsel fees, be paid by
the administrators of the estate of the will annexed out of the estate.

“Third. That this case be remanded to the Probate Court in
said County of Lincoln for the distribution and settlement of said
estate in accordance with this decree.”

Thereupon in accordance with the provisions of section 22 of
chapter 79, R. S., fourteen of the defendants took an appeal to the
Law Court.

The case appears in the opinion.

Wm. H. Hilton, for plaintiffs,

P. H. Gillin, for defendants, Addie Prescott, Frances Whitten,
C. F. Newcomb, Barnet M. Stuart, Loren F. Stuart, A. W. Stuart,
Etta M. Tedford, Ruth M. Newcomb, Gertrude M. Peabody, Hattie
A. Tibbetts and Warren M. Abbott.

Pierce & Hall, for defendants, Eliza A. Sanborn, Allura J.
Jacobs, Adoniram J. Sanborn, Robert M. Sanborn, and Joel A.
Sanborn.



Me.] JACOBS v. PRESCOTT. 65

StrriNg:  WisweLL, C. J., WHITEHOUSE, SAVAGE, POWERS,
PeaBoDY, JJ.

Powers, J. Bill in equity by the administrators with the will
annexed to determine who take as beneficiaries under the residuary
clause of the will of Matilda H. Sanborn of Damariscotta. The
testatrix by the first nineteen clauses of her will gave to the nineteen
defendants various legacies of from $200 to $2000 each, and then
said: ¢ These bequests to be made after my just expenses for funeral
and nice headstone or tablet shall have been erected or money
retained to pay for it—it is my wish to have my money collected
and divided as soon after my decease as law will allow —any money
remaining after my debts and expenses are paid to be divided between
my heirs by my family herein named — with exception of Helen F.
Newcomb her portion I consider sufficient for her.” Of these nine-
teen legatees, fourteen, including Helen F. Newcomb, were related
to her by consanguinity, and the most of these were her heirs at law.
The remaining five were related to her by affinity only as relatives of
her deceased husband. The case comes here on appeal from the
decree, of the justice hearing the cause, that all of the legatees named,
with the exception of Helen I. Newcomb, are entitled to receive the
residuary estate in equal shares. A construction of the will is asked
upon two points; first, as to whether the words “my heirs by my
family herein named” embraced the legatees who were relatives of
the testatrix’s deceased husband only; second, as to who and how
many take under said residuary clause.

It is a general rule in the construction of wills that words not
technical are to be understood in their usual, ordinary, popular
signification, and that technical words are presumed to be employed
in their technical sense, unless there is something in the context or
subject matter to indicate that the testator intended a different use
of the terms employed. Accordingly the word ¢ heirs,” in a
bequest of personal property means, prima facie, those who would
be entitled to it had the testator died intestate. Schouler on Wills,
section 542; and the word ‘“family” is synonymous with kindred
or relations those who are related by blood and who are entitled as

VOL. CII &



66 JACOBS . PRESCOTT. [102

next of kin under the statute of distributions. Bouvier’s Law
Dictionary. 30 A. & E. Encycl. of L. 2nd Edition, 130.

These words, however, are flexible and should receive a broader
construction when such appears to have been the testator’s intention.
We find nothing in the context, in the clause of the will under
consideration, or in the entire will to show that the testatrix intended
to use either the words ¢ heirs” or ¢ family” in a broader or
different sense than that which is generally given to them. The
exception of Helen F. Newcomb throws no light upon the question
involved, for she was related to the testatrix by blood and one of
her heirs at law. The fact that the words ¢ herein named” imme-
diately follow the word “family” does not give to that word a
meaning broad enough to embrace all the legatees named. The
words ““herein named” may as well have been used to modify the
whole clause “my heirs by my family,” as the words « my family ”
alone. The testatrix appears to have had in mind, blood and not
affinity, and to have used the words ¢ by my family ” to emphasize
her intention and more clearly restrict the objects of her bounty
under the residuary clause to those who were related to her by
consanguinity. The will is holographie, and it is common for a
person to speak of “my family” in contradistinetion to the family
of one’s husband or wife. The order of the words has no especial
significance. Tt is the same as if the testatrix had said “my heirs
herein named by my family,” the words “by my family ”” being a
paraphrastic description of the persons already mentioned.

Our conclusion therefore, in answer to the first point presented, is
that the words “my heirs by my family herein named” did not
embrace those legatees named in the will who were related to the
testatrix’s deceased husband only. In answer to the second point,
those of the legatees named in the will, except Helen F. Newcomb,
take under the residuary clause, who would have been entitled to the
estate had the testatrix died intestate, in the proportions in which
they would take under the statute of distributions. Trust Co. v.
Williams, 183 Mass. 173; 30 A. & E. Eneycl. of L. 730, 2nd
Edition. How many they are the case does not afford sufficient data
to determine, as while the bill sets out that all of the blood relatives
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of the testatrix named in the will were her heirs at law, this is denied
in the answer of several of the defendants. This matter must be
determined by the justice entering the final decree.

The costs of these proceedings may properly be decreed a charge
upon the estate.

The decree appealed from is reversed.
Decree according to the opinion.

/

JAMES BELL vs. JAMES P. JORDAN et al,

Cumberland.  Opinion October 29, 1906.

Contracts.  Construction.  Intention of parties to govern, when. Breach.
Damages. Liquidated Damages.

In the construction of contracts, it is a fundamental rule or consideration
paramount to all others that the intention of the parties, as gathered from
the language of all parts of the agreement considered in relation to each
other, and interpreted with reference to the situation of the parties and
the manifest object which they had in view, must always be allowed to
prevail unless some established principle of law or sound public policy
would thereby be violated. .

The defendants made a contract to sell the plaintiff 5000 cases of ‘‘ High
Muine Standard Corn’’ from the crop of 1903, but in order to safeguard
the transaction against extraordinary contingencies, they qualified the
proposition to sell 5000 cases by stipulating that ‘“in case of short crop
owing to circumstances beyond the control of the packer, 707 delivery to
be guaranteed buyer, and 10% of purchase price to be paid buyer by
seller for any quantity delivered short of the 70% guaranteed by this
contract.” Held : that it was not the intention of the parties that the
defendants should be relieved of the obligation of their guaranty to deliver
70 per cent by any other circumstances than that of a short crop, and in
that event the intention disclosed by the contract is that the defendants -
were to deliver such part of the 70 per cent as the condition of the crop
would enable them to provide.
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Although the crop of 1903 was short, it was not a total failure, but was such
as would have enabled the defendants to deliver 40 per cent of the 5000
cases called for by the contract, or 2000 cases. Held : that it was the duty .
of the defendants to deliver that amount and to pay 10 per cent of the
purchase price of the balance. The necessary shortage was only*30 per
cent and not 70 per cent of the 5000 cases sold.

For failure to deliver the 2000 cases which they might have delivered, Held -
that the defendants are liable to pay damages, the difference between the
contract price of the corn and the market value of the same at the time
and place stipulated for delivery, and for failure to deliver the balance of
30 per cent which they were unable to deliver, they are liable to pay 10
per cent of the purchase price as liquidated damages with interest on both
of said sums from the date of the breach to the time of judgment.

On agreed statement of facts. Remanded for assessment of
damages according to opinion.

Assumpsit to recover damages for the breach of a contract whereby
the defendants agreed to sell and deliver to the plaintiff 5000 cases
of sweet corn during the year 1903. The defendants failed to sell
and deliver any sweet corn to the plaintiff under this contract, there-
upon the plaintiff brought this action for the recovery of damages.
The action was commenced in the Superior Court, Cumberland
County. An agreed statement of facts was then filed and the case
sent to the Law Court -with the agreement that the case should be
submitted for hearing and argument on the agreed statement of facts,
damages to be assessed by the Judge of the Superior Court after the
liabilities of the defendants had been finally determined by the Law
Court.

All the material facts appear in the opinion.

George F. Gould, for plaintiff.
Bird & Bradley, for defendants.

SrrriNeg: WiswerL, C. J.,, WHITEHOUSE, SAVAGE, POWERs,
PEABODY, SPEAR, JJ.

Wuitenousg, J. This is an action to recover damages for the
breach of a contract for the sale of sweet corn, and the case comes to
this court on an agreed statement of facts.

The plaintiff was a wholesale grocer doing business at Philadelphia,
and the defendants were packers of sweet corn, doing business at



Me.] BELL v. JORDAN, 69

Portland, Maine, with factories at North Turner and New Gloucester.
In the month of January 1903, the plaintiff entered into the follow-
ing written contract with the defendants, viz:

“Sold to Mr. James Bell, Philadelphia, Pa.,

For account of The United Packers, Portland, Maine.

“Five thousand (5000) cases, 2 dozen each, ¢ High Maine Stand-
ard’ corn, of crop 1903.

¢ Price, 80 cents per dozen, F. O. B. Portland, Me., with rate of
freight from Portland, Me., to Philadelphia, Pa. allowed buyer.

“Cans to be covered by tissues furnished by seller, and buyer’s
plain labels to be pasted on the outside of the tissue, and allowance
to be made buyer for labels of $1.00 per thousand. .

“One thousand (1000) cases of the goods covered by this contract
to be shipped and billed as soon as packed and ready to send forward,
and the remaining four thousand (4000) cases to be shipped later as
instructed by buyer, with the understanding that the entire lot is to
be sent forward before freezing weather. All goods to be billed
when shipped. ’

“In case of short crop, owing to circumstances beyond the control
of the packer, 70% delivery to be guaranteed buyer, and 10 % of
purchase price to be paid buyer by seller for any quantity delivered
short of the 70 % guaranteed by this contract.

“Terms Cash in 10 days, less 11 %.”

In the summer and fall of the year of 1903 there was a short crop
of corn, owing to eircumstances beyond the control of the defendants,
and consequently the defendants were able to pack ouly forty (40)
per cent of the total amount of corn which they had contracted to
sell and deliver to purchasers. '

Although the plaintiff was ready at all times to receive and pay
for the corn specified in the contract, in accordance with its terms,
the defendants failed to deliver any corn whatever or to perform any
of the terms of their contract.

The controversy between the parties involves a construction of the
last clause of the contract relating to the obligation of the defendants
““in case of a short crop.” The plaintiff claims that although there
was a short crop, the defendants by the stipulations in their contract,
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considered together, should have delivered to him forty per cent of
the total 5000 cases which they engaged to deliver, and paid him ten
per cent of the purchase price of the balance of the ¢“seventy per
cent delivery” guaranteed by the clause of the contract in question.
In other words the plaintiff claims that it was the duty of the defend-
ants, by the terms of the contract to deliver to him the forty per
cent of the total amount which they had packed and were able to
deliver, and to pay him ten per cent of the purchase price of the
remaining thirty per cent guaranteed, which they were not able to
deliver.

On the other hand the defendants contend that under the terms
of the contract in the event of a short crop, they had the option
either to deliver to the plaintiff the seventy per cent of the entire
5000 cases which they engaged to deliver, or to deliver none at all
and pay ten per cent of the whole seventy per cent as liquidated
damages. Thus the only question before this court is whether the
defendants are liable to pay damages according to the ordinary rule
for failing to deliver the forty per cent of the corn which they sold
and might have delivered, or whether they are only required to pay
ten per cent of the purchase price, as liquidated damages on that
amount as well as on the remaining thirty per cent which they could
not deliver.

In the construction of contracts there is one fundamental rule or
consideration which is paramount to all others, and that is, that the
intention of the parties, as gathered from the language of all parts
of the agreement considered in relation to each other and interpreted
with reference to the situation of the parties, and the manifest object
which they had in view, must always be allowed to prevail unless
some established principle of law or sound public policy would
thereby be violated.

When the contract for the sale of the sweet corn in question in
this case is examined in the light of the foregoing considerations, it
is the opinion of the court that it must be construed in accordance
with the plaintif’s contention. The defendants desiring a market
for the product of their factories in 1903, made a contract to sell the
plaintiff 5000 cases of “High Maine Standard Corn’” from the crop
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of that year. The plaintiff desiring to supply his stock in trade
as a wholesale grocer, accepted the defendants’ proposition. The
one wished to sell corn and the other wished to buy it. But in
order to safeguard the transaction against extraordinary contingencies,
the defendants qualify the proposition to sell 5000 cases by stipu-
lating that in the event of a short crop occasioned by “circumstances
beyond the control of the packer,” only 70 per cent of the 5000
cases should be guaranteed, and if they were unable to deliver the
70 per cent by reason of such short crop they would pay 10 per
cent of the purchase price of the quantity not delivered as damages
for such failure to deliver. It was obviously not the intention of the
parties that the defendants should be relieved of the obligation of
their guaranty to deliver 70 per cent by any other circumstance
than that of a short crop. In that event the intention disclosed by the
contract is that the defendants were to deliver such part of the 70
per cent as the condition of the crop would enable them to provide.
Although the crop of 1903 was short, it was not a total failure, but
was such as would have enabled the defendants to deliver 40 per
cent of the 5000 cases called for by the contract, or 2000 cases. It
was the duty of the defendants to deliver that amount and to pay 10
per cent of the purchase price of the balance. The necessary short-
age was only 30 per cent and not 70 per cent of the 5000 cases sold.
For failure to deliver the 2000 cases which they might have
delivered, the defendants are liable to pay as damages, the difference
between the contract price of the corn and the market value of the
same at the time and place stipulated for delivery, and for failure to
deliver the balance of 30 per cent which they were unable to deliver,
they are liable to pay 10 per cent of the purchase price as liquidated
damages, with interest on both of said sums from the date of the
breach to the time of judgment.

According to the stipulation of the parties, the case is remanded to
the Superior Court for the assessment of damages in accordance with
this opinion.

So ordered.



72 CHANDLER WILL CASE. [102

AMERICAN BoaArp oF COMMISSIONERS FOR FOREIGN MISSIONS.

Appellant from Decree of Judge of Probate in re last Will and
Testament of Solomon H. Chandler,

Cumberland.  Opinion November 12, 1906.

- Wills.  Testator must be of sound mind when will is executed. Proponent must prove
affirmatively that testator was of sound mind when will was executed. Sanity.
Insanity. A ‘¢ disposing mind,”” defined. Mere intellectual feebleness to be
distinguished from unsoundness of mind. Testutor under guardianship
when will was executed. Same « rebullable presumption of fact,
and does not work an estoppel upon proponent of will.  Testi-
mony of medical experts.  Same considered. Same subject
to the test of reasonableness and consistency. Pre-
judiced expert testimony. Same an unsafe
criterion. R. S., chapter 69, section
26 ; chapter 76, section 1.

Revised Statutes, chapter 76, section 1, provides as follows:

‘A person of sound mind, and of the age of twenty-one years, may dispose
of his real and personal estate by will, ini writing, signed by him, or by
some person for him at his request, and in his presence, and subseribed in
his presence by three credible attesting witnesses, not beneficially inter-
ested under said will.” There is no exception or qualification to the
requirement that a person must be of sound mind in order to make a valid
will, and the burden rests upon the proponent of the will to prove affirma-
tively that the testator was of sound mind when he made the will. Hence
in probating a will the sanity of the testator must be proved ; it is not to
be presumed.

But the word sanity is wused in its legal and not its medical sense.
Etymologically, insanity signifies unsoundness. Lexically, it signifies
unsoundness of mind, or derangement of the intellect. In law,every mind
is sound that can reason and will intelligently, in the particular transaction
being considered ; and every mind is unsound or insane that cannot so-
reason and will. The law investigates no further. This definition clearly
differentiates the sound from the unsound mind, in the legal sense.

A disposing mind involves the exercise of so much mind and memory as
would enable a person to transact common and simple kinds of business
with that intelligence which belongs to the weakest class of sound minds ;
and a disposing memory exists when one can recall the general nature, con-
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dition and extent of his property and his relation to those to whom he
gives, and also to those from whom he excludes, his bounty. But mere
intellectual feebleness must be distinguished from unsoundness of mind.
The requirements of a ‘““sound and disposing mind > does not imply that
the powers of the mind may not have been weakened or impaired by old
age or bodily disease.

It is a well established rule in this state that while confinementin an insane
asylum or the disability of guardianship is made prima facie evidence of
some mental incapacity, yet it isa rebuttable presumption of fact and may
be overthrown by a preponderance of the evidence. The incapacity of
guardianship is simply a fact which may be proven like any other fact
tending to establish mental incapacity, but it does not work an estoppel
upon the proponent of a will. R. 8., chapter 69, section 26, recognizes this
principle and provides, among other things, that ‘ when a person over
twenty-one years of age is under guardianship, he is incapable of disposing
of his property otherwise than by his last will.”’

MEDICAL EXPERTS. In the consideration of the testimony of medical
experts the test of consistency and reasonableness always having refer-
ence to the other testimony in the case, which their opinions may tend to
corroborate or contradict, should be applied.

The opinion of a medical expert whose testimony does not differentiate
between a medically sound mind and a legally sound mind is entitled to
weight only when the other evidence shows that it applies to legal unsound-
ness, as a mind legally sound may be medically unsound. On the other
hand, a medically sound mind necessarily includes a legally sound mind.

When it appears that the opinion of a medical expert is made up from a
prejudiced view and for a predetermined purpose, then the ordinary rule
of law with reference to the effect of interest upon credibility should be
applied with special force, as such opinion evidence presents an unsafe
criterion upon which to found a judgment affecting important interests.
Such testimony is not only worthless but insidious and dangerous, for
it is impossible for the layman in the analysis of such testimony to distin-
guish the true from the untrue. And if the untrue is acted upon, injustice
must follow.

Oun report. ~Appeal dismissed. Decree of Probate Court affirmed
in part. Case remanded for further proceedings in accordance with
opinion.

Appeal by the American Board of Commissioners for Foreign
Missions from the decree of the Judge of Probate, Cumberland
County, approving and allowing certain instruments as the last will
and testament and codicils thereto, of Solomon H. Chandler late of
New Gloucester, Cumberland County, deceased. This appeal was

to the Supreme Judicial Court, sitting as the Supreme Court of
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Probate, held at Portland on the second Tuesday of October, A. D.
1904, and was taken in accordance with the provisions of the
Revised Statutes, chapter 65, section 28. The appeal and reasons
of appeal are as follows:

“STATE OF MAINE.

“To the Honorable, the Judge -of the Probate Court, in and for the
County of Cumberland :

“Respectfully represents American Board of Commissioners for
Foreign Missions, a corporation legally existing and located in
Boston in the County of Suffolk and Commonwealth of Massachu-
setts, that it is interested in the estate of Solomon H. Chandler, late
of New Gloucester in said County of Cumberland, deceased, of
which said court has now jurisdiction, as residuary legatee under a
certain instrument purporting to be the last will and testament of
said deceased, dated September 17, 1897, and certain instruments
purporting to be the last will and testament and codicils thereto of
the said deceased, dated respectively March 10, 1896, August 11,
1896, and August 9, 1902, that it is aggrieved by your Honor’s
decree on the petition of Andrew C. Chandler et al, that certain
instruments purporting to be the last will and testament and codicils
thereto of said deceased dated respectively March 10, 1896, August
11, 1896, and August 9, 1902, may be proved and allowed, made
at a Probate Court held at Portland, in and for said County of
Cumberland, on the third day of June, A. D. 1904, whereby certain
instruments presented with said petition, dated respectively March
10, 1896, August 11, 1896, and August 9, 1902, purporting to be
the last will and testament and codicils thereto of Solomon H.
Chandler, late of New Gloucester, in said County, deceased, were
approved and allowed as the last will and testament and codicils
thereto of said deceased, and letters testamentary issued to Lyman
M. Cousens, Andrew C. Chandler and John W. True, and whereby
it was further decreed that the costs of the petitioners and contest-
ants, including fees of witnesses and stenographers, together with
reasonable counsel fees for both said petitioners and contestants, be
paid out of the estate of said Solomon H. Chandler, and hereby



Me.] CHANDLER WILIL CASE. 75

appeals therefrom to the Supreme Judicial Court, being the Supreme
Court of Probate, to be held at Portland, within and for the County
of Cumberland, on the second Tuesday of October, A. D. 1904, and
alleges the following reasons of appeal, viz:

“First : The written instruments offered by the proponents, pur-
porting to be the last will and testament and codicils thereto of
Solomon H. Chandler, dated respectively March 10, 1896, August
11, 1896, and August 9, 1902, are not, nor is either of them, the
last will and testament of the said Solomon H. Chandler.

“Second: The said written instrument dated March 10, 1896
offered by the proponents, purporting to be the last will of said
Solomon H. Chandler, was revoked by a subsequent and valid will
duly made and executed by the said Solomon H. Chandler on the
17th day of September, 1897, he being then of sound mind and
of the age of twenty-one years, which said valid will was not there-
after legally changed or revoked by said Solomon H. Chandler.

“Third: The said written instrument dated August 11th, 1896,
and offered by the proponents, purporting to be a codicil to the
alleged last will and testament of said Solomon H. Chandler dated
March 10th, 1896, was revoked by the said Solomon H. Chandler
by his said valid will duly made and executed on the 17th day of
September, 1897, which said valid will was never changed or
revoked by said Solomon H. Chandler.

“Fourth: The said written instrument dated August 9th, 1902,
purporting to be a codicil to the alleged last will of Solomon H.
Chandler, was not legally executed in the presence of three credible
attesting witnesses not beneficially interested thereunder.

«Fifth: The said Solomon H. Chandler at the time of the making
and executing of the written instrument offered by the proponents,
dated August 9th, 1902, purporting to be a codicil to his alleged
last will and testament dated March 10th, 1896, was not of sound
and disposing mind.

“Sixth: Upon petition of the municipal officers of the town of
New Gloucester, in the county of Cumberland and State of Maine,
dated April 12th, A. D. 1902, said town then being the place of
residence of said Solomon H. Chandler, representing said Solomon H.
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Chandler to be a “person of unsound mind, who by reason of infirm-
ity and mental incapacity is incompetent to manage his own estate
and to protect his rights’” and further praying that John W. True of
New Gloucester be appointed guardian of said Solomon H. Chandler,
and after due notice given to said Solomon H. Chandler on said peti-
tion as ordered by the court, and after a hearing upon the same at
which said Solomon H. Chandler was present and was interrogated
by the court, said Solomon H. Chandler was adjudged and decreed
by the Probate Court for said county of Cumberland on May 20th,
A. D. 1902, to be “a person of unsound mind” and said John W.
True was appointed by said court to be the guardian of said Solomon
H. Chandler, and gave bond in that behalf as ordered by said court,
and under the warrant of said court caused the estate of said Solomon
H. Chandler to be inventoried and appraised, and took and main-
tained until said Chandler’s decease, enstody and control of his per-
son and estate; and said judgment and decree was not subsequently
modified, annulled or reversed or vacated by said court or any court
having jurisdiction in the premises; and the mind of said Solomon
H. Chandler did not after the time of said judgment and decree
become restored to a condition of sanity of mind and was not so
restored on August 9th, A. D. 1902, the date when said alleged
codicil purports to have been made.

“Seventh : The making and execution of the written instrument
dated August 9th, 1902, purporting to be a codicil to the'élleged
last will and testament of the said Solomon H. Chandler dated March
10th, A. D. 1896, was obtained by the undue influence of William
K. Neal, John W, True and Andrew C. Chandler, exerted over Solo-
mon H. Chandler.

“Kighth : The said Solomon H. Chandler at the time of the mak-
ing and execution of the written instrument dated August 9th, 1902,
purporting to be a codicil to his alleged last.will and testament dated
March 10th, 1896, was unduly influenced and fraudulently deceived
in the making and execution thereof by other persons or by influence
other than his own mind, to wit, by persons having confidential and
fiduciary relations to him and his estate, viz: John W. True, his
legal guardian, William K. Neal, attorney for the guardian, and
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Andrew C. Chandler, the guardian’s agent, to whom was committed
the custody of his person, all of whom were then participating in the
guardianship service in their several capacities for hire, and all of
whom were to be benefited by the provisions of said alleged codicil,
and the execution of said alleged codicil was thus procured by them.

“Ninth: The said written instrument dated August 9th, 1902
purporting to be a codicil to the alleged will of Solomon H. Chandler
dated March 10th, 1896, is not the offspring of the mind and will of
said Solomon H. Chandler, but is the offspring of the mind and will
of another or other persons, viz., William K. Neal, John W. True
and Andrew C. Chandler.

“Tenth: The said written instrument dated August 9th, 1902,
purporting to be a codicil to the alleged will of Solomon H. Chandler
dated March 10th, 1896, is not the act of the free will of said
Solomon H. Chandler, but was procured by the fraud, deceit and
undue influence of other persons to be benefited by reason thereof,
viz., Andrew C. Chandler, named as legatee under said alleged
codicil, John W. True, named as executor under said alleged codicil,
and William K. Neal, acting as agent and attorney for said John W.
True in this behalf,

“Eleventh : The making and execution of said alleged codicil
dated August 9th, 1902, was not the spontaneous act of Solomon H.
Chandler understanding the nature and consequences thereof, but
was the act of William K. Neal and other persons advised by him.

“Twelfth: John W. True, then the legal guardian of Solomon H.
Chandler, and William K. Neal, then actfl)g as attorney and agent
of said guardian, and Andrew C. Chandler, agent of said guardian
to whom was then committed the custody of the person of said
Solomon H. Chandler, and in whose actual custody upon said date
was his person fraudulently deceived said Solomon H. Chandler and
thereby procured from him the making and execution of the alleged
codicil of August 9th, 1902, as a codicil to a will dated March 10th,
1896, which will they each and all then knew had been revoked by a
subsequent valid and existing will, by reason whereof the contestant
was defrauded of its legal rights under the provisions of said valid will
dated September 17, 1897.
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“Thirteenth: John W. True, then the legal gnardian of Solomon
H. Chandler, and William K. Neal, then acting as attorney at law,
legal adviser and agent of said guardian, and Andrew C. Chandler,
agent of said guardian to whom was then committed the custody of
the person of said Solomon H. Chandler, and in whose actual custody
upon said date was his person, practiced a fraud upon said Solomon
H. Chandler in obtaining the making and execution by said Solomon
H. Chandler of the alleged codicil dated August 9th, 1902, under
the provisions of which they were persons to be benefitted, in that
they all were present at the making and execution thereof, and they
each and all then knew said Solomon H. Chandler to be a person
then under guardianship by reason of the fact that he had been
decreed by the Probate Court of the County of Cumberland in which
he then resided to be ““a person of unsound mind,” and they each
and all then knew that his condition of mind was such that he did
not then recall the fact of the existence of or the provisions of the
valid will dated September 17th, 1897; and they each and all then
had knowledge of the existence of such subsequent valid last will of
said Solomon H. Chandler which revoked the alleged will of March
10th, 1896 ; and they each and all then failed and neglected to recall
to the mind of said Solomon H. Chandler that he had theretofore
made and executed such valid will, which was subsequent to said
alleged will of March 10th, 1896; and in place thereof said Wil-
liam K. Neal, in the pesence of and with the knowledge and con-
sent of said John W. True, the guardian, and Aundrew C.
Chandler, the custodian of the person of Solomon II. Chandler, pre-
sented and read to Solomon H. Chandler the revoked will dated
March 10th, 1896, as a then valid will subject to be changed by a
codicil; by reason of all of which fraudulent practice the making
and execution of the alleged codicil of August 9th, 1902, was
obtained with the purpose and intent thus to defraud the contestant,
and to so divert the testamentary disposition of the estate of said
Solomon H. Chandler that they might be benefited thereby.

“Fourteenth: William K. Neal, in the presence of and with the
assistance of John W, True and Andrew C. Chandler, on the ninth
day of August, 1902, fraudulently deceived the said Solomon H.



Me.] CHANDLER WILL CASE. 79

Chandler, he being then under guardianship as a person of unsound
mind, by falsely representing and pretending to him that the then
revoked and void instrument dated March 10th, 1896, purporting
to be the will of Solomon H. Chandler, of which said Neal had
obtained possession by virtue of said guardianship, was his legal and
valid last will and testament, and thereby unduly influenced and
induced him to make pretended alterations and changes therein by
the making and execution of the instrument dated August 9th, 1902,
purporting to he a codicil to said alleged will dated March 10th,
1896, whereby the legal and valid will of said Solomon H. Chandler
dated September 17th, 1897, of the existence of which the said
William K. Neal, John W. True and Andrew C. Chandler each and
all then had knowledge, would be by said Solomon H. Chandler
unwittingly revoked.

“Fifteenth: Andrew C. Chandler and John W. True are the
petitioners who signed the petition as proponents for the probate
and allowance by the Probate Court of the alleged will dated March
10th, 1896, and the alleged codicil dated August 11, 1896, and the
alleged codicil dated August 9th, 1902, as the last will and testa-
ment of said Solomon H. Chandler, now in hearing ; they are also
two of the exccutors named in said alleged codicil of August 9th,
1902, and they are persons to be benefited thereby; and they are
also two of the persons by reason of the fraud, deceit, acts, prompt-
ings and undue influence of whom, acting upon the weakened mind
of said Solomon H. Chandler, the making and execution of said
alleged codicil dated August 9th, 1902, was procured; and by
reason thereof the decree of the court directing ¢that the costs of
the petitioners and of the contestants in this case, including fees
of witnesses and stenographers, together with reasonable counsel
fees for both said petitioners and contestants be paid out of the estate
of said Solomon H. Chandler by the executors and charged in their
account with said estate” is unjust, without equity, encouraging and
assisting the practice of frauds and deceit, and is contrary to the
. policy of the law.

“Dated this fourteenth day of June, A. D. 1904.
« American Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions,
“ By Frank H. WieeIN, Treasurer.’
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This appeal and the reasons therefor were duly entered at the said
October term of said Supreme Judicial Court sitting as the Supreme
Court of Probate.

At said October term of said Supreme Judicial Court, the peti-
tioners and legatees filed a motion to have the appeal dismissed. The
motion was overruled and thereupon the petitioners and legatees took
exceptions. These exceptions were not considered by the Law Court.

Afterwards at said October term, of said Supreme Judicial Court,
the appellant was allowed to amend its ¢ Reasons of Appeal” by
adding directly after the 15th specification therein the following aver-
ment :

“Sixteenth: And the said American Board of Commissioners for
Foreign Missions avers that Frank H. Wiggin upon all the dates of
taking this appeal, and of making, signing, filing in the Probate
Court and entering in the Supreme Judicial Court these reasons for
appeal was the duly elected and qualified and acting Treasurer of
said corporation, the American Board of Commissioners for Foreign
Missions ; and for more than a year next preceding any and all of
said dates was continuously such Treasurer; and said Frank H.
Wiggin, in his said capacity as Treasurer was duly authorized by
said corporation in its name and behalf to take this appeal ; and to
sign these reasons for appeal for and in its name and behalf ; and
said Treasurer, Frank H. Wiggin, in the name and behalf of said
American Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions was duly
authorized to execute and procure to be executed the necessary bond
for costs of appeal from said decree of the Probate Court.

¢« American Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions,

By Sern L. LARRABEE,
SamueL C. DARLING,
FrRED V. MATTHEWS,

its Attorneys.”

To the ruling allowing this amendment to the ¢ Reasons of Appeal”’
the appellees and legatees took exceptions, but the same were not
considered by the Law Court.

Also at said October term of said Supreme Judicial Court, a
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motion was filed by the appellees to strike out and expunge certain
allegations in the appellant’s ¢ Reasons of Appeal.””.

The grounds of the motion were that the allegations objected to
“were immaterial, argumentative, scandalous, not pertinent to the
issue, in legal effect a repetition of allegations in other reasons of
appeal, a recital of evidence only, and that they did not present any
issue or allegation material to the appeal but was an attempt to raise
false issues which would obscure the real issues to be tried and pro-
duce confusion and unduly prejudice the rights of the appellees in
the trial of the appeal.”

This motion was denied and thereupon the appellees took excep-
tions, but the same were not considered by the Law Court.

" The cause was fully heard at said October term of said Supreme
Judicial Court sitting as the Supreme Court of Probate. (The testi-
mony, including that taken out in the Probate Court together with
depositions, fills four printed volumes containing in all nearly 3000
pages.)

At the conclusion of the testimony in the Supreme Judicial Court,
and in accordance with the previous agreement.of the parties, the
presiding Justice made the following order :

“Upon the hearing of said cause, the Justice presiding being of
opinion that questions of law are involved of sufficient importance
and doubt to justify the same, and the parties agreeing thereto, and
in accordance with their written stipulations, the cause is, by direc-
tion of the Justice, reported to the Law Court for final determina-
- tion and decision of all questions of law and fact, upon the foregoing
testimony, being the evidence adduced at the hearing before the Judge
of Probate, and certain additional evidence introduced before this
court by deposition and oral testimony, or so much thereof as may be
deemed legally admissible.”

The wills and codicils under consideration in the case and other
facts material to the issue, sufficiently appear in the opinion.

Solomon H. Chandler, the deceased testator, appears to have been
commonly known as Hewett Chandler and is frequently spoken of
by that name in the testimony, a part of which is quoted in the
opinion.

VOL, CII 6
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Catherine C. Chandler, one of the legatees, is called Madam
Chandler both in the testimony and in the opinion.

The case does not disclose the exact amount of the deceased testa-
tor’s estate, but the appellant’s brief refers to the codicil of August
9th, 1902, as disposing of ¢ nearly half a million of dollars.”

The appellant’s brief consists of 985 printed pages, besides indexes,
etc., and the appellees’ brief covers over 600 printed pages.

Seth L. Larrabee, Samuel C. Darling (of Boston, Mass.), Fred
V. Matthews, and S. Boyd Darling (of Boston, Mass.), for appellant.

Nathan and Henry B. Cleaves and Stephen C. Perry and Guy H.
Sturgis, for appellees, also for Andrew C. Chandler, Charles P.
Chandler, Fred H. Chandler, Roland C. Chandler and Catherine
C. Chandler, legatees.

Josiah H. Drummond, for executors.

SrrriNg: WiswieLL, C. J., WHITEHOUSE, STROUT, SAVAGE,
PoweRrs, SPEAR, JJ.

SPEAR, J. This is an appeal from the decree of the Judge of
Probate of Cumberland County approving and allowing the last will
and testament and codicils thereto, of Solomon H. Chandler.

The cause is ““ reported to the Law Court for final determination
and decision of all questions of law and fact, upon the foregoing
testimony, being the evidence adduced at the hearing before the
Judge of Probate, and certain additional evidence introduced before
this court, by deposition and oral testimony, or so much thereof as
may be deemed legally admissible.”

On the tenth day of March, 1896, Mr. Chandler executed a will
by which after providing for the payment of the usual expenditures
and appropriating a sum not exceeding $500 for the erection of a
monument, he directed the disposition of his property as follows :

“Third: I give, bequeath and devise all the rest, residue and
remainder of my estate, real, personal and mixed, wherever found
and however situated, intending to include in this provision all
property I now have and all which may hereafter be acquired by me,
“and any rights and interests in and to any property which I may
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have at the time of my death though not reduced to my possession
at that time to the American Board of Commissioners for Foreign
Missions, a corporation duly established by the laws of the Common-
wealth of Massachusetts and having an office and place of business in
Boston, in the County of Suffolk and Commonwealth of Massachusetts,
for the following uses and purposes, and for none other, that is to say
to invest and re-invest the property which said Board may acquire
under this provision, and all sums of money which may be received
by said Board of Commissioners as premiums from the sale of any of
the securities which may come to said Board of Commissioners under
this provision as well as all sums which may be received as premiums
by said Board of Commissioners by reason of the investment and
re-investment of any of the funds received by them from my estate
or the accumulation thereof in such a manner as will yield a fair
annual income, having regard more for the safety of the funds than
for the amount of the income that may be realized therefrom, and
said Board of Commissioners are to apply and use from year to year,
the income of said rest, residue and remainder and the income of
such portions of said principal sum as may remain from year to year,
together with such portion of the principal as added to sach yearly
income will make the sum of thirty thousand dollars per annum for
four years and after the expiration of said four years such income
and such portion of the remainder of said principal as added to such
income will make a sum of twenty-five thousand dollars per annum
until the full amount of the said principal sum and the income
therefrom shall have both been expended for the general purposes
‘and objects of said Board, but upon the following conditions that
none of the property which said American Board of Commissioners
for Foreign Missions shall receive from my estate under these pro-
visions and none of the income which said Board, or its successors
or assigns, may derive from such property shall ever be expended
towards the reduction of the indebtedness of said American Board, or
their successors or assigns, and that none of the aforementioned prin-
cipal or interest shall ever be used to defray any of the running
expenses of said society, but shall be wholly expended for purely
missionary purposes, It is my wish and preference that the funds
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which the said American Board of Commissioners for Foreign Mis-
sions may receive under the provisions of my will shall be conscien-
tiously expended for the advancement of the cause of Christ in those
foreign lands and mission fields where, in the judgment of said
American Board, the most good can be accomplished.”

He appoiuted Andrew C. Chandler and John H. Card as executors
of this will. :

On the 11th day of August 1896, he made a codicil by which he
appointed Lyman M. Cousius as an additional executor, making no
other change in the will.

On the 1Tth day of September 1897, Mr. Chandler made a further
will providing as in the will of 1896 for the payment of the ordinary
expenses of administration and directing the erection of a monument
and made a change in the executors appointing Lyman M. Cousins
and Henry P. Cox. The third clause in this will was identical with
the third clause in the will of 1896 above quoted except the omission
of the two words “of any,” clause three in the will of 1896 reading
“investment and reinvestment of any of the funds,” and clause three
of the will of 1897 reading “investment and reinvestment of the
funds.” It isapparent that the omission of these two words in the
connection in which they were used made no difference, whatever, in
the identity of meaning of these two clauses in the two wills. © The
fifth clause of the will of 1897 simply provided for an early settle-
ment of the estate.

On the ninth day of August, 1902, Mr. Chandler made a codicil
to the will of March tenth, 1896, which omitting formal parts pro-
vided as follows: '

] hereby ratify and confirm as and for my last Will and Testa-
ment the instrument made and executed by me March tenth A. D.
1896 and the codicil thereto dated August eleventh, A. D. 1896,
with the exception of the following provisions and changes in the -
disposal of my estate.

¢ Believing that it is right and proper for me to give to my next
of kin some portion of the estate belonging to me at time of my
decease, a large share of which was received by me from the estate
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of my deceased father, Solomon Hewitt Chandler, I make the fol-
lowing devises and bequests.

“First: To each of the sons of my deceased brother Andrew C.
Chandler, my nephews Andrew C. Chandler, Charles P. Chandler,
Fred H. Chandler, and Roland C. Chandler, all of New Gloucester,
I give, devise and bequeath one tenth part of all the estate belong-
ing to me at. time of my decease, after the payment of all sums
required under the provisions of the first and second items of my
said will. To have and to hold to them and each of them and their
heirs and assigns forever. .

“Second : I give and bequeath to Catherine C. Chandler, widow
of my deceased brother Andrew C. Chandler, if she is living at time
of my decease, one tenth part of all my said estate in remembrance
of her continual acts of kindness towards me during the many years

"I have made my home in her family.

“Third: I give and bequeath unto Sara Archer Chandler, child
of my nephew Andrew C. the sum of five hundred dollars, as a token
of my regard for her, she having received her name at my suggestion
and request. '

“Fourth: If either of the persons named in this codicil as

devisees and legatees is not living at the time of my decease I give,
devise and bequeath the share and portion of my estate which would
be received by such one if then alive to the children of the deceased
legatee, in equal shares and portions, to have and to hold to them
and their heirs and assigns forever.

“Fifth: I hereby confirm the appointment of Lyman M. Cousens
and Andrew C. Chandler as executors of my will, and this codicil
thereto, and I revoke the appointment of John H. Card as such
executor, and in his place and stead I nominate and appoint John W.
True of New Gloucester, as one of the executors thereof, and I
request and direct that no bond be required of him in that capacity
by the Judge of Probate having jurisdiction of my estate.

¢“Sixth: I hereby revoke and annul all wills by me at any time
made and executed, excepting the will first mentioned herein.”

Solomon H. Chandler died on the 31st day of December 1903.
On the 22nd day of January 1904, Andrew C. Chandler and John
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W. True, two of the executors named in the codicil of August ninth,
1902, filed a petition in the Probate Court for the county of Cumber-
land, dated Jan. eighteenth, 1904, praying for the proof and allow- .
ance of the will of 1896 and the codicil thereto, including the codicil
of August ninth, 1902, and that letters testamentary issue to Liyman
M. Cousens, Andrew C. Chandler and John W. True the executors
therein named. This petition was resisted by the American Board
of Commissioners for Foreign Missions, and, upon full hearing the
Probate Court entered a decree that the will of 1896, and the codicils
thereto, be approved .and allowed as the last will and testament and
codicils thereto of said deceased, and that letters testamentary issue to
the several persons therein named as executors. From this decree,
the American Board appealed filing fifteen reasons therefor.

At this point it is proper to add that, in the space which could
properly be given to the longest .opinion, it would be both useless
and impossible to undertake any connected analysis of the testimony
and evidence presented in this case containing, as it does, 3000
printed pages besides numerous exhibits not printed, and argued by
the appellant in a brief of 985 printed pages besides indexes, and
by the appellees in a brief covering over 600 printed pages. The
great volume of these arguments which are not only very able, but
also logical and concise, as a complete analysis of the great mass of
testimony would permit, establishes the futility of any attempt on
the part of the court to follow out the various branches of the con-
troversy, unprecedented in the mass of material involved.

We desire, however, to acknowledge our appreciation of the great
assistance the arguments have afforded us in considering the case,
not only by reason of their masterly discussion and analysis, but by
presenting complete indexes of the witnesses and cases cited, and a
thorough digest, chronologically and topically arranged, of every
material piece of testimony. While these helps have not relieved
us of the laborious task of reading the testimony, they have been
of inestimable value in enabling us to collate and compare it.

Notwithstanding the voluminous testimony and the large sum
involved, yet, in the propositions of law and fact governing its consid-
eration, this proceeding may be resolved into the ordinary will case,
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presenting only the usual questions raised in such contests, and must
be decided upon its own peculiar circumstances and facts. The
appellants filed fifteen reasons of appeal but in their brief they say,
“the issues raised by these separate reasons of appeal will all be con-
sidered in argument under the general subdivisions of testamentary
capacity, undue influence and fraud.” We adopt this classification.

Therefore the first and perhaps the most important questions for
our determination is, did Solomon H. Chandler, on the ninth day of
August 1902 possess such soundness of mind, as, in contemplation of
the law, enabled him to makea valid disposition of his estate by will ?
At this time our statute provided that “a person of sound mind and
of the age of twenty-one years may dispose of his real and personal
estate by will.”  There is no exception or qualification to this require-
ment that a person must be of sound mind to make a valid will,
The burden rests upon the proponents to affirmatively prove it. In
probating a will the sanity of the testator must be proved and is not
to be presumed. These principles are too well established in this
state to require citation, But the word sanity is used in its legal and
not its medical sense.

In Johnson v. Maine & N. B. Ins. Co., 83 Maine, 186, Mr.
Justice EMERY speaking for the court says: ¢Etymologically,
insanity signifies unsoundness. Lexically it signifies unsoundness of
mind, or derangement of the intellect. Medical science with its usual
zeal has deeply investigated the various forms, symptoms, causes,
results and manifestations of mental unsoundness, or disease, and has
discovered numerous kinds of such diseases to which it has given
appropriate technical names. Dr. Hammond (Late Surgeon General
United States Army,) for instance, classifies these kinds into seven
classes, and thirty-three sub-classes (not claiming this to be a natural
classification.) Dementia and mania are both specified in this classi-
fication. But however necessary such an analysis and classification
of mental diseases may be to the science of medicine, they are imprac-
ticable and unnecessary in legal science. In law, every mind is
sound that can reason and will intelligently, in the particular transac-
tion being considered ; and every mind is unsound or insane that can-
not so reason and will. The law investigates no further.,” This

v
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definition clearly differentiates the sound from the unsound mind, in
the legal sense. ‘

In Hall v. Perry, 87 Maine, 572, Mr. Justice WHITEHOUSE, in
delivering the opinion of the court, goes a step further and defines
those faculties of the mind whose presence are essential to verify the
existence of testamentary capacity in the testator: ¢ A ¢disposing
mind’ involves the exercise of so much mind and memory as would
enable a person to transact common and simple kinds of business
with that intelligence which belongs to the weakest class of sound
minds; and a disposing memory exists when one can recall the
general nature, condition and extent of his property and his relation
to those to whom he gives, and also to those from whom he
excludes, his bounty. He must have active memory enough to
bring to his mind the nature and particulars of the business to be
transacted and mental power enough to appreciate them and act
with sense and judgment in regard to them. He must have suffi-
cient capacity to comprehend the condition of his property, his rela-
tions to the persons who were or should have been the objects of
his bounty, and the scope and bearing of the provisions of his will.
He must have sufficient active memory to collect in his mind, with-
out prompting, the particulars or elements of the business to be
transacted, and to hold them in his mind a sufficient length of time
to perceive at least, their obvious relations to each other, and be
able to form some rational judgment in relation to them. . .

But mere intellectual feebleness must be distinguished from unsound-
ness of mind. The requirements of a “sound and disposing mind ”
does not.imply that the powers of the mind may not have been
weakened or impaired by old age or bodily disease. A person may
be incapacitated by age, and failing memory, from engaging in com-
plex and intricate business, and incapable of understanding all parts
of a contract, and yet be able to give simple directions for the
disposition of property by will.” For an exhaustive review of the
authorities upon this point, see Delafield v. Parish, 25 New York, 9.

In speaking of the testatrix in this particular case, Mr. Justice
WHaITEHOUSE further says: ¢She may have been childish, changeable,
impatient and sometimes inconsiderate; her judgment in relation to
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the value of property may not have been the most reliable, and her
mind may not have been vigorous enough to grasp all the features
of a complicated transaction; but all this may be said of multitudes
of elderly people whose competency to manage simple and ordinary
kinds of business is never questioned by their acquaintances and
friends. ¢ Weakness of memory, vacillation of purpose, credulity and -
vagueness of thought, may all consist with adequate testamentary
capacity under favorable circumstances.’” Schouler on Wills, sec-
tion 70. :

Our court have also said in Randall & Randall, Appellants, 99
Maine, 398, “If the testator possesses so much mind and memory as
enables him to transact common and simple kinds of business with
that intelligence which belongs to the weakest class of sound minds,
and can recall the general nature, condition and extent of his prop-
erty, and his relations to those to whom he gives, and also to those
from whom he excludes his bounty, it is sufficient.”

Under these legal principles arises a pure question of fact upon the
first proposition, which it is incumbent upon the proponents or appel-
lees in the first instance to prove, namely, that the testator on the
ninth day of August, not the eighth nor tenth nor any other day, was’
possessed of testamentary capacity. Under our statute, the question
of age being eliminated, the only standard as to such capacity is
whether the testator was of “sound mind,” as this phrase is used in
its fixed legal meaning. That is, had he on that day, at the time
the codicil was executed, the capacity to make a codicil not the codi-
cil, produced. If he had, the codicil in question should be sustained,
If he had not, the codicil should fail. As said in Delafield v. Parish,
25 New York, at page 97, under a statute similar in principle to
ours, ““the question in every case is, had the testator, as compos
mentis, capacity to make a will; not, had he capacity to make the
will produced. If compos mentis, he can make any will, however
complicated ; if non compos mentis, he can make no will—not the
simplest.” Likewise, Mr. Chandler, if of sound mind, in the legal
sense, could have made any codicil, and consequently the one under
consideration. ,

In assuming the burden of proof, upon this proposition, which
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requires only a preponderance of the evidence as in civil actions,
the proponents of the will and codicil of 1902 present, first, as evi- |
dence of the testamentary capacity of the testator, the .internal proof

,furmshed bv the terms of the codlul 1tself Under the will of 1896

repubhslled as under that of 1897 revoked Mr. Chandler had
bequeathed practically all of his extensive estate to the American
Board. In fact, he had not disposed of any of it by either of these
wills in favor of any of his relatives. It appears that the nucleus of
his great fortune was derived from his father, a direct ancestor of
the nephews, who were recognized in the codicil of August ninth.
By this codicil he diverted about one-half of his large fortune, sub-
stantially all of which would have been transmitted by his will to
the American Board, from it to-bhis relatives above named.

If the other evidence in the case affords satisfactory proof that, at
the time the above codicil was made, the testator was not possessed
of testamentary capacity, tlien, of course, the internal evidence from
the terms of the codicil, itself, is of no value, as it was not the tes-
tator’s will.  On the other hand, if such evidence doés not amount
to such proof, then the internal evidence is material, and may become
important. While the question of testamentary capacity under the
evidence, aliunde the internal proof, is a very close one, yet we are
inclined to the opinion that it does not preclude the proponents from
the right to have considered the internal evidence of the terms of the
codicil. This evidence is plainly in harmony with what we should
expect to be the rational and natural instinet of the testator. The
character of the codicil therefore in this case becomes significant. It
manifests a rational act. Its provisions are just, reasonable and
natural, in harmony with natural justice, and have a tendency to
prove a normal state of mind.

Gardiner on Wills, Hornbook Series 1903, page 136, speaking
of this class of evidence says: ¢“In determining the question of com-
petency, the character of the will itself is extremely significant. A
rational act, rationally done, is convincing proof that a rational being
did it. ¢ The strongest and best proof that can arise as to a lucid
interval is that which arises from the act itseli’. Indeed, sometimes
the intrinsically reasonable character of a will gives rise to a pre-
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sumption that it was executed during a lucid interval, though the
testator be chronically insane. So, if the provisions of the will are
just, reasonable and natural, they point towards a normal testator.”
In Barker et al. v. Comins et al., 110 Mass. 477, the court say:
“Where the will is unreasonable in its provisions and inconsistent
with ‘the duties of the testator with reference to his property and
family, it furnishes some ground which the jury may consider upon
the question of loss of memory, undue influence and other inca-~
pacity.””  Our court has recognized these principles in Wells, Appel-
lant, 96 Maine, 164.

The next evidence presented by the proponents to prove the testa-
tor’s testamentary capacity was that of the persons who witnessed the
execution of the codicil. At this point we shall consider only such part
of the testimony of the subscribing witnesses, as bears upon the testa-
tor’s soundness of mind. Their testimony as to undue influence and
fraud will be considered under those heads respectively. The wit-
nesses to this codicil were William K. Neal, Margaret McGlinch and
Minnie M, Morse. Mr. Neal, a well known lawyer of Portland, drew
the codicil upon the date of its execution, having had some weeks
previously a conversation with Mr. Chandler with respect to it, in
his office in Portland. Before drawing the codicil Mr. Neal called
upon Mr. Chandler in New Gloucester, and, ag he testifies, asked
him if he had thought over the matter that they talked of in Port-
land a short time ago. Mr. Chandler said he had, although Mr,
Neal did not speak of the business as pertaining to the will. Mr.
Neal then went into Mr. Chandler’s room in company with other
parties and there had some conversation with him upon general
topics, and later asked him again if he had thought over the matter
which had been talked of in Portland before, and if he had concluded
what to do, and he said he had. After more conversation, Mr. Neal
produced the will of 1896 and the codicil attached to it, arid read it
to Mr. Chandler. Mr. Neal says ¢ and after I got through reading
I remember one remark which he made as I finished the reading.
“Well, he said, I don’t think that John H. Card is much of a fellow,
do you? and I think the answer I made was, perhaps you might
have selected somebody else for executor who would be better ; and

s
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he said, will you read that again and I read it the second time.”

This remark with reference to Mr. Card and the request to have
the will read again, are in accord with the existence of memory and
understanding. The remark shows that he recalled what he, at
least, considered defects in the capacity or qualifications of Mr. Card -
for the important trust of executor. The request for the re-reading
of the will is evidence of a desire to comprehend and understand it.

Mpr. Neal then asked him-what he had concluded to do and he
answered, well it is rather natural that I should give them some-
thing, is it not, and I think it would be right, T think that was
very nearly his exact words. Then after some more conversation
Mr. Neal inquired how much he desired to give. As the character
of this testimony is very important we give Mr. Neal’s answer in
full to the following question. Q. You stated that you went to
his desk and made a memorandum. A. No, I went to the desk
and got a piece of paper and made a memorandum, and I said’ then,
how much, and he said he hadn’t quite made up his mind how
much ; and that matter was—then I think I said this, as I recall
it,—will you make it a specific sum or make it some per cent of
the amount which you leave. And he sat and thought the ‘matter
over apparently, and he said he thought about ten per cent for
each one; and I made the memorandum giving the names of the
four nephews, and 1 think Mr. True gave me their full names, and
I carried out against the name one-tenth; and then as I recall it
Mr. True asked something in regard to whether he wanted Mrs.
Chandler to have any part of the estate; and then the matter of his
having lived in the family for so many years was spoken of; and
he said, yes, I will give her the same as the rest; and then I think
the next thing, as I recall it now, was, I said, in case any of these
parties should die before you do, Mr. Chandler, what disposition do
you want made of these legacies?

Q. That was your suggestion to him? A. That was my ques-
tion; and do you want it to go back into the estate, or what should
be done with it; and he said, give it to"the children.

During this interview the will and codicil of 1896 were twice read
to Mr. Chandler by Mr. Neal and from the testimony of Mr. Neal it



Me.] CHANDLER WILL CASE. 93

would seem that he understood them; at least nothing appears in the
interview, with respect to Mr. Chandler’s disposition to make a
change in his will, to indicate the contrary. Mr. Neal drew up the
codicil of August ninth at Mr True’s house at noon. He had no
conversation with Mr. True as to the -provisions of the codicil nor
with Andrew Chandler nor Charles P. Chandler. He returned to
Mr. Chandler’s room in the afternoon with the codicil prepared.
What was then done will be shown by the following question to Mr.
Neal and his answer: ,

Q. Now, if you will state the conversation which took place
between you and Mr. Chandler when you returned with this paper?

A.  After we sat down, I produced this paper and read it aloud,
and Mr. Chandler was sitting facing me near his desk ; and when I
had finished it he said, well, that is just right, that is just as we
talked this morning ; and I said, I tried to make it that way, and I
folded it up and handed it to Mr. Chandler, and I said, you want to
keep that and think it over, and the first time you come down to
Portland drop in and if it is all right we will fix it up; and his
answer to that was, it is all right and why pot fix it today. And I
said, if you prefer to do that of course I can do it now just as well
as then. :

Mr. Neal also said in response to a question that Solomon H.
Chandler on the ninth day of August 1902 was in his opinion in the
possession of mental capacity sufficient to transact business and with
an intelligent understanding of what he was doing; and also that he
had had an acquaintance with the testator more than twenty-five
years. '

We have quoted thus fully from the testimony of Mr. Neal as his
evidence constitutes the citadel of assault against which the appel-
lants hurl the force of their attack. From all the admissible testi-
mony of Mr. Neal, fairly considered, his evidence adequately proves
a legally sound and disposing mind in the testator on the ninth day
of August 1902.  That he might have had days, immediately pre-
ceding or soon following this date, when his mind was not sufficiently
clear, to enable him to comprehend all the relations which the law
requires he should understand, in order to make a valid will, may be
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true. But the testimony of Mr. Neal if true proves that the mind
of Mr. Chandler on this day, although slow and unquestionably
impaired from age, and possibly by the insipient stages of disease,
was nevertheless working with an intelligent and comprehensive
understanding as to the subject matter under consideration. The
evidence clearly shows that Mr. Chandler was a silent, deliberate,
reticent man with respect to all his business affairs. He did not
discuss them in the family nor with the neighbors. He had said
nothing about his intended change in his will, but the evidence shows
that when Mr. Neal called upon him, weeks after this matter had
been discussed in his office in Portland, Mr. Chandler had been
thinking about it. Without restraint or influence of any kind when
approached a few weeks later upon the subject, he at once compre-
hended what had been said before in the office and had come to his
own conclusion, absolutely free from any suggestion in the mean-
time, to distribute a portion of his estate among his next of kin.
Now this silent deliberation of two or three weeks and the determi-
nation to which he at once had come, when asked with respect to it,
to divert a part of his estate to his relatives, was in complete har-
mony with the characteristics of Mr. Chandler and the manuer in
which we should expect him to act, if in a normal condition of mind.

The conclusion to which Mr. Chandler came, after deliberating
upon the matter from the time of the interview in Portland until the
ninth day of August, in response to the question as to what he had
made up his mind to do, was so aptly, tersely and naturally expressed,
as to show a clear comprehension of the relation of those, whom he
was about to make the objects of his bounty: ¢« Well, it is rather
natural that I should give them something, is it not, and I think it
would be right”” It was natural and it was right. What more
could be said? What more would one expect Solomon H. Chandler,
in view of his characteristics as disclosed by the testimony, to say ?
What expression could better describe the apparent duty of the testa-
tor? Fairly analyzed, this declaration of his seems to have com-
prehended the whole situation embraced in the transaction of August
ninth. The testator and his brother, the father of the nephews, had
accumulated and owned their property jointly, until the death of the
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brother Andrew in April 1894. A portion of the joint property
came to Andrew and Solomon Chandler by inheritance from their
father, the grandfather of the nephews, who were made legatees
under Solomon’s codicil. Madam Chandler, his sister-in-law, another
legatee, was the widow of his deceased brother, Andrew. For him
she had made a pleasant home the greater part of his life, until ill
health had compelled her to surrender the further discharge of the
duty which she, for so many years, had cheerfully performed. When
this necessity required a change of domicil for Mr. Chandler, he did
not seek the company of strangers but made his new abode in the
home of his nephew, Andrew, a member of the Chandler family with
which he had been closely identified from boyhood. He entertained
pleasant relations with all of his nephews and had said in bis interview
in Portland that they were reliable, likely men. He himself had
become old, decrepit and broken. His body was weak and his mind
was failing. He was undoubtedly aware of his condition. From
the activities of a shrewd business life, with his thoughts and ener-
gies engrossed in the details of managing a large and growing prop-
erty, he had, in obedience to the mandate of old age, become relieved
of these exacting duties; and his mind, though impaired, had an
opportunity to meditate upon other matters than the accumulation
and management of wealth. It is an instinet of old age, when ambi-
tion has laid aside the cares of life, to revert to the days of one’s
youth, to call up the memories of the past, to reflect upon family
relations and to ponder upon the duties which these new thoughts
awaken. When Solomon Chandler’s attention was called to the fact
that he had entirely overlooked all of his next of kin in the distribu-
tion of his large estate, we feel convinced that, true to this instinet,
he also reflected upon the manner in which the basis of his fortune
had come to him ; the relations of his brother, his nephews and his
sister-in-law, and gave expression to that reflection in the phraseology
already quoted, ¢“ Well, it is rather natural that I should give them
something, is it not, and I think it would be right.”

From all the facts and circumstances surrounding the life of
Solomon H. Chandler and this codicil of August ninth, we think
the reasons which he gives for his action, is ample proof of his
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understanding and comprehension of his act and, in the legal sense,
of his soundness of mind.

The next witness to the codicil in question was Miss Minnie M.
Morse. She was, on August ninth, acting in the capacity of a nurse
for Madam Chandler who was at the time ill, and was called from
Madam Chandler’s room into that of Solomon’s with the express pur-
pose of becoming a witness to the codicil. The effect of her testi-
mony is that, in her judgment, Mr. Chandler knew what he was
doing when he signed the codicil. She said that Mr. Neal asked him
¥ he understood fully the codicil, and if it was done in accordance
with his dictation and as he wanted it, and Mr. Chandler said he did.
The last witness was Miss Margaret McGlineh who had long been a
servant in Madam Chandler’s family. The effect of her testimony is
that from 1900 down to August ninth, 1902, she observed that
Solomon was growing.older and weaker physically but she did not
observe any peculiarities of mind nor incoherence of thought but that
he was forgetful. She did not recall any others. These witnesses
substantially corroborated the testimony of Mr. Neal as to the mental
condition of Mr. Chandler on the ninth day of August, 1902. We
do not deem it necessary to further refer to their testimony at the
present time as we are now discussing only the evidence offered in
proof of the execution of the codicil, and the testamentary capacity
of the testator.

The only other witnesses present at the interview and at the
execution of the codicil, were John W. True and Andrew Chandler,
Mr. True corroborates the testimony of Mr. Neal as to what was
said and done upon these occasions, and, while Mr. Chandler does
not remember all the conversation as testified to by Mr. Neal and
Mr. True, he does not deny that it occurred substantially as they
have related it. His testimony clearly demonstrates that he must
‘necessarily either have not heard or forgotten parts of the conversa-
tion which took place at the execution of the will. He does, how-
ever, recollect some of the conversation and particularly that, in case
any of the legatees or nephews died, their share would go to their
children. He also says that the testator talked intelligently and
that he appeared to understand what he was talking about. Andrew
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Chandler was his attendant and, from his relation to him, necessarily
had a very intimate knowledge of the workings of his mind from
day to day, and from time to time. He was, perhaps, better able to
determine than almost any other person, whether at the execution of
this codicil, he talked intelligently and comprehended what he was
doing. While his testimony comprises nearly two thousand ques-
. tions, yet, the vital part of it, with respect to the testamentary
capacity of Solomon H. Chandler on August ninth, is included within
the few sentences in which he says, on that day, he talked intelli-
gently and appeared to understand. Andrew Chandler says that
Solomon’s mind was mixed at times, upon some matters and clear
upon others; that he was more confused on some days than others,
but that these confused spells passed away.

Whatever his condition of mind before or after the ninth day of
August, its only bearing upon the issue here involved is its tendency
to prove or disprove the mental capacity of Mr. Chandler on that
date.  'Whether he was upon any particular day before August
ninth, or upon any particular day thereafter, mentally incapable of
making a will, is not the question. Was he capable  on that day?
Andrew Chandler’s testimony indicates that he was.

Mr. True’s testimony upon two propositions of fact which occurred
on August ninth, connected with the preparation and execution of the
codicil in question, is positive and very important. It distinctly
shows the clearness of Mr. Chandler’s mind upon the matter of the
codicil. The testimony is so decisive that we deem a few ques-
tions and answers worthy of quotation. With respect to the
amount he desired to give to each of his nephews, Mr. True a witness
for the contestants, in answer to his own counsel, testified as follows:
Q. I will ask you just once more; this is an important point, 1
want you to try and recollect, was Mr. Neal’s remark that it would
be proper for him to divide ten per cent among them, or something
less? A. You could either give a lump sum or make it a percent-
age five or ten per cent or more or less. Q. That is all he said?
A. That is all he said. Q. Now Mr. Hewitt Chandler replied
to that what? A. T guess ten per cent will be about right.
Q. What further wassaid? A. Mr. Neal said, ten per cent to each ?
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and he said, yes, to each one. Q. Now Mr. True are you positive
that the next question asked by Mr. Neal was whether Mr. Hewitt
meant ten per cent to each nephew or ten per cent toall of them?
A. Yes sir. Q. He said ten per cent to each? A. Yes sir.
Q. And what did Hewitt answer to that? A. He said yes, ten
per cent to each, repeated. Q. Did he use the word yes, or look at
Mr. Neal as you are looking at me, did he merely nod his head ?
Now I want your best recollection sir. A. My best recollection is
that he said yes, repeated the ten per cent to each. Q. Said yes,
ten per cent to each? A. Yes sir, that is my best recollection.
Q. You don’t think there was any nodding of the head at all?
A. No sir, not in that case. Q. But spoken words? A. Yes
sir. Q. Yes, ten per cent to each. A. Yes sir.

The next important point is the testimony of this same witness
with reference to the time of signing the codicil. After Mr. Neal
had read the codicil to Mr. Chandler, he laid it upon the roll top
desk and said he could look it over and if it was satisfactory,
or if it was all right, he could sign it at some later time, To this
suggestion, Mr. Chandler answered, ¢ That is all right and why not
fix it today,” or ¢ why not fix it now?” These two propositions of
fact are as well established as human testimony can do. The decla-
ration of the testator as to the amount he desired to give was made
in the forenoon, and that stating that the codicil was all right and
why not sign it now, in the afternoon, the two covering the whole
period from the taking of the minutes for the preparation of the
codicil to the time of its execution. If there is anything in the
conduct or conversation of Mr. Chandler, during this period, that
indicates an unsound mind in the legal sense, we fail to discover it.
On the other hand, both of -these transactions indicate a lucid mind
as to the business being transacted, and a comprehension and under-
standing of what he himself was doing. He seems to have said all
that was necessary upon both points, and to have said it clearly.

His statement, we again repeat, that the codicil was as they had
talked in the morning and that it was all right and why not sign
it now, not only evidenced the exercise of the functions of memory
as to what had occurred, but a comprehension of the import of the
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morning conversation; that it was for the purpose of making a
change in his will and that, to be effective, it must be signed. In
other words, when this codicil was read to him, by the operation of
the law of association, that mysterious power of the intellect that
produces a “consecution of mental states,”” his mind ran back over
the ground of the previous interview, remembered the talk in the
morning, comprehended the object of it, and understood that the
codicil embraced it.

There is another fact brought out in the testimony of Andrew
Chandler which we deem conclusive as showing not only the exer-
cise of memory but of original thought. Either upon the afternoon
of the execution of the codicil, or the next day, he said of hisown
volition < we” or I have left Margaret out.” Margaret had long
been a faithful servant in the family of the brother and sister-in-law,
with whom he had spent the most of his life. But especially in his
later days, when the feebleness of old age and mental decline were
creeping upon him, and greater care was necessary to his comfort,
undoubtedly the fidelity of Margaret, who had administered to him
at this time so well, had impressed itself upon his appreciation, and
what more natural or rational than he should think of her in the
distribution of his favors. And more important than all is the
necessary inference from an analysis of the mental operation which
produced the thought of Margaret.  To discover this, we have
but to recall the expression, “ 1 have left Margaret out.”” Out of
what 2 Out of the codicil. His mind must necessarily have con-
ceived something from which she was left out. What was he think-
ing of when he gave utterance to this expression? 'There can be but
one rational answer. He recalled that he had modified or changed
his will; that he had made his nephews and his sister-in-law bene-
ficiaries under the change ; that he had given his grand niece $500;
he recalled some or all of these things first, and then came the
reflection that he had omitted this faithful servant, had ¢ left
Margaret out.”

It can be said of this incident as was said in Wells, Appellant,
96 Maine, 164, “It frequently happens that the most satisfactory
evidence of a person’s real state of mind is to be gathered from the

»
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mind’s own action as shown by his conversation, claims, declarations
and acts. DProven facts of this class carry greater weight than the
opinion of witnesses.” His evident anxiety and repeated inquiries
after Madam Chandler’s health, upon this day, are also significant,
and show both the existence of memory and the emotion of solici-
tude.

We have now substantially reviewed the evidence of all the wit-
nesses who had the opportunity of any personal knowledge, worth
noting, with respect to the mental condition of Mr. Chandler on the
ninth day of August 1902. Under the legal principles established
by our court and embodied in the first part of this opinion, we are
unable to say, upon the testimony reviewed, that Mr. Chandler was
not of sound mind on the ninth day of August 1902. On the other
hand, we think this evidence quite conclusively shows that he was of
disposing mind on that day. We think an examination of the report
will show the fact that no witness called, either by the proponents or
contestants, has testified to a single act or word on the part of the
testator on the ninth day' of August which is not entirely consistent
with the existence of testamentary capacity.

But it should be remarked that we have thus far confined our-
selves to the testimony relating to this single day. Now arises the
question whether the other testimony, volumes of which have been
taken with respect to his mental condition before and after this date,
fairly warrants the inference that, in view of his condition before and
after, he must, at this time, necessarily have been of unsound mind.
The appellants take the affirmative of this proposition and confi-
dently assert that the evidence sustains it. The proponents of the
will and codicils must sustain the burden of proof of the testator’s
mental capacity, not only upon the evidence of August ninth, but
upon all the evidence in the case, and if, upon all the evidence they
have failed, then the appeal must be sustained.

The report of the evidence requires the court to determine this
case upon so much of the testimony reported as is legally admissible.
We feel at this time constrained to say that this restriction eliminates
at least quite a part of the testimony upon which the contestants
rely to overthrow the contention of the testator’s responsibility wheun
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he executed the codicil. The admissible and the inadmissible are so
interlaced that it would be almost an endless task to separate the
wheat from the chaffl. We have endeavored, however, in our inves-
tigation to give a liberal interpretation to the rule of admissibility.

We shall be able to discuss the volume of testimony bearing upon
the different phases of this case only by grouping it under certain
heads and referring to it in that form. The first proposition which
the appellants assert in derogation of Mr. Chandler’s mental capacity
is the contention that he was, at the time of executing the codicil,
under legal guardianship and consequently incapable of making a
will, unless the restoration of his sanity be proved beyond a reason-
able doubt. But such it not the law. It is a well established rule
in this state, and we think in most others, that while confinement in
an insane asylum, or the disability of guardianship, is made prima
facie evidence of some mental incapacity, it is a rebuttable presump-
tion of fact and may be overthrown by a preponderance of the evi-
dence. Of course it is evident that a greater or less amount of
evidence may be required to overcome this presumption, depending
upon the nature and extent of the incapacity of the person under
guardianship, and varying with the circumstances of the case. As
was said in May v. Bradlee, 127 Mass. 414, a case where the tes-
‘tator at the time of making his will had been under guardianship
as non compos for twently-six years, ¢“the testator was under guardian-
ship and that implies some degree or form of mental unsoundness.
The issue at the trial was whether that unsoundness amounted to
testamentary incapacity.”

As we interpret the law the incapacity of guardianship is simply
a fact which may be proven like any other fact tending to establish
mental incapacity, but it does not work an estoppel upon the propo-
nents. The law recognizes that a person may require a guardian by
reason of -incapacity in one particular, while, in other respects, he
may be entirely competent. It is well settled that a man may be of
unsound mind in one respect and not in all respects; that there may
be partial insanity of the testator, some unsoundness of mind, that
does not in any way relate to his property or disposition of the same
by will. Chapter 69, R. S., recognizes this principle and provides
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in part; “ When a person over twenty-one years of age is under
guardianship, he is incapable of disposing of his property otherwise
than by his last will.”” Therefore any presumption of testamentary
incapacity arising from a decree of unsound mind, may be overcome
by testimony as to the facts and circumstances connected with the
execution of the instrument, as was held in Halley v. Webster, 21
Maine, 461, in the instructions to the jury, “that if they were satis-

fied that previous to the execution of the will the deceased was of-

unsound mind and memory, the burden of proof would be upon the
proponent to prove that at the time of executing it he was of sound
mind and memory, and also, that the lowest share of mind and
memory, which would enable a person to transact the ordinary busi-
ness of life with common intelligence, would be sufficient to answer
the requirements of the law that he should be of sound and disposing
mind and memory.”

Under our statute and the decisions of our own court, the only
burden upon the proponents of a will to overcome the disability
imposed by guardianship, is to prove by a preponderance of the evi-
dence that the testator at the time of executing the will was of sound
mind, in the legal sense. As before intimated, if the guardianship
was imposed on account of the impairment of some particular func-
tion of the brain which did not materially interfere with the judg-
ment, comprehension and memory, it lilight require scarcely any evi-
dence at all to remove the effect of it. On the other hand, if it was
imposed on account of long standing and chronic insanity involving
the destruction of all these faculties, no amount of evidence could
overcome it.

Of the impairment of the mind between these two extremes, the
amount of evidence required to overcome the disability, would
depend upon the facts and circumstances of each particular case; so
that when we reach the final determination as to mental capacity or
incapacity, whether the person is in an insane asylum, under
guardianship, or under no legal disability, we revert to the simple
proposition of law whether, under all the circumstances in the par-
ticular case under consideration, the testator was of sound and dis-
posing mind. The proof must be sufficient to overcome all disabili-

I
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ties, however originating and however imposed. When the propo-
nents have sustained the burden of proof upon this proposition, it mat-
ters not how the obstacles to be overcome were created.

Upon this contention, the contestants must fail, as the -evidence
relating to the mental condition of Mr. Chandler on the ninth day of
August, 1902, and which has led us to conclude upon this particular
evidence that he was on that day of disposing mind, has in no way
been impuired by the mere fact, that several months earlier the
testator was placed under legal guardianship. We come to this con-
clusion, regardless of the claim of those immediately interested in
procuring guardianship that it was on account of Mr. Chandler’s
physical condition, upon the assumption that the decree of guardian-
ship is a legal judgment and conclusive upon the facts therein
recited.

The two next groups of evidence, that of the neighbors and
friends of Mr. Chandler,and of the medical experts, will be considered
upon the same proposition, namely; do they show that the mind
of Mr. Chandler, before and after August ninth, had approached
such a state of decay that, notwithstanding the evidence of those
who observed him personally and witnessed, with their own eyes, his
appearance, manner and conduct at the execution of the codicil, the
inference must be drawn that he was upon that day of unsound
mind, in the legal sense, notwithstanding his apparent mental
capacity.

First, we will consider the testimony of the neighbors and friends.
Of these there are upwards of one hundred and twenty. We shall allude
principally to the character of their testimony without attempting to
discuss it in detail. It is evident from the record that the death of
Mr. Chandler, the disposal of a portion of his property by the execution
of a codicil, at a time when it was generally known that he had
become enfeebled by age and disease, and a contest over the validity
of this codicil involving nearly half a million of money, had excited
a keen interest and a divided sentiment among the people of the
quiet village of New Gloucester and vicinity. As is true in the
development of all such controversies, all these people arrayed them-
selves in support of one side or the other of the contention. Kvery-
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thing that Mr. Chandler said or did in the presence of any of these
witnesses was recalled and undoubtedly discussed and so applied to
his mental and physical condition as to support the particular bias
of the witness presenting it. While witnesses are thus arrayed
against each other, their convictions strengthening with the growth
and heat of the discussion, although they may be honest in their
purpose, they cannot, while human nature remains unchanged, over-
come the tendency to distort, magnify or minimize the incidents
which they relate as their interest persuades. That Mr. Chandler’s
mind was in a precarious condition on August ninth, nobody dis-
putes. That he was forgetful and at times dazed, and at all
times for several months prior thereto, partially incapacitated,
nobody denies. DBut there was a line some where between the
beginning and the end of the malady which finally carried him off,
where he passed from the possession of a sound to that of an unsound
mind, as this term is defined in law. The question is whether, in
the progress of that disease, he had passed that line on the ninth
day of August. None of these neighbors and friends pretend to
have any personal knowledge of his mental condition on that partic-
ular day. Does their testimony, when massed upon the single point
of testamentary capacity, as to his mental condition before and after,
establish the conclusion that upon that day, he was incapable of
making a will? The effect of this testimony as a whole is that,
physically, Mr. Chandler for nearly a year after this date was able
to be about; to attend his meals with the family at the table; to
go into Portland from time to time with Andrew who attended him;
to walk about the village alone and go to the post office ; to attend
church and Sunday school; that he lived and was about, gradually
declining, for more than a year, and that he died December 31,
1903, more than sixteen months later. This class of testimony as to
his mental condition, covering the year 1902 and 1908, has a tendency
to show that prior and up to August ninth, his mind was somewhat
impaired ; that he was growing forgetful ; that their were times when
his ideas were confused and his mind dazed ; that when he was tired
these spells came upon him, and when he became rested, they passed
away ; that these confused spells were manifested by various acts
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and statements; that at other times his conversation was coherent
and intelligible; his acts rational; his appearance normal; that the
normal was his general condition up to August ninth, and the con-
fused and dazed, the exception. That, during all this period up to
and beyond August ninth, he did not have lucid intervals for a
longer or shorter period, does not appear from a single witness.
That he did have such an interval on August ninth, without a
single incident occurring upon that date to contradict it, affirmatively
appears from the testimony which we have already reviewed. We
are therefore still unable to say that the proof of his condition as dis-
covered by the testimony of his neighbors and friends, prior and sub-
sequent to August ninth, necessarily shows such a mental condition
on that date as to outweigh the evidence already considered in proof
of his legal sanity.

The next class of evidence to which our attention is called is that
of the medical experts. The testimony of the seven witnesses who
testified under this head contains more than six hundred pages of the
report. Ifour eminent alienists testify, upon the one side, upon long
hypothetical questions purporting to contain facts and incidents, in
the life of Mr. Chandler pertinent to the issue, that, on the ninth day
of August, he was of unsound mind. Three, equally eminent, are
called upon the other side, who, upon hypothetical questions purport-
ing to contain similar facts and incidents, as unhesitatingly testify that
on the same day, he was of sound and disposing mind. The facts and
incidents contained in the hypothetical questions put by the “propo-
‘nents are objected to on the part of the contestants, on the ground of
the omission of facts which should be considered and of containing
statements which should be omitted. To the hypothetical questions
put by the contestants, the proponents interpose a similar objection.
To distinguish the admissible from the inadmissible, for the purpose
of determining whether the objections upon either side are well
founded, would be practically impossible.  We shall therefore not
attempt to review the hypothetical questions, nor to excuse the opinion
expressed by any of the eminent alienists as being based upon any.
alleged over-statement or under-statement of facts therein contained.
We do not entertain the slightest suspicion, if the hypothetical ques-
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tions put by the contestants had been so changed as to be absolutely
satisfactory to the proponents, and the same had been done with
respect to the questions put by the proponents, that any one of the
eminent specialists would have changed his testimony, or the reasons
therefor, in the slightest degree. Their testimony upon the one
side and the other clearly demonstrates that they were inclined to
testify in favor of the side which called them. In considering their
testimony we have endeavored to apply the test of consistency and
reasonableness, always having reference to the other testimony in the
case which their opinions may tend to corroborate or contradict.

Judged by this criterion we find an inherent weakness in the very
foundation upon which their conclusions rest. First, we discover
that the experts called by the contestants have made no proper dis-
tinction in giving their opinion nor could they do so under the law,
between medical and legal sanity. We may say here, that this crit-
icism does not apply to the three experts who testified that the testa-
tor, in their opinion, was of sound mind on August ninth, because a
medically sound mind must necessarily include a legally sound mind.
On the other hand the opinion of the four witnesses, whose testimony
does not differentiate between a medically sound mind and a legally
sound mind, is entitled to weight, only when the other evidence shows
that it applies to legal unsoundness; because a mind legally sound
may be medically unsound. It may require additional and different
evidence- to prove legal unsoundness. That is to say, medical
unsoundness may intervene in the diagnosis of a case before legal
unsoundness appears at all ; therefore these medical experts may be
correct in their opinions as to medical unsoundness without having
expressed any opinion at all as to legal unsoundness. Unless then,
it is shown from some source, that these opinions apply to legal
unsoundness they are of but little value. And three of them
expressly declare that their opinions relate only to medical unsound-
ness.

Again the error underlying the basis of Dr. Bancroft’s opinion,
the only expert called by the contestants, who says he founded his
opinion upon the evidence instead of the assumptions, is illustrated
by quoting a few questions and answers of his cross examination.
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Q. You have undertaken to give your opinion based upon all the
evidence in the case, have you? A. Yes sir. Q. Where there
is a conflict of evidence, how have you reconciled it, to whom have
you given the benefit of a doubt? A. T have carefully weighed the
evidence and have placed it where I thought it belonged. Q. You
have undertaken to pass on all the evidence, have you not and
given an opinion? A. Thave. Q. You have assumed the prov-
ince, have you, of the court and jury in giving your opinion upon
all the evidence in the case? No sir. Q. You have undertaken
to give your opinion, haven’t you, upon all the evidence in this case ?
A. I have not undertaken to assume the province of any court or
any jury. Q. Have you undertaken to give your opinion and
to find the fact that he was of unsound mind on this evidence?
A. T have undertaken toweigh all the evidence from a medical point
of wiew and pronounce an opinion. Q. And you have undertaken
a sort of judicial medical position in doing it, have you, or under-
taken to? A. I have undertaken to answer in a medical opinion.
For two reasons the opinion of this witness is entitled to very little
weight.  One is, that he gave his own interpretation to more than
two thousand pages of testimony, then based his opinion upon his
own interpretation. Now, we have already said as clearly appears
from the record that a large part of the testimony was inadmissible.
This medical expert says that he ¢ carefully weighed the evidence.”
What evidence? Is it to be presumed for o moment that he elimi-

*nated the inadmissible from the admissible? There is no pretence

that he did or could. Suppose he based his opinion upon the testi-
mony of Charles P. Haskell ; what part of it did he adopt; the
hearsay, the opinion, or the facts? We are unable to say, and there-
fore it would appear that no further comment is necessary to show
the unsatisfactory character of an opinion thus given. The second
is, he gave only a medical opinion. e does not pretend to have
differentiated between medical and legal unsoundness, 'Whether this
opinion covers legal unsoundness can be ascertained only by refer-
ence to the other testimony.

All the experts concede that Mr. Chandler died Deec. 31, 1903,
from senile dementia; that he had become a senile dement sometime
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prior to this date, all agree, and whether this disease had fixed itself
upon him on the ninth day of August to such a degreeas to incapac-
itate him mentally, is where the doctors disagree.

Again upon this point the experts for the contestants have gone so
far in their effort to make the testator a senile dement on that day, as
to render their testimony of substantially no value. I.et us subject
a vital part of it to the test and see if, in the light of their own
statements, it meets the standard of consistency and reason. Dr.
Channing on page 358 admits that he testified as an expert in the
case of McCoy v. Jordan at Dedham in 1902, and described normal
old age as distinguished from senile dementia, as follows: Q. I
will read the question to you. ¢ Assuming that the arteries as you
felt them at the wrist, or at the temples, or in the neck, or wherever
you can feel them, especially in the arteries at the wrist, show a
degree of hardness that comes from what we call an atheromatous
deposit, a sclerosis, a hardening of the arteries caused by a deposit,
an atheromatous deposit,and that in a measure cuts off the supply of
the blood to the brain, the brain shrinks and loses its power in pro-
portion as that condition of the arteries in the body and generally in
the brain exist, that the brain does not get the nutriment necessary
for its growth and development to keep it in good order, and it
becomes shrunken and weakened, and that weakening is shown by
loss of memory, by enfeebleness of the memory, by hesitation in
speech, by a disposition to dwell upon things in the past and forget
things in the future; I will ask you whether or not those things are
characteristic of senile dementia as distinguished from normal old
age.” I will read the answer: ¢ I should say not. That is the
rulein old age. You do get those things sooner or later in the
arteries.”  Whether or not you recognize that question and that
answer? A. T do vaguely, yes.

This was a case in which the question of senile dementia was
involved and this same expert says in answer to the question, Q. I
ask you whether or not you stated yesterday that on August ninth
the disease of senile dementia was well advanced in the hypothetical
man? A. Yes, I think it was, Q. Did you hear the testimony
of Dr. Cowles? A. I did. Q. Did you hear him state that
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there was a grave condition of dementia in 1902, and on August
ninth a strong and pronounced type? A. As I remember it, I did.
The hypothetical man was the testator. On page 361 of the report
is found a definition by this same expert upon the same trial, of a
senile dement, the important part of which is as follows: “Senile
dementia is a diseased condition as contradistinguished from a condi-
tion that is to be regarded as a normal ome. It is a form of
insanity ; form of mental disease. The individual who has this form
of disease has little or no memory. If there is any memory at all
remaining, it is for nothing of importance; simply an automatic
mental operation.  He has no memory for persons or places or names,
or, as a rule, even for his own name. He practically remembers
nothing of a recent period, and, as a rule, nothing of a remote period.
In case of normal old age he geherally has a relative one, but in
senile dementia there is an absolute change. In normal old age a
man, to a greater or less degree, can put his mind upon matters that
seem important to him. He is able to give his attention more or
less continuously to matters of interest; but a man with senile
dementia is not capable of doing that; it is a man practically with-
out a mind, without the use of his mental faculties ; reduced to more
or less of an automaton, and living the simplest kind of a life on
a more or less animal scale; and he not only shows these marked
mental changes but also a good deal of physical disturbance.”

It will be here noted that these experts declare that on the ninth
day of August, the testator presented a strong and pronounced type
of senile dementia. That is, on that day, Mr. Chandler was a man,
according to the definition just given, practically without a mind;
without the use of his mental faculties; reduced to more or less of
an automaton; and living on a more or less animal scale. Now the
evidence from all the witnesses upon both sides, who knew and saw
Mr. Chandler up to August ninth, flatly and effectually contradict
the above conclusion of the medical experts as to his actual condition
on that day. We need only refer to the testimony already alluded
to, to establish this assertion. The hypothetical man who, these
experts say, was an automaton and reduced to a condition little better
than an animal, was not the Mr. Chandler who was present on the
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ninth day of August at the making of his codicil ; who designated
the amount which should be given to his legatees; who inquired
after the health of Madam Chandler and who exhibited no incident
of mental unsoundness to any of the witnesses who observed him
upon that occasion. It seems to us that a fair interpretation of the
evidence, as a whole, rather places Mr. Chandler, on the ninth day
of August, in the classification of men who have reached a normal
old age, as defined by the witness, or was crossing over that unknown
border that marks the fatal passage from normal old age to senile
dementia.  This single contradiction of the expert opinions illus-
trates not only how dangerous, but how unfortunate, that men of
great knowledge, experience and skill, should array themselves upon
different sides of the same proposition, which can have but one solu-
tion in truth, and come to absolutely coutrary conclusions. It is
evident that such testimony is not only worthless but insidious and
dangerous, for it is impossible for a layman, in the analysis of such
testimony, to distinguish the true from the untrue. If the untrue is
acted upon injustice must follow.

Another fundamental weakness in the testimony of the experts
for the contestants is that their testimony does not apply to the con-
dition of the actual Mr. Chandler but to a hypothetical man who, we
conceive, is supposed to represent Mr. Chandler in the hypothetical
questions.  Dr. Channing is asked if, assuming that the hypothetical
question or questions did not include all the substantial facts proved at
the trial, his answer would be more or less modified on that account.
He says in answer, “I should say that a sufficiently strong case was
made out in the hypothetical questions which would not be materially
changed.” Then further along he is asked, “suppose the evidence
shows a different state of facts, whether or not your opinion would
be partial?”  A. That would be a different condition of affairs and
of course I would have to weigh whatever there was. That would
be an entirely new proposition and I should have to take it up anew.
I have given a definite opinion on the Aypothetical question,— the
facts in that question. Then further along he is again asked, “So
you are not speaking of the mental condition of the man whose mind .
is being investigated, are you, in this hypothetical question?” A. I
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am speaking of @ man in « hypothetical question when I am speaking
of that subject. Then again when asked whether or not in the
hypothetical question, he was speaking of the man whose mind was
being investigated in this proceeding, he answered no.

Dr. Jelly says that although he read the evidence and depositions
and heard the testimony for several days, yet, as his opinion depended
upon the truth of the hypothetical questions, he could have given
his opinion ¢ just exactly as well by reading the hypothetical ques-
tion as by hearing the evidence.” That is to say, if the hypothetical
questions assumed statements of facts not existing, or omitted those that
did exist, in the language of one of the eminent specialists, that would
present ““an entirely new proposition and I should have to take it
up anew.” In fact he admits that if the hypothetical questions were
wrong his opinion was wrong. That the questions were wrong can
be demonstrated from the following testimony. Dr. Cowles was
asked this question: ¢ Assuming that Howard Gould, who had
known Mr. Chandler for many years, met him in the latter part of
the summer 1902, probably in August, at the Falmouth Hotel in
Portland, and had a conversation with him, Mr. Chandler inquiring
about Mr. Gould’s wife, whom he knew and had known for years,
calling her by name, and inquired for her sister, calling her by
name, inquiring for Mr. Gould’s son; and that there was nothing
peculiar about him at that time, no incoherence in his talk nor
change in his intelligence from former years; did you consider that
assumption of fact in your hypothetical question?” A. There was
no assumption of that nature that I remember in the question. Q.
That was eliminated entirely from the hypothetical question, was it
not? A. I didu’t hear it in the question. Yet Howard Gould did
testify as to the conversation with Mr. Chandler in the Falmouth
Hotel, as follows: “I met him, I think, in the corridor of the hotel,
- and he inquired for my wife, and called her by her name, Sarah,
and wanted to know how Sarah was, and if she was well and if
she was enjoying good health. He said he hadn’t seen her for a
long time, and he inquired for her sister, Martha Stowell, and
wanted to know how she was, and where she was living at the pres-
ent time, if she was with me; and then he inquired for my son
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Arthur.”  He further said that he did not observe anything peculiar
about him at that time nor any incoherence in his talk nor notice
any change in his intelligence different from former years. Dr.
Cowles admits that if this testimony was true it showed both
memory aud intelligence ; still he did not consider it.

These questions and answers present but one of the numerous
instances of a similar nature to be found in the evidence calculated to
show the one sided character of the medical testimony. In other
words, these experts are testifying to the mental condition of an
assumed man, whom they, themselves, had helped to create, by aid-
ing in formulating the hypothetical questions, with the avowed pur-
pose of declaring him a dement. That the hypothetical- questions
upon both sides are erroneous in the rehearsal of facts is manbifest
from a casual reading. The statements upon the different sides
differ materially, and it follows as a corollary that one, the other, or
both must be wrong. The truth is, all are wrong. They are made
up from a prejudiced view and for a predetermined purpose. The
ordinary rule of law with reference to the effect of interest upon
credibility should be here applied with special force. Such opinion
evidence presents an unsafe criterion upon which to found a judg-
ment affecting important interests. It might make an appalling differ-
ence in deciding this important question, whether the assumed material
found in this hypothetical man corresponded with real material of
which the actual man was constructed. And whenever the expert,
who has never examined the actual man as many of the witnesses
have, fails to satisfy us that the assumed and the real correspond, we
must decline to accept his opinion upon the point in issue, as of
sufficient value to overthrow the testimony of witnesses, having per-
sonal knowledge of the real man. We shall not discuss the testi-
mony of the proponents’ experts further than to say that to our.
minds they have given fully as satisfactory reasons for the opinions -
they have expressed in the case as have the experts on the other side.
Upon the whole, we consider it more consistent with the facts shown
by the other testimony and therefore entitled to some probative force.
In fine, we at least think the opinion evidence of the proponents fully
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as convincing of the truth of their position, as that of the contestants
is of theirs. ‘

We have not undertaken to discuss this class of testimony in
detail. We have, however, endeavored to explore the grounds upon
which the experts based their conclusions, and to discover, if possi-
ble, the foundation upon which their opinions stand. This accom-
plished, our conclusion still is that the testator’s legal sanity, on
August ninth, as before dJeclared, has not in the least been shaken
by the testimony of the medical experts.

The next class of evidence bearing upon the issue of mental
capacity is found in the production of the memoranda and diaries.
These furnish us but little aid as Mr. Chandler practically ceased
writing before 1902. The last of his handwriting showed an
unsteady hand and an imperfect sight. Letters were repeated and
the lines were crooked. We should hesitate, however, to say that
this defect in the chirography of the testator was evidence of any
greater decay than that which may be attributed, in many instances,
to the weakness incident to approaching old age. It needs no expert
to inform us that the hand may tremble and the sight may fail, long
before the mind is deprived of its mental grasp. These evidences of
mental incapacity therefore must be considered in each particular
case in connection with the other testimony. The other testimony
may show that these defects are due solely to mental decline. It
may show that they are due to other causes. Without attempting to
assign any particular cause, it is sufficient to say here that the pro-
duction of the memoranda and diaries, considered in connection with
the testimony tending to prove the testator’s legal sanity, on August
ninth, which we have already reviewed, does not overcome the effect
of that testimony.

Our conclusion upon this phase of the case is, after a careful
examination of the evidence, to only a small portion of which we have
been able to allude, that Solomon H. Chandler on the ninth day of
August 1902, was in the possession and exercise of sufficient mental
power to render him of sound mind in the sense that the law requires
it.

But the contestants go further and assert that even if the court

VoL, ¢II 8
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arrives at the conclusion that Mr. Chandler was in the possession of
testamentary capacity, on the ninth day of August, the codicil should
still be overthrown, because of the exercise of undue influence in
inducing the testator to make it. They also claim that they have
proven the existence of such fiduciary relations existing between
Mr. Neal, Mr. True and Mr. Chandler, as to impose upoun the pro-
pouents the burden of showing the absence of undue influence. But
such is not the rule in this State. O’ Brien, Appellant, 100 Maine,
156.

It is charged in the argument of counsel that ¢ the preparation and
execution of the codicil was the combined act of the tripartite guard-
ianship of John W. True, William K. Neal and Andrew C. Chandler.
This tripartite guardianship contributed a large beneficiary, an execu-
tor, a self-assumed attorney for the estate and eunstodian of the codicil
and provided the witnesses in part from its composite self and the
remainder from servants within the sphere of its influence, without
any action or request from Mr. Chandler.”

We are unable to find anything in the evidence that establishes the
truth of the above charge, or warrants the severe expression of
counsel. It will require more than the acrimonious epithets of
those subject to unexpected disappointment, to induce us to believe
that men, who have passed middle age without a suspicion of wrong,
for no greater consideration than appears in this case, have suddenly
overthrown the reputation of a lifetime, and at once become unprin-
cipled and sordid malefactors. It is our duty to decide the case
upon the evidence and not upon inuendo or rhetoric. What then is
the basis of the serious charge made by the contestants against these
three men? What took place at Mr. Neal’s office when and where
the first suggestion, as to any change in his will, was made to Mr.
Chandler? We will quote substantially all the testimony upon this
point. B

With respect to the interview at the office and how Mr. Chandler
happened to be there, Mr. Neal said in answer to whether he sent
for him “I never sent for him to come and see me at any time,
for any purpose.” It is therefore plain that Mr. Neal cannot be
charged with securing the presence of Mr. Chandler in his office.
He further says, he spoke to him about the matter of the will and
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in reply to the question, “ What did you say to him,” answered, « I
said that T had been informed that he had made one or more wills,
and that in them he had given all of his property to foreign mis-
sions, and nothing to his relatives, and asked him the question if
that was not a little strange; to which he replied, as T now recall,
that that was a notion which he had; and I asked him then in
regard to his nephews, as to what sort of men they were, and he
gave them a very high recommendation.”

Now as to what was said by Mr. Neal, or by anybody else in the
office, to Mr. Chandler with respect to making a change in his will
appears in the following statement, in answer to a question; «I will
say, that as he got up to leave the office I said to him,—if you think
this matter over, Mr. Chandler, and decide to make any change, drop
in and see me when you are down here, or words to that effect. I
cannot give the exact words, and he said,—I will see, and went out.”
That is all that Mr. Neal ever said or did, as shown by the evidence,
by way of attempting to influence Mr. Chandler at the interview in
the office. There is not a syllable of testimony in the case which
pretends to show that anything else was ever said or done. That
the inquiry of Mr. Neal can be distorted into an exercise of undue
influence, is too trivial to discuss. Nor does the testimony show that
ahy other influence of any kind was at this time exerted upon Mr.
Chandler.  We find no legal or moral impropriety, under the cir-
cumstances of Mr. Chandler’s visit to Mr. Neal’s office, in Mr. Neal’s
inquiry.

He had a right under the law to suggest to the testator to provide
for his relatives who were the natural objects of his affection and
bounty, but he did not even go to this extent. He only asked if it
was not “a little strange’ that he had omitted them in the distribu-
tion of his property. Mr. Neal was not a relative of the family ;
he took nothing under the codicil, nor was he in any way directly
interested in this instrument, nor did he have any personal interest
in the distribution of the property. The case also shows that he had
no knowledge and took no part in placing Mr. Chandler under guard-
ianship, and that, on August ninth, he went to New Gloucester for
the direct and express purpose of assisting in the draft of two wills
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for neighbors of Mr. True. His interview with Mr. Chandler and
the making of his codicil upon this day were, consequently, incidental
to the main purpose.

From the time Mr. Chandler left Mr. Neal’s office until the ninth
day of August, there is neither claim nor pretence that any of the
three men charged, or any other person, even made mention of the
word will or codicil to Mr. Chaundler. If a conspiracy had been
working in the hearts of these men to improperly influence Mr.
Chandler in the distribution of his property, something would have
occurred in the furtherance of that purpose in the interval between
the visit at the office and August ninth. Up to this date we fail to
find a single word or act, on the part of either one of the three men
charged with the conspiracy, calculated to influence Mr. Chandler in
the least degree.

What then do we find upon August ninth? We have substan-
tially quoted all the testimony of Mr. Neal brought out upon cross
examination relating to what was said and done upon that occasion.
We need not repeat it. It is sufficient to say that not one word
can be attributed to the lips of either one of these three men in any
way urging, or in the least degree persuading, Mr. Chandler to make
and execute the codicil in question. A most careful scrutiny of the
evidence will show that Mr. Chandler instead of being requested to
do anything, was asked if he had thought over the matter of making
a change in his will, and then, what he had concluded to do;
and that Mr. Chandler made the reply that it was rather natural
that he should give his relatives something and thought it would be
right. Then Mr. Neal i.nquired how much he desired to give and
suggested that he could give a specific sum or make it a percentage,
and Mr. Chandler suggested ten per cent. Mr. Neal retired, made
the codicil, brought it back, read it to Mr. Chandler, then placed it
upon the roll top desk, told him that he could look it over and at
some future time, when he came into Portland, sign it. Upon which
Mzr. Chandler at once replied, it is all right, why not sign it now.

The evidence of this day’s transactions instead of tending to prove
a conspiracy, conclusively proves the contrary. If these three men
had entered into a plot to influence and induce Mr. Chandler to
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execute a codicil, diverting the succession of one-half of his property,
the instrument by which this unlawful act was to have been accom-
plished, would not have been laid upon the roll top desk to be
looked over, and at some future time signed by the victim of the
conspirators. In fine the evidence surrounding the execution and
making of this codicil presents no features of an unusual character.
There is no evidence in the case that Andrew Chandler said one
word with respect to the disposal of the property and that Mr. True
simply inquired of him if he desired to remember Madam Chandler.
While Mr. True was guardian of Mr. Chandler, he was the recipient
of no favors under this codicil.  And he reiterates his statement of
denial, in every possible form, that any one of the nephews, the
Chandler boys, or the widow of the deceased brother, Mr. Neal, or
any other person ever requested him in any way directly or indi-
rectly, to talk or confer with Mr. Chandler as to the disposition of
his property.

The burden of proof rests upon the contestants to sustain the
allegation of undue influence by a preponderance of the evidence.
They have failed to do so.

The next proposition which the contestants assert as a reason why
this codicil should not be sustained is that the three men above
charged with the exercise of undue influence were also guilty of a
fraud upon Mr. Chandler in inducing him to execute the codicil.
We feel called upon to notice but one allegation under this head and
that is that Mr. Neal read to Mr. Chandler the will and codicil of
1896, instead of the latter will of 1897, as the will which the new
codicil of 1902 was intended to republish.

We have already quoted in full item three of the will of 1896 and
shown that the corresponding item of the will of 1897 was identical,
with the exception of the clerical omission of two unimportant words.
That is, the two wills were in their substantial features precisely
alike. Mr. Neal read the will of 1896 and the codicil, and at the
request of Mr. Chandler, read it again, and as we have already held,
under the question of testamentary capacity, he comprehended and
understood it. With the exception of the provision in the will of
1897 directing a speedy settlement of the estate and a change or
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addition in the Board of Executors, there was no difference in the
provisions of the two wills. It is apparent, therefore, that the codicil
affecting the will of 1896 instead of that of 1897 perpetrated
no fraud either upon Mr. Chandler or the residuary legatees
under the will of 1897. The situation of the residuary legatees
was not changed in any degree because the codicil was applied to the
will of 1896 instead of that of 1897. If the testator was possessed
of such mental capacity on August ninth as enabled him to com-
prehend the effect of the codicil which he executed, and we have
decided that he was, we find in the evidence presented upon the
question of fraud, no adequate reason for setting it aside. ‘

Our final determination upon all the contentions of fact is, that
the codicil republished the will of 1896, and the codicils thereto,
which became a part thereof, and that said will and codicils are valid
instruments representing the last will and testament of the testator,
Solomon H. Chandler.

Appeal dismissed.  Decree of Probate Court that the
instrument purporting to be the last will and testa-
ment dated March 10, A. D. 1896, of Solomon H.
Chandler, late of New Gloucester in the County of
Cumberland, deceased, and codicils thereto, dated
August 11, 1896 and August 9, 1902, be approved
and allowed and that letters testamentary isswe to
the executors, affirmed ; ordered, that the costs, sten-
ographers and counsel fees, and other expenses of
the proponents and executors, in the Probate Court
and Supreme Court of Probate, be paid out of
said estate by the executors, and charged in their
account with said estate.  Case remanded to the
court below for further proceedings in accordance
with this opinion ; it is further ordered that the
estate is not to be cherged with the payment of any
costs, stenographers or counsel fees, or other expenses
of the contestant.
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ALDEN W. KELLEY vs. CHARLES F. TArBOX.

Washington.  Opinion November 14, 1906.

Officers.  Altachment of personal property. Same must be maintained by officer at
his peril.  Return prima facie evidence of attachment. Officer not deprived of
possession of uttached property by filing certificate as provided by slatute in
town clerk’s office.  R. 8., chapter 83, section 27.

When an officer has made a valid attachment of personal property on a
writ of attachment, he must maintain it at his peril.

When an officer has made an attachment of personal property on a writ, his
return on the writ is at least prima facie evidence that the property
enumerated in such return was attached.

When an officer has made an attachment of personal property on a writ, the
filing in the office of the clerk of the town in which the attachment was
made, of an attested copy of so much of his return as relates to the attach-
ment, etc., as provided by R.S., chapter 83, section 27,is an act inde-
pendent of the attachment, and is calculated to operate only as one of the
modes of preserving an attachment already made.

When an officer has made return on a writ of attachment that he has
attached certain personal property, it does not follow from the return that
he did not take possession of the property attached, although as a matter
of precaution he filed under the statute an attested copy of his return;
nor, even if he undertook to preserve the attachment by filing an attested
copy of his return, that he did not afterwards take possession of the
property attached.

When an officer has attached personal property on a writ and has filed an
attested copy of his return in the office of the town clerk, as provided by
R. 8., chapter 83, section 27, he does not thereby deprive himself of the
right to gain actual possession of the property attached, and to remove it
whenever necessary for its preservation.

In the case at bar, the plaintiff’ is a judgment creditor of one H. L. 8. The
original writ in the action in which the plaintiff recovered his judgment,
against H. L. 8. was placed in the hands of the then sherift of Washington
county who atlached certain personal property thereon and made return
ag follows:

““Washington, ss. April 17, A. D. 1902.

At 9:45 o’clock in the forenoon by virtue of the within writ, I attached one
carpet, one couch, one Morris chair, two rugs, four rockers, one table, one
hat-tree, one hardwood chawmber set, one rolling top desk, one table, one



120 KELLEY ¥. TARBOX, [102

bookcase, six chairs, one safe and one blank cabinet in said County of
Washington, and within five days after the above attachment I filed in the
office of the Clerk of the Town of Machias a true and attested copy of so
much of this return as relates to said attachment, with the value of said
defendant’s property, which I am herein commanded to attach, the names
of the parties, the date of the writ and the court to which the same is
returnable; and on the same day I gave to the within named defendant a
summons in hand for his appearance at court.”

After the plaintiff had obtained his judgment and execution thereon, he
placed the execution in the hands of a deputy of the defendant sheriff with
instructions to make demand, within thirty days after the date of the
judgment, upon the attaching officer, whose term of office had then
expired, for the personal property attached on the original writ. Held:
(1) that the attachment made by the attaching officer was valid ; (2) that
it was the duty of the defendant’s deputy to make demand on the attach-
ing officer, within thirty days after the date of the judgment, for the per-
sonal property attached on the original writ; (3) that the defendant’s
deputy failed to make such demand ; (4) that as the failure of the defend-
ant’s deputy to make such demand released the attaching oflicer from all
liability relating to the attachment and deprived the plaintiff of any right
of action against the attaching officer, the defendant sheriff became liable
for all damages occasioned by the neglect of his deputy.

On exceptions by plaintiff. Sustained.

Action on the case brought by the plaintiff, a judgment creditor
of one Harry L. Smith, against the defendant, sheriff of Washington
county, to recover damages caused by the alleged failure of one of
the defendant’s deputies to make demand, within thirty days after
judgment, on an execution, for certain personal property attached
by the former sheriff of said county on the original writ in the action
in which the plaintiff recovered judgment against said Smith. The
term of office of the former sheriff, who made the attachment, had
expired at the time the plaintiff obtained his said judgment and exe-
cution thereon. . »

Tried at the January term, 1906, of the Supreme Judicial Court,
Washington county. Plea, the general issue.

“After the evidence upon both sides was introduced the court
ruled that the defendant was not liable for the failure of his deputy
to make demand upon the attaching officer for the goods alleged to
have been attached, unless it be shown that there was a valid attach-
ment of such goods.

“That the return of the officer upon the original writ showing that
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an attachment was attempted to be maintained by filing in the Town
Clerk’s office an attested copy of his return under R. S., c. 83, sec.
27, of the present R. S., did not show a valid and maintained attach-
ment of such goods, since it appears that the goods were not bulky,
and there was no other reason why the same could not have been
immediately removed. . ‘

“That in view of the officer’s return it was incumbent upon the
plaintiff to prove by evidence outside of the officer’s return that a
valid attachment of the goods in question was made and maintained,
and that there is no presumption, in view of the officer’s return, that
the attachment was properly made and maintained and that there
was no sufficient evidence thereof. )

¢ The court further ruled that the action could not be maintained
and thereupon ordered a verdict for the defendant.” .

To these various rulings and to the order of the presiding Justice
directing a verdict for the defendant, the plaintiff took exceptions,
“all of the evidence, documentary and oral, to be made a part of
the bill of exceptions; but the counsel by agreement may omit from
the printed report of the case any portion of the evidence that they
agree is immaterial.”

It was also “further agreed by counsel for the plaintiff that if
the foregoing rulings and the direction of a verdict should be con-
sidered by the Law Court to be erroneous, and if the Law Court
should decide upon all of the evidence that the plaintiff is entitled
to judgment, that judgment for the plaintiff shall be ordered and the
case remanded to nisi prius for the assessment of damages only.”

J. H. Gray, for plaintiff.
A. D. McFaul, for defendant.

Srrring: EMERY, WHITEHOUSE, SAVAGE, PEABODY, SPEAR, JJ.

SPEAR, J. This is an action in which the plaintiff, a2 judgment
creditor of Harry L. Smith, seeks to recover of the defendant, sheriff
of Washington county, for the failure of IFred P. Gilson, one of his
deputies, to make a demand, within thirty days from the date of
judgment, upon an execution, for personal property attached by
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Isaac P. Longfellow, former sheriff of the county, upon the original
writ,” upon which said judgment and execution were obtained.

The facts show that the plaintiff on the 16th day of April, 1902,
brought suit against one Harry L. Smith, returnable at the next
October term of court; on the 17th day of April, the writ was
delivered to Isaac P. Longfellow, sheriff of the county, who by virtue
thereof attached certain personal property the estate of the debtor;
the writ was served and the action entered at said October term of
court and continued from term to term; on the 29th day of October
1903, judgment was entered in favor of the plaintiff for $126.00 debt
or damage and $20.70 coste; on the 3rd day of November, 1903 a
writ of execution was issued directed to the sheriff of said county or
any of his deputies; on the 6th day of November, 1903, the writ of
execution was delivered to Fred P. Gilson of Machias, then a deputy
sheriff of Charles I'. Tarbox, sheriff of said county, the term of office
of said Isaac P. Longfellow as sheriff having expired before the
rendition of judgment.

At this point the allegations became a matter of dispute but the
plaintiff avers that the said Longfellow on the 6th day of November,
1903, had in his hands and possession the goods and chattels of the
said Harry L. Smith, above described which he held by virtue of the
attachment on the original writ; that said Fred P. Gilson was on
said 6th day of November, 1903, requested by the plaintiff to
demand and receive of the said Longfellow, the goods and chattels
aforesaid and apply them to the satisfaction of said judgment and
execution, and that the said Gilson neglected and refused to make
such demand within thicty days after judgment was rendered, so that
the plaintiff lost his right of action against the said Longfellow, in
case the said Longfellow had failed to keep said goods and chattels
by virtue of said attachment as required by law and surrender them
to the officer holding the execution; and that afterwards about the
first of March, 1904, returned the execution to the plaintiff in no
part satisfied.

The plaintifi’s exceptions show that ¢ After the evidence upon
both sides was introduced the court ruled that the defendant was
not liuble for the failure of his deputy to make demand upon the
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attaching officer for the goods alleged to have been attached, unless
it be shown that there was a valid attachment of such goods.

“That the return of the officer upon the original writ showing
that an attachment was attempted to be maintained by filing in the
Town Clerk’s office an attested copy of liis return under R. 8., ¢. 83,
sec. 27, of the present R. S. did not show a valid and maintained
attachment of such goods, since it appears that the goods were not
bulky, and there was no other reason why the same could not have
been immediately removed.

“'That in view of the officer’s return it was incumbent upon the
plaintiff to prove by evidence outside of the officer’s return that a
valid attachment of the goods in question was made and maintained,
and that there is no presumption, in view of the officer’s return, that
the attachment was properly made and maintained and that there was
no sufficient evidence thereof:”

The court further ruled that the action could not be maintained
and thereupon ordered a verdict for the defendant.

The decision of this case must finally turn upon the question of
fact, whether the deputy sheriff, Fred P. Gilson, made a demand
upon Isaac P. Longfellow, the former sheriff, for the goods and

"chattels attached upon the original writ. If the evidence sustains
the contention of the defendant that he made such demand, that is
the end of the plaintiff’s case, as the deputy sheriff would have dis-
charged his full duty. If, on the other hand, the evidence proves
that he neglected to make such demand, then the defendant who was
responsible for the misfeasance of his deputies, will be liable.

By the stipulation in the record the court is to determine this issue
of fact.

When established by the plaintiff that the execution was placed
in Gilson’s hands with directions to make a demand, and that it was
returned in no part satisfied and without any demand endorsed upon
it, it then devolved upon the defendant, if he would interpose the
defense that a demand was made, to assume the affirmative of that
proposition. It was incumbent upon him to sustain the burden of
proof. We are of the opinion that, upon the evidence, he has failed.

We must then proceed farther and, upon the assumption that no
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demand was made, determine the ruling of the court. The presid-
ing Justice held as a matter of law that the return of the officer
upon the original writ “did not show a valid and maintained attach-
ment of such goods, since it appears that the goods were not bulky,
and there was no other reason why the same could not have been
immediately removed,” and further that it was incumbent upon the
plaintiff to prove by evidence outside of the officer’s return, a valid
attachment and that there was no presumption in view of the officer’s
return that the attachment was properly made and maintained.

The first question that arises for discussion is whether the officer’s
return showed a valid attachment of the goods in question. ¢ The
return of the officer is the evidence, that property referred to therein
has been attached.”  Darling v. Dodge, 36 Maine, 370.  Wentworth
v. Sawyer, 76 Maine, 434. Parry v. Griefen, 99 Maine, 420.

To constitute an attachment, it is not necessary, that the officer
should handle the goods attached, but he must be in view of them
with the power of controlling them and of taking them into his pos-
session.”  Nichols v. Patten, 18 Maine, 231.

The return of the officer on the writ of Kelley v. Smith, is at least
prima facie evidence that the property therein enumerated was
attached. The officer in his return sayé: “ At 9.45 o’clock in the’
forenoon, by virtue of the within writ, I attached one carpet, one
couch, one morris chair, two rugs, four rockers, one table, one hat-
tree, one hardwood chamber set, one rolling top desk, one table, one
bookease, six chairs, one safe and one blank cabinet in said County
of Washington.” This is the clause that constitutes the return of
the officer’s attachment and if it stopped right here would operate as
a valid attachment of the goods. Then follows another clause relat-
ing to the filing of the certificate in the town clerk’s office: “And
within five days after the above attachment I filed in the office of the
Clerk of the Town of Machias a true and attested copy of so much
of this return as relates to said attachment with the value of said
defendant’s property, which I am herein commanded to attach, the
names of the parties, the date of the writ and the Court to which the
same is returnable.”’

We are unable to discover anything in the last clause of the
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return which is inconsistent with the declaration of the officer in the
first clause that he had made an attachment. In fact the language
of the second clause “ within five days after the above attachment”
admits the attachment in the first, and becomes only the evidence of
one of the modes authorized by law of preserving the attachment.

Non constat from the officer’s return that he did not retain posses-
sion of the goods, although he had also filed his certificate under
the statute as a matter of precaution, nor, even if he underiook to
preserve the attachment by filing a portion of his return, that he
did not thereafter take possession of the articles attached.

Upon this phase of the case relating to attachments and the differ-
ent methods of preserving them, our court in Wentworth v. Sawyer,
76 Maine, 434, in discussing the reason for the statute authorizing
the preservation of attachments by filing an attested copy of a portion
of the return, say: “It will be seen by this provision that no
attempt is made to change the mode of making the attachment but
a new and easier method of preserving it is provided.” Nor are
we satisfied that the officer by filing with the town clerk the copy
and certificate required by statute deprived himself of the right to
gain actual possession of the property attached, and remove it when-
ever necessary for its preservation.” See also Parry v. Gfriefen,
supra.

The officer’s veturn shows a valid attachment- in the original suit
but the presiding Justice in ordering a nonsuit held that not only
a valid attachment must be made by the officer but must be main-
tained by him. It seems to us, however, that when an officer has
made a valid attachment upon a writ he must maintain it at his
peril.  And it becomes immaterial, if Sheriff Longfellow had made
a valid attachment, whether he maintained it or not, as he would
be liable in either case, if demand was made upon him on execution
for the delivery of the goods for the benefit of the attaching creditor.
To be sure the case at bar is not against Longfellow, but, to fix
his liability even if guilty of the misfeasance alleged, the statute
required that a demand should be made upon him for the goods
attached by a proper officer, within thirty days from the rendition
of judgment. That is, if it be assumed that Longfellow, after he
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had made a valid attachment, absolutely released it and let the
property go out of his control and custody, yet without a demand
he was relieved from all liability. On the other hand, having made
a legal attachment, he must himself assume the responsibility of
preserving it, and if by neglect, mistake or intention, he lost the
control and custody of the personal property attached so that he
could not surrender it to the -ofticer for the benefit of the creditor,
if demanded, within thirty days from judgment, he would become
liable.

Hence it was incumbent upon the officer, charged with the duty,
to make the required demand in order to preserve the liability of the
attaching officer, whether the property attached was in his custody
or not,

The duties of the attaching officer in his relations to the attaching
creditor is stated in Wentworth v. Sawyer, 76 Maine, supra, as fol-:
lows: ¢The sheriff is the mere minister of the law to preserve for
the creditor satisfaction of the debt, and it is therefore indispensably
necessary that lie should sustain such a relation to personal property
which he has seized, as will enable him to hold it to answer the pur-
pose for which it was attached. His relation to the property by
virtue of the attachment, and the reduction of it into his possession
and control, are such that he is vested with a special property in it
which enables him to protect the rights he has acquired, and this
special property continues so long as he remains liable for it, either
to have it forthcoming to satisfy the plaintif’s demand, or to return
it to the owner, upon the attachment being dissolved.”

Blake v. Kimball, 106 Mass. 115, is an action of tort against a
sheriff for the negligence of one of his deputies and clearly states
the duties of the attaching officer and his relations to the attaching
creditor, as follows: ¢ Upon the attachment of personal property
on mesne process, the duty of the attaching officer to the plaintiff in
the suit is to keep the attached property safely, so that it may be forth-
coming in order to be taken upon such execution as shall be issued
in thirty days after the final termination of the suit in a jndgment
in favor of the plaintiff. The extent of the plaintiff’s right and of
the officer’s duty, as to such property, is that it shall be forthcoming.
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During the pendency of the suit, the officer may make such arrange-
ments upon his own responsibility, in regard to the custody of the
property as he may see fit. o these arrangements the attaching
creditor is not a party, unless he should choose to make himself so
by direct participation or express consent. The removal of the
attached property beyond the officer’s reach would have no effect on
the rights and liabilities of the parties in relation to each other.
The attached goods remain constructively in the officer’s possession,
and his liability to the creditor’s rights against him, are exactly the
same as if the possession instead of being constructive was actual
and literal.”

In his ruling, the court undoubtedly assumed that inasmuch as
the attachment had not been maintained and the attaching officer
could not produce the goods, the plaintiff had suffered no loss on-
account of the failure of Gilson to make a demand within thirty days
after judgment, but it clearly appears from the above decisions-that
the attaching officer whatever had become of it, was legally responsi-
ble to the attaching creditor for the “actual and literal ” possession
of the property attached. o

Upon the necessity of demand, see Pearsons v. Tincker, 36 Maiue,
384, which was an action against an attaching officer for failure to
preserve his attachment upon a brig, which soon afterwards sailed on
a voyage and, at the time of the issue of judgment and execution upon
the writ of attachment and for more than thirty days thereafter, was
beyond the jurisdiction of the State. The execution seems not to
have been placed in the hands of the officer within thirty days for the
purpose of preserving the judgment lien, and it was held that noth-
ing had been done whatever to fix the liability of the defendant and
further that the fact that the vessel was out of the?jurisdiction of the
State, did not relieve the defendant from the necessity of seasonably
placing his execution in the hands of the officer for a demand upon
the deputy sheriff making the attachment on the original writ.

To the same effect is Wetherell v. Hughes, 45 Maine, 61, and
Bicknell v. Iill, 33 Maine, 297.

This being the law, it was the duty of Gilson, the defendant’s
deputy, in whose hands the execution was seasonably placed, to make
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" a demand upon the attaching officer within thirty days from the date
of judgment, for the goods attached upon the original writ, in order
to fix his liability for the goods so attached. In other words, such a
demand was a prerequisite to the right of the plaintiff to maintain an
action against Mr. Longfellow for not preserving the attachment.
The failure of the deputy to make such demand deprived the plain-
tiff of any right of action, whereby the defendant became liable for
all damages occasioned by the neglect of his deputy.

According to the stipulation in the report, the case is remanded to

nisi prius for assessment of damages only.
Exceptions sustained.

AMERICAN MERCANTILE EXCHANGE vs. A. G. BLUNT.

Penobscot.  Opinion November 19, 1906.
"Contracts.  Construction. Legal contracts made illegal by subsequent statute.  Tffect
of such change stated. Statute 1899, chapter 112. R. S., chapter 130, section 7.

When a contract is partly written and partly oral, the written and the oral
parts must be construed together in determining what the whole contract
expresses.

When any material part of an entire contract which was legal when made,
becomes illegal by reason of a statute subsequently enacted, such contract
is thereby wholly terminated as soon as the statute takes effect although
the time specified in the contract for its performance has not then fully
expired.

When a contract legal at its inception becomes illegal by subsequent statu-
tory enactment, no action can be maintained on such contract for a failure
to continue to perform the conditions of such contract after the illegality
has attached.

But while it is true that a contract which was legal at its inception may
become illegal by subsequent statutory enactment, yet it does not follow
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that the acts done under the contract before the enactiment of the statute
are illegal. In such case the statute puts an end to the contract and no
recovery can be had thereon for non-performance after the time when the
contiract is thus terminated. :

The plaintiff and the defendant made a contract which was parily written
and partly oral, wherein it was stipulated, among other things, that the
plaintiff should employ its “‘system’” in the collection of claims placed in its
hands by the defendant. This contract was a continuing agreement and
was intended to be operative until the same was cancelled by the parties
or abrogated by law. The parties did not cancel the same. It was a part
of the.plaintiff’s * system ”” that when judgments had been obtained against
debtors, it would advertise such judgments for sale by public posters. By
a statute subsequently enacted such advertising was made illegal, Held -
(1) that the contract was an entire contract; (2) that the contract being
an entire contract was wholly terminated as soon as the statute took
effect; (3) that the plaintiff cannot recover from the defendant for non-
performance of the conditions of the contract after the time when the
statute went into effect.

On report.  Judgment for defendant.

Assumpsit on a contract made November 24, 1897, by the plain-
tiff corporation, a collection agency, and the defendant in relation to
the collection of claims placed in the hands of the plaintiff by the
defendant. The plaintiff alleged that the defendant had failed to
perform his part of the contract and that in consequence of this
failure the defendant owed the plaintiff $75.00 for subscriptions.
The action was brought to recover this sum of $75.00.

The writ was dated May 5, 1905. Plea, the general issue with
the following brief statement: ¢ And for brief statement defendant
further says: That the alleged several promises claimed in the
declaration to have been made by the defendant were not made
within six years before the commencement of said suit.”-

Tried at the April term, 1906, of the Supreme Judicial Court,
Peifobscot County. At the conclusion of the testimony, the case
was “reported to the Law Court for determination upon so much
of the evidence as is legally admissible.”

The case appears in the opinion,

T. P. Wormwood, for plaintiff.

Martin & Cook, for defendant,
VOL. CII 9
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Srrring: Wiswenn, C. J., EMERY, WHITEHOUSE, SAVAGE,
PEaBODY, SPEAR, JJ.

SPEAR, J. This action is based upon a contract wherein the
plaintiff avers that the defendant has failed of performance on his
part and in consequence of such failure, is indebted to the plaintiff
in the sum of $75. The essential part of the contract under which
the plaintiff claims is as follows:

¢ AMERICAN MERCANTILE EXCHANGE.
Incorporated Nov. 24, 1897.

“In consideration of an annual contract in above Agency, I
hereby agree to pay said Agency, or order, all sums of money as col-
lected out of accounts placed in said Agency’s hands by me,
whether such collections or settlements are made through said
Agency’s office or by me through my office ov by any other person
in my behalf, until the same shall amount to Twenty Dollars, and I
further agree to send to the said Agency on or before ten days from
date, ten accounts, otherwise the payment of Twenty Dollars shall
become due and payable to said Agency; or order, on demand.”

This agreement was properly executed by the plaintiff and
defendant.

“To AMERICAN MERCANTILE KEXCHANGE.

“ We hereby agree to subscribe to your Exchange under the fol-
lowing special terms and conditions.

“1. You will employ your system to collect all claims we may
place in your hands, suing where you deem advisable, and using
legal means to enforce payment from debtors in any part of the
United States and Canada, and all such ¢laims shall be subject to our
control or withdrawal ; unless legal action has been taken, and all
debts that may be advertised for sale shall be held at the figures
quoted by us.” -

It will be observed by the use of the language in the first clause of
this stipulation ¢ you will employ your system to collect all claims,”
ete., that the written contract herein set forth did not state or con-
tain all the elements of the contract. What the plaintifP’s system
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above alluded to was, is not stated. The testimony, however, fully
describes the «“ system”” employed by the Agency in the collection of
accounts. In answer to the question, ¢ You have stated that when
you went to Mr. Blunt, you explained to him the method of the
Agency. Now will you explain to us what that method was?”
The agent of the plaintiff who executed the contract answered in
detail as follows: <At that time the method was to take the
list of claims on a blank form, collecting ten cents for each claim to
cover postage. A series of four letters were employed by the
Agency, the first notifying that the account was due and unpaid,
and asking them to call on their creditor and make some settlement,
and informing them at the same time that the Agency in no case
handled the money. After a certain length of time which shows on
the list, I can’t remember now, a second letter was sent informing
them of the fact that they who did not pay would be reported to the
trade if it was still left unpaid. After a certain length of time a
third one was sent informing them that they would be sued if it was
not paid, and a fourth one that when judgment was obtained, the
account would be advertised for sale by public posters, and enclosing
them a copy of one of the posters that had been already published.”

This “system,” the terms of which were not incorporated in the
written contract, nevertheless, in view of the purposes and object of
the defendant, became, by the specific written allusion to it, a mate-
rial and important feature in the performance of the contract on the
part of the plaintiff. The defendant in the written stipulation, pre-
seribing its duties, required that the plaintiff should use its ¢ sys-
tem.” Its “system” at the time the contract was executed, was
explained by the plaintifi’s agent as above set forth. When so
explained, the terms of his interpretation became as much a part
of the contract as though they had been contained in a separate writ-
ten document. Therefore, the whole coniract of the parties, or so
. much of it as is necessary to the decision of this case, is contained
in the written clauses before quoted in this opinion, and the expla-
nation of the “system’ as made by its agent to the defendant; that
is, the written and the oral parts of the contract are to be construed
together in determining what the whole contract expressed,
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_This contract was entire, and constituted a continuing agreement
and was binding upon the defendant to pay his subscription yearly
unless abrogated by consent of the parties or operation of law.
There is no pretence that the contract was mutually cancelled, but
the defendant avers that its further performance was made illegal
by the enactment of chapter 112, Public Laws of 1899, which went
into effect April 16, 1899, seven months before the maturity of the
second year’s subscription. By the contract the subscription was not
due until the end of the year. This act is now incorporated in
chapter 130, sec. 7, of the Revised Statutes, as follows: ¢ No
person, firm or corporation, shall publicly advertise for sale in any
manner whatever, or for any other purpose whatever, any list or
lists of debts, dues, accounts, demands, notes or judgments, con-
taining the names of any or all of the persons who owe the same.
Any such public advertisement containing the name of but one per-
son who owes as aforesaid, shall be construed as a list within the
meaning of this section. Any person, firm or corporation, violating
the provisions of this section, shall be liable in an action of debt,
to a penalty not exceeding one hundred dollars, and not less than
twenty-five dollars, to each and every person, severally and not
jointly, whose name appears in any such list.” i

It is clear that this statute when it took effect April 16, 1899,
absolutely prohibited the plaintiff from using that part of its ¢“sys-
> wherein it had stipulated that accounts would be advertised
for sale by public poster. It is presumed that the plaintiff did not
violate this statute and did not, subsequently to the date when it
took effect, post any list of delinquent debtors. Therefore the case
stands as if the plaintiff on the 16th day of April, 1899, had ceased
to perform its contract in respect to posting lists of debtors’ names
and advertising the judgment for sale. While the plaintiff’s contract
as to the method of advertising does not specifically state that the
posters shall contain the name of the debtor, yet the only inference
to be derived from the language used clearly sustains that conclusion.

But the full performance of its contract was a condition precedent

tem’

to the right of the plaintiff to recover the annual payment agreed
upon, whether the non-performance was caused either by the fault
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of the plaintiff, by impossibility, as by an act of God, or by a statute
prohibiting performance. Upon this point the circuit court of the
United States for the district of Pennsylvania in Odlin v. Insurance
Company of Pennsylvania, Federal Cases, Vol. 18, No. 10433, says :
«“It is a general principle of law that where a contract is lawful
when made and a law afterwards renders performance of it unlaw-
ful, neither party to the contract shall be prejudiced and the contract
is to be considered at an end.” This does not mean that a contract
legal at its inception becomes illegal by subsequent statutory prohi-
bition as to acts done before the enactment of the statute, but that
the statute puts an end to the contract and there can be no legal
recovery by the plaintiffs even if it should perform the unlawful acts,
as it is contrary to the policy of the law to permit a party to recover
for the performance of his own illegal acts or benefit by his own
wrong. The law, however, excuses the plaintiff from performing its
contract and releases it from liability to damages for non-performance,
but it does not leave it in a position to maintain an action for recovery
upon an entire contract, the performance of any part of which is pro-
hibited, even if performed.

In Greenough v. Balch, T Maine, 461, the court fully approved of
this rule of law and says: ¢ Nor are we disposed to find fault with
the doctrine, that where the consideration, or a part of it is malum
prohibitum, it violates and invalidates the promise, as much as if it
had been malum in se; both being unlawful, and neither entitled to
favor or indulgence.”

Shaw, C. J., 3 Cush. 448, in discussing the statas of illegal con-
tracts says :  “The law will not lend itsaid to carry into effect an
illegal contract, if it be executory, nor to restore the party who has
paid money on it, if executed.”

In Goodwin v. Clark, 65 Maine, 280, it was held: A person
cannot recover for his personal services, portions of which are ren-
dered in an unlawful employment, the contract being an entirety.”

In Bishop v. Palmer, 146 Mass. 469, the court say: “As a
general rule where a promise is made for one entire consideration, a
part of which is fraudulent, immoral, or unlawful, and there has
been no apportionment made, or means of apportionment furnished
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by the parties themselves, it is well settled that no action will lie
upon the promise.” But these propositions are elementary. While
these two cases do not involve the same state of facts presented in
the case at bar, yet by analogy, they are clearly applicable. In the
cases cited, it is'held that when any stipulation of an entire contract
is illegal, the contract cannot be enforced. In the case at bar the
contract is entire and a part of it became illegal, malum prohibitum,
at once upon the effect of the statute. The advertisement of a single
account for sale, however soon after the statute became a law, would
have subjected the plaintiff to the penalty prescribed. Therefore if
the plaintiff during the second year of the contract, and before it was
performed, was prohibited by law from the performance of any
material stipulation, the entire contract for the year failed and it
cannot recover even for the part performed.

For the third and subsequent years for which it has brought suit
the prohibited part of the contract was illegal from the beginning of
the year and no recovery can be had for any of these years.

Under the contract the balance of the first year’s subscription
$11.14 is barred by the statute of limitations.

Judgment for the defendant.
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ANN M. LANCEY et als. vs. DAvIiD M. PARKS.

Somerset. Opinion November 22, 1906.

Adverse possession. Disseizin.  Notice of adverse occupancy necessary, when. Con-
structive notice of adverse occupancy defined. How intention to occupy adversely
under tax sale must be shown.

To work a disseizin of the frue owner possession must be adverse.

Where one enters into possession of another’s land by the owner’s consent
such owner is not disseized, but at his election, until he has notice actual
or constructive that the occupancy is adverse.

To constitute such constructive notice there must be some visible change in
the character or nature of the occupancy, calculated to put the owner on
his gaard and notify him that the land is in the possession of a hostile
claimant,.

Where one first enters upon land after biddingin the same at a tax sale, his
intention to .occupy adversely during the year allowed for redemption
from such sale must be shown by some unequivocal act hostile to the
owner’s title, brought home to his knowledge, or which he ought to have
known in the exercise of reasonable care and diligence in regard to his

property. )

On report. Judgment for plaintiffs.

Real action to recover two lots of land situate in the town of
Detroit. Writ dated August 31, 1903. Plea, the general issue
with a brief statement claiming title to the demanded premises under
certain tax deeds and also by adverse possession.

At the September term, 1905, of the Supreme Judicial Court,
Somerset County, the parties agreed upon the facts and then agreed
that the same should be reported to the Law Court under the follow-
ing stipulations: “If upon the aforesaid ‘agreed statement of facts,
the plaintiffs are entitled to recover, then the defendant is to be
defaulted and the plaintiffs are to have judgment for the possession
of the above described premises and for their costs; otherwise the
defendant is to have judgment and for his costs.

The case fully appears in the opinion.

James M. Sanborn and E. N. Merrill, for plaintiffs.

Morse & Anderson, for defendant,
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SirriNg: WiswerL, C. J., EMERY, WHITEHOUSE, SAVAGE,
PowERs, SPEAR, JJ. '

Powgrs, J. Real action to recover two adjoining lots, forty-nine
containing sixty-five acres and fifty-one containing one hundred and
ten acres, in range four in the town of Detroit, reported to the Law
Court on facts agreed.

It is admitted that plaintiffs’ predecessor in title Wm. K. Lancey,
a non-resident owner, possessed and occupied the premises until May
26, 1883 when they were sold for taxes, and that the plaintiffs
are the legal owners unless the evidence establishes a better title in
the defendant. The writ is dated August 31, 1903.

At the tax sale the lots were bid in for $7.02 by the defendant
and one Haskell; and the town treasurer’s deed to them was dated
May 26, 1883 and recorded May 28, 1884. Haskell made a verbal
sale of his interest in the property to the defendant and has never
claimed any title to it. The defendant does not contend that he
acquired a good title to the land in question by the tax deeds. Iiis
therefore unnecessary to examine or discuss the regularity of the
tax sales. He claims title by disseizin upon the following facts as
stated by him.

“I have remained in open and exclusive possession of it (the
premises) in manner following from that time (May 26, 1883) to the
present time,

«At time I purchased the land, about fifty acres of it had been
used by one William DBasford as pasture land and he continued to
pasture the same for three or four years after I purchased it with
my permission. This portion of the land was fenced. At time I
purchased, about ten or twelve acres of the land so pastured by
Mr. Basford was cleared land, the rest of it was bush land or
covered with a young growth. There was no fence around the rest
of the land. Since then one Frank Jackson has cut the hay on the
premises, from one-half to two-thirds of a ton a year. The consid-
eration he paid me was to look after the property. He had never
pastured the land, nor have the fences been repaired by any one
since Mr. Basford ceased to occupy as stated. I have never tilled
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any portion of said premises. The land so pastured by Mr. Basford
has been gradually growing up to bushes and trees and is now
practically covered with such a growth. At time I purchased, a
large portion of the rest of the land, then not pastured by Mr.
Basford, was a second growth of gray birch and small fir and
a lot of that growing up and some small spruce and pine. The
rest of the land was covered with spruce, pine, cedar and
hard wood. T have from time to time cut small amounts of
lumber and hoop poles on this land. Fourteen years ago I cut
about twenty-five cords of wood, and eleven years ago I cut eleven
thousand feet of pine on this land. I did this openly, with the
knowledge of William K. Lancey and his assigns. It was generally
known in the neighborhood where the land is situated that I claimed
to be the owner of it and was in possession of it. Neither William
K. Lancey nor his heirs nor grantees have ever occupied or attempted
to occupy any portion of said land since May 26th A. D. 1883, but
I have occupied said land from said time in manner before mentioned,
down to the bringing of this action. I have paid the taxes on said
land since May 26, 1883, to the present time, 1904, and with the
exception of the first two years the land has always been taxed to
me.”’

. Do these acts constitute such open, notorious, exclusive and
adverse possession as are requsite to gain title by disseizin? From
the time when the defendant claims to have taken possession May 23,
1883, to the date of the writ is a few days more than twenty years
and three months. Without discussing or deciding the character and
nature of the defendant’s occupation for the remainder of that period
we think it evident that for the first year at least it was clearly
insufficient. His only occupation during that year was through
Basford pasturing a portion of the land. No other act is shown on
the part of the defendant, and no other notice to the true owner that
the land was in the possession of a hostile claimant. It is a fair
inference from the defendant’s own statement that at the time he
purchased the land Basford was pasturing it. He says: <At the
time I purchased the land, about fifty acres of it had been used by
one William Basford as pasture land, and he continued to pasture the
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land for three or four years after I purchased it with my permis-
gion.”  The date, May 26th, was a season of the year when the land
was fit for pasturage. The burden was upon the defendant to estab-
lish his alleged title by disseizin. His own statement is accepted as
true by the plaintitfs, and it is reasonable to presume that it was as
favorable to him as was consistent with the truth. Under these
circumstances his use of the words “at the time”” and ¢continued”
significantly points to the fact that Basford was pasturing the land
at the time of the tax sale. It is admitted however, that William
K. Lancey, the plaintiff’ predecessor in title was in possession and
occupation of said premises until that date. If so Basford must
have entered and occupied under Lancey up to the time of the tax
sale, although he may have occupied with the permission of the defend-
ant after that date. It is a just and well settled principle of law that
if one enter into possession of another’s land by his consent, or
as his tenant, the true owner is not disseised, but at his election,
until he has notice that the occupancy is adverse, or there has been
some change in the nature of such occupancy calculated to put him
on his guard. Alden v. Gilmore, 13 Maine 178, 1 Cye. 1032.
Here no election, notice or change is shown, nothing to notify
Lancey in any way that Basford’s occupation was not still in subor-
dination to Lancey’s title, or had assumed a hostile character. He
might well repose in security believing Basford’s possession to be
his own. Neither can we believe that the defendant intended during
the first year to occupy adversely. He does not so state. He says
he was in open and exclusive possession and that it was generally
known in the neighborhood that he claimed to be the owner of
it. He did not take possession of it until after the tax sale. His
deeds were not delivered to him until a year later. During that
year the law, which he is presumed to have known, and the very
terms of his deeds, gave to the owner the right of redemption. There
is nothing to show that during that time he claimed anything more
than a qualified ownership in the land, subject to the owner’s right
to redeem the same upon payment of a paltry sum. We do not
decide that a person, who first enters upon land after bidding it in
at a tax sale and before he has received a tax deed, can not disseize
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the owner before the expiration of the year given for redemption.
His intention to do so, however, must be shown by some unequiv-
ocable act, hostile to the owner’s title, brought home to his knowl-
edge or which he ought to have known in the exercise of reasonable
care and diligence in regard to his property. In this case for a
year after the tax sale there was no visible change of occupancy,
nothing done or said by the defendant to put Lancey upon his guard
and notify him that the land was in the possession of an adverse
claimant, and nothing stated from which it can be reasonably
inferred that the defendant himself, during that period, intended to
occupy other than in subordination to Lancey’s title and subject to
his right of redemption.

The defendant has failed to show that this possession was adverse
for the period of twenty years before the commencement of the
action.

Judgment for the plaintiffs.
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EpwArDs MANUFACTURING COMPANY, Petitioner for Mandamus,
vs.

FrRANK L. FARRINGTON et. als., Assessors of the City of Augusta.

Kennebec.  Opinion November 24, 1906.

Mandamus. Tuzation. Abatement. R. 8., chapter 9, sections 78, 74,76, 77, 78.

1. The writ of mandamus is an extraordinary writ to be issued, not to vin-
dicate a mere abstract, theoretical right, but only when necessary and
effective to secure some substantial relief or benefit.

2. The writ of mandamus should not be issued to compel municipal assess-
ors of taxes to act upon an application made to them for an abatement
of a tax, when it appears from the petition for the writ that the applica-
tion is barred by the unjustified omission of the applicant to furnish the
assessors with a list of his taxable property “ at the time appointed.”

3. To justify such omission the applicant for abatement must show that he
“was uuable to offer it at the time appointed,” R. 8., chapter 9, section
74. That the applicant in good faith supposed he was a non-resident and
had been so regarded by the ussessors for a series of years including the
year of the assessment complained of, does not justify his omission to
furnish such list if in fact he was a resident and liable to taxation as such.

On report.  Petition denied.

Petition by plaintiff company for a writ of mandamus to compel
the ‘Assessors of the City of Augusta to take action upon its appli-
cation to them for an abatement on the taxes assessed against the
plaintiff company, for the year 1904.

This petition was filed in the Supreme Judicial Court, Kennebec
County, and after its filing the following agreement in relation to
the matter was made: “In the above petition for madamus, it is
stipulated and agreed between counsel for the petitioner and for the
respondents that the case shall be heard on the fourteenth day of
September, 1906, before SPEAR, J., upon the . petition, and answer
by the respondents then to be filed and upon the evidence as upon
the alternative writ and return; that all questions of law arising
thereon, concerning the granting or denial of the peremptory writ,
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be reserved for the determination of the full Court as upon report,
and that for that purpose the case shall be forthwith certified to the
Chief Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court for the final decision
of that Court in the manuer provided by R. S., chap. 104, sec. 18,
the full Court then to determine whether 'a peremptory writ of
mandamus shall issue or the petition be dismissed.”

In accordance with the aforesaid agreement the cause was heard
by Mr. Justice SPEAR who after the hearing made the following
order in relation thereto: “In the opinion of the Justice hearing
the cause, important questions of law having arisen, this case is
hereby certified to the Chief Justice in accordance with the agree-
ment of counsel hereto annexed.” Thereupon the cause was certi-
fied to the Chief Justice as provided by R. 8., chapter 104, section
18.  There was no report of evidence or any finding of facts.

The case appears in the opinion.
Orville Dewey Baker, for plaintiff.
Frank L. Dutton and Williamson & Burleigh, for defendants,

Srrring:  WisweLn, C. J.,, EMERY, SaAvVAGE, POWERs,
PEABODY, SPEAR, JJ.

EmEerY, J. This is a petition by the Edwards Manufacturing
Company for a writ of mandamus to the tax assessors of the city of
Augusta to compel them to act upon its application to them for an
abatement on its taxes for the year 1904. The case comes before
the Law Court on report, but without any finding of facts or report
of evidence. From the petition and answer, however, the following
appear to be the material facts.

The Edwards Manufacturing Company, the petitioner, is a Maine
corporation and had property taxable in Augusta on the first day of
April 1904. Assuming that it was not an inhabitant of Augusta,
it for that reason omitted to furnish the assessors of that city with
the list of its taxable property required by the statute R. S.; ch. 9,
secs. 78, 74. Being dissatisfied with the assessment, it afterward, on
Nov. 17, 1904, made written application to the assessors under
R. S, ch. 9, sec. 76, for an abatement on its tax. The assessors
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refused to make the abatement asked for and gave to the company
written notice of their decision as required by sec. 77 of the same
chapter. The company thereupon applied to this court sitting for
Kennebee County for the desired abatement. This application was
dismissed by the court upon the ground that the company was an
inhabitant of Augusta for taxing purposes, and having omitted to
furnish the assessors with the statutory list of its taxable property
at the time appointed, was thereby barred from making application
for abatement, according to R. S., ch. 9, sec. 74.

Thereupon, on May 7, 1906 within the two years, the company
again made written application to the assessors for an abatement
on the 1904 tax, and, with the application, offered the statutory list
of its taxable property for that year. The assessors have refused
and still refuse to act upon this application either to grant it, deny
it, or even dismiss it. This petition to this court is for a writ of
mandamus to compel them to act and dispose of the application
in some way. The petitioner argues that such action is necessary
under R. 8., ¢h. 9, sec. 78 to enable it to apply to the county
commissioners, or to this court, for the desired abatement and have
a hearing on such application should the agsessors refuse to abate.

Granting, arguendo, that the assessors should have acted upon
the application to them, at least to the extent of dismissing it or
otherwise refusing it, and should have given the statutory notice of
their decision, it does not follow that the writ of mandamus should
now issue to compel them to do so. The writ is not an ordinary
writ to be sued out as matter of course. It is an extraordinary
writ to be issued only when it is made to appear clearly to the conrt
that the writ is necessary to secure some substantial right, and also
that it will be effective to secure that' right. As said in 19 Am. &
Eng. Ency. 757, 758, the writ should not be issued ¢ where, if issued,
it would prove unavailing, fruitless, and nugatory.” “A mere
abstract right, unattended by any substantial benefit to the relator,
will not be enforced by mandamus.” See Rex v. Justices, 2 B & A
391; 22 E. C. L. 108; Mitchell v. Boardman, 79 Maine 469 ;
Tennant v. Crocker, Mayor, 85 Mich, 328; State v. Board of Health,
49 N. J. L. 349.
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In this case the ultimate object of the petitioner is to procure an
abatement of its tax. Its immediate object is to obtain a hearing
by some competent tribunal upon the merits of its application for
abatement. It seeks a decision by the assessors upon the applica-
tion made to them in order that, if such decision be unfavorable, it
may make application to another tribunal. It may be conceded that
a decision by the assessors is a statutory prerequisite to such appli-
cation, (R. 8., ch. 9, sec. 78) but the question remains whether a
decision by the assessors, if unfavorable, would enable the petitioner
to obtain a hearing upon the merits of the application to such other
tribunal.  If not, then it would be useless to compel a decision by
the assessors. The mere right to make application to another
tribunal where no hearing could be had on the merits of the appli-
cation, would be “an abstract right, unattended by any substantial
benefit to the petitioner.”

It has been adjudicated that the petitioning company was and is
to be regarded as an inhabitant of Augusta for taxing purposes.
The company practically admits that it did not furnish the assessors
with the statutory list of its taxable property at the time appointed,
though due notice was given. It is therefore barred from its other-
wise statutory right to make application for abatement either to the
assessors, or to the county commissioners, or to this court, unless
it can satisfy the tribunal that it “was unable to offer it (the list)
at the time appointed.” R. S,, ch. 9, sec. 74.

It is practically conceded in the petition itself, including exhibits,
that the only excuse the petitioner has to offer to either tribunal
for its omission to furnish the list seasonably, is that it had sup-
posed it was not an inhabitant of Augusta for taxing purposes, and
that the assessors and the city for many years had regarded it as
a non-resident and had so treated it in assessing taxes upon its prop-.
erty and indeed did so in the assessment of 1904. The argument is
that, beside believing that no list was required by law, the company
was led to believe by the assurances and action of the assessors that
no list was required by them, hence it should not be held barred
from making application for abatement. .

If the statute permitted an application for abatement to be
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entertained upon ¢ reasonable excuse,” or ¢ good cause,” being

shown for the omission to furnish the list seasonably, the above state-
ment of the reason or cause for the omission might perhaps be held
sufficient for entertaining the application; but the statute requires
proof that the applicant ¢ was unable” to furnish the list. It is
evident that the facts stated do not show, nor tend to show, that
the petitioner was unable to furnish the list, however good in reason
and morals its excuse for not doing so. The company was bound
to know that a list was required by law, was bound to know that
the assessors could not lawfully have dispensed with the list. The
action of previous assessors and the prior action of the present
assessors or of the city did not suspend the law nor excuse the
company for not obeying it. ~After all is said, the company appears
to have deliberately elected not to furnish the required list. Though
it made this election under a misapprehension of its right and duty
in the premises it cannot escape the consequences.

It it be suggested that if the petitioner can get to the county
commissioners that tribunal may adjudge upon the facts stated that
the company ¢ was unable” to furnish the list, the answer is that
should the commissioners by any possibility do so their proceedings
would be quashed upon certiorari. Fairfield v. County Commis-
sioners, 66 Maine, 385. If it be suggested that the petitioner can
perhaps prove to the tribunal other facts showing its inability to
furnish the list, the answer is, as stated above, that the petition and
its exhibits indicate affirmatively that the only excuse relied on is
that above considered. It is a fair inference from the whole case
that no other exists.

1t appearing from the whole case that neither the assessors, the
county commissioners, nor this court could lawfully hear and decide
upon its merits an application by the company for an abatement of
the 1904 tax, that the company is in law and fact barred from
making such an application, that it can gain no ¢ substantial benefit” .
from a decision by the assessors, the writ asked for should be
refused. ]

Petition denied with costs.
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EpMunNp G. MURRAY vs. BRADFORD QUINT.
York. Opinion November 30, 1906.

Promissory Notes. Same defined. Holmes Notes. Limilation of Actions.
R. 8., chapter 83, section 89.

1. A note in which the payor for value received unconditionally promises
to pay to the payee or order a fixed sum of money at a fixed date is a
promissory note within the purview of the statute R. 8., chapter 83, sec-
tion 89, and if signed in the presence of an attesting witness is not barred
in six years from its maturity.

2. The addition to such promise of a statement of the consideration for the
note (not being illegal) and cf a stipulation that the goods for which the
note was given shall remain the property of the vendor until payment of
the note, does not affect the character of the note as a promissory note
within the statute cited.

3. The following insttument is a promissory note within the statute, viz :—
“$112.85. Springvale, Me., Feb. 17, 1896.
Four months after date for value received I promise to pay E, G. Murray
or order one hundred twelve and 85-100 dollars, with interest at six per
cent, the same being for the following named property which 1 have this
day bought of said Murray, one brown horse 12 years old weight 1130 Ibs.,
one top carriage made by the Water Town Spring Wagon Co., and one sef
of one-horse sleds called the Nutter sleds, said horse, carriage and sleds is
to remain the property of said Murray until said sum and interest are

paid. Payable at any Nat. Bank.

Braprorp Quint.’’
“ Attest: Dora A. MURRAY.
On exceptions by defendant.  Overruled.
Assumpsit on a written instrument of the following tenor:
«$112.85 Springvale, Me., Ieb. 17, 1896.
Four months after date for value received I promise to pay E. G.

Murray or order one hundred twelve and 85-100 dollars, with

interest at six per cent, the same being for the following named

property which I have this day bought of said Murray, one Brown
horse 12 years old, weight 1130 lbs., one top carriage made by the

Water Town Spring Wagon Co. and one set of one-horse sleds

called the Nutter sleds, said horse, carriage and sleds is to remain

the property of said Murray until said sum and interest are paid.

Payment at any Nat. Bank. BRADFORD QUINT.

« Attest, Dora A, MURRAY.”
voL. cix 10
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Plea, the general issue together with a brief statement that the
“defendant did not at any time within six years next before the
commencement of this writ promise in manner and form as the
plaintiff in his writ alleged against him.”

Heard at the January term, 1906, of the Supreme Judicial Court,
York County, before the presiding Justice, without the intervention
of a jury, with the right of exception by either party to rulings
upon questions of law.

The following facts were agreed upon: ¢ The signatures of the
maker and subscribing witness,” and “that no payments on said in-
strument have been made, and no new promise given.” The presiding
Justice found the following facts: ¢“The personal property described
in said instrument was delivered to the defendant on the day of
its date as a part of the transaction between the parties. The
defendant since the date of this transaction has resided in this
state.”

«“Upon these facts the presiding Justice ruled as a matter of law
that the instrument declared on was a good promissory note, and
that the plaintiff was entitled to recover the sum named therein
viz., one hundred and twelve dollars and eighty-five cents (112.85),
and interest thereon from date.”” To this ruling the defendant
took exceptions.

The case appears in the opinion.

Geo. A. Goodwin, for plaintiff.

Allen & Abbott, for defendant.

Srrrine : WiswgeLr, C. J., EMERY, WHITEHOUSE, SAVAGE,
SPEAR, JJ.

EMERY, J. This is an action counting on the following written
instrument as a promissory note, viz:

“$112.85 Springvale, Me., Feb. 17, 1890.

Four months after date for value received I promise to pay E. G.
" Murray or order one hundred twelve and 85-100 dollars, with
interest at six per cent, the same being for the following named
property which I have this day bought of said Murray, one Brown
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horse 12 years old weight 1130 Ibs., one top carriage made by the
Water Town Spring Wagon Co., and one set of one-horse sleds
called the Nutter sleds, said horse, carringe and sleds is to remain
the property of said Murray until said sumn and interest are paid.

Payable at any Nat. Bank. BRADFORD QUINT.

“Attest: Dora A. MURRAY.”

The statute of limitations was set up in defense but it is admitted
that the instrument was signed in the presence of an attesting wit-
ness, and that the statute does not apply to this action if the instru-
ment is a promissory note within the meaning of R, S.; ch. 83, sec. 89,
which declares that the six years limitations “do not apply to actiouns
on promissory notes signed in the presence of an attesting witness.”

The defendant’s contention is that the iustrument is simply
evidence of an agreement by the plaintiff to sell the articles therein
named, and an agreement by the defendant to purchase and pay for
them ; that there is no obligation to pay till the saleis actually made,
a circumstance striking the instrument out of the category of promis-
sory notes. The contention cannot be sustained. By the express
terms of the instrument the defendant, acknowledging value received,
unconditionally promised to pay to the plaintiff or his order a fixed
sum of money at a fixed time. This is all that is necessary to con-
stitute a promissory note within the statute cited.

The additions of the statement of the consideration (not being
illegal) and of the stipulation that the title to the goods bought by
the promise shall remain in the plaintiff until the performance of
the promise, do not at all modify the explicit terms of the promise
itself. Thereis no intimation in any part of the instrument of any
contingency in which the defendant need not pay according to the
explicit terms of his promise. The instrument is a promissory note
signed in the presence of an attesting witness, and the statute of
limitations does not apply.  Collins v. Bradbury, 64 Maine, 37.

Ezceptions overruled.
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FmeLity & Casvarnry COMPANY
vS. -

BopwELL GRANITE COMPANY.

Knox. Opinion November 27, 1906.

Cases on Report. Practice. Reports will be dismissed, when. Interlocutory motions.
R. 8., chapter 79, section 46 ; chapter 84, section 23.

1. No question arising in a case should be reported to the Law Court for
original decision, unless at such a stage of the case that the decision of
question shall in one alternative at least be a final disposition of the case
itself, or unless accompanied by a stipulation to that effect.

2. A motion, under R. 8., chapter 84, section 23, to require a party to pro-
duce books and papers for inspection is merely interlocutory. It may be
granted or denied without concluding either party upon any question of
law or fact involved in the issue to be tried, and hence, if reported as in
this case without such stipulation, the report must be dismissed.

On report. Report discharged. Case dismissed from the law
docket. ‘

Assumpsit upon four separate employers’ liability insurance
policies, the first policy running from the 19th day of March, 1900,
to the 19th day of March, 1901 ; the second from the 19th day of
March, 1901, to the 19th day of March, 1902 ; the third running
from the 19th day of March, 1902, to the 19th day of March, 1903 ;
the fourth running from the 19th day of March, 1903, to the 19th
day of March, 1904.

The declaration contained eight counts, two upon each of said
policies. The two counts founded upon the first policy are as
follows:

“In a plea of the case for that the said defendant in consid-
eration of the agreement and contract of the plaintiff to indemnify
said defendant for the period of twelve months, beginning the
nineteenth day of March, A. D. 1900, and ending the nineteenth
day of March, 1901, against loss from liability for damages on
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account of bodily injuries accidentally suffered within said period by
any employe or employes of said defendant engaged as cutters and
hewers of granite, or as yardsmen or helpers at the yardsof said
company at Vinalhaven, Jonesboro and Spruce Head in said State
of Maine, said defendant did pay the plaintiff the sum of twenty
(20) dollars; and did contract and agree, if the compensation
actually paid to all employes engaged as aforesaid exceeded the sum
of Five Thousand (5,000) Dollars, it would pay to the plaintiff
an additional amount of forty cents for each one hundred dollars
in excess of said sum of Five Thousand Dollars paid as compensa-
tion as aforesaid.

¢« And the plaintiff avers that said defendant paid as compensation
as aforesaid a large sum in excess of said Five Thousand Dollars,
the exact amount of which is unknown to the plaintiff, but which
the plaintiff believes and therefore avers is at least Twenty Thousand
(20,000) Dollars; and the defendant then and there promised to pay
the plaintiff four-tenths of one per cent on the total amount of the
sum paid as aforesaid; yet the defendant has not kept its said
contract and agreement but has broken the same.

« Also for that the said defendant in consideration of the agree-
ment and contract of the plaintiff to indemnify said defendant for
the period of twelve months, beginning the nineteenth day of Marech,
A. D. 1900 and ending the nineteenth day of March, 1901, against
loss from lability for damages on account of bodily injuries acci-
dentally suffered within said period by any employe or employes of
said defendant engaged as cutters and hewers of granite, or as
yardsmen or helpers at the yards of said company at Vinalhaven,
Jonesboro and Spruce Head in said State of Maine, said defendant
did pay the plaintiff the sum of Twenty (20) Dollars and did con-
tract and agree, if the compensation actually paid to all employes
engaged as aforesaid exceeded the sum of Five Thousand (5,000)
Dollars, it would pay to the plaintiff an additional amount of forty
cents for each one hundred doliars in excess of said sum of Five
Thousand Dollars paid as compensation as aforesaid; and did fur-
ther contract and agree that the plaintiff should have the right at
all reasonable times to examine the books of said defendant so far



150 CASUALTY CO. v. GRANITE CO. [102

as they related to compensation paid all employes at work as afore-
said. ‘

¢ And the plaintiff avers that said defendant paid as compensation
as aforesaid a large sum in excess of said Five Thousand Dollars, the
exact amount of which is unknown to the plaintiff, but which the
plaintiff believes and therefore avers is at least Twenty Thousand
(20,000) Dollars, but the defendant has not paid the plaintiff said
additional sum, and although often requested to allow the plaintiff
said right and opportunity to examine its books as aforesaid, said
defendant has neglected and refused so to do and hath not kept its
said contract and agreement, but hath broken the same.”

The other counts were of the same tenor as the foregoing with the
necessary changes of dates, etc.

The writ was returnable at the January term, 1905, of the
Supreme Judicial Court, Knox County. At the next April term of
said Court the defendant filed as its plea the general issue. After
this plea had been filed, the plaintiff made the following motion:

“And now comes the plaintiff in the above entitled action and says
that issue has been joined therein; that certain written instruments
in the possession of the defendant are material to the issue in said
action, namely : The books and pay rolls of the defendant showing
the amount paid in wages by the defendant to the several classes of
employes described in the declaration in said action, and without the
information contained in said written instruments the plaintiff is
unable to properly prepare this case for hearing, and that said books
and papers are necessary to the proofs of the plaintiff’s case.

“That access thereto has been demanded by and on behalf of the
plaintiff and has been refused by said defendant.

“ That the same Jong have been and now are in the possession of
said defendant. .

“Wherefore the plaintiff moves that after notice to the said defend-
ant and hearing thereon said defendant may be required to produce
all of its books and its pay rolls relating to wages paid to the
employes described in said declaration.””

A hearing was had upon this motion at said April term of said
court, and certain evidence offered by the defendant was taken out.
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At the close of this hearing and without any ruling or decision by
the presiding Justice, it was agreed that the matter relating to the
motion should be reported to the Law Court and that “upon so
much of the foregoing evidence asis legally admissible, the Law
Court is to make such order as the rights of the parties may require.”

Ior reasons which are stated in the opinion the Law Court refused
to act on the motion but ordered the report discharged and the case
dismissed from the law docket.

Avrthur S. Littlefield, for plaintiff.
Joseph E. Moore, for defendant.

Srrring:  WisweLn, C. J., EMERY, SAVAGE, PowERs, PEABODY,
SPEAR, JJ.

EMEry, J. In this case after issue was joined but before any
trial of that issue the plaintiff filed a motion under the statute,
R. 8., ch. 84, sec. 23, that the defendant be required to produce for
inspection certain books and papers alleged to be in its possession
and material to the issue. The presiding Justice made no decision
nor order on this motion but by agreement of the parties reported it
for the Law Court “to make such order as the rights of the parties
require.”  There was no stipulation for any disposition of the case
as the result of the order of the Law Court either way.

We think the parties, in causing this motion to be reported in
this way by itself before verdict, have misapprehended the function
and jurisdiction of the Law Court. The motion is merely interlocu-
tory.  W. U. Tel. Co. v. Locke, 107 Ind. 9, (7T N. K. 579). It may
be granted or denied without concluding either party upon any
question of law or fact involved in the issue to be tried, and no stip-
" ulation was made that either party should be so concluded. Cases
cannot be thus sent to the Law Court piece meal, one question at a
time, the case to be returned again to the Law Court when and as
often as another question may arise. Monaghan v. Longfellow, 82
Maine, 419. As said by the court in State v. Brown, 75 Maine,
456. <« 1If the case be sent to us once in this way, there is no reason
why it could not come up in the same way over and over again upon
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mofions possible to be made.” That the parties agree to such a
course does not make it lawful. ~ It would transform the Law Court
into an advisory board for the direction of the business of the court
at nisi prius, a function the Law Court cannot assume. Noble v.
Boston, 111 Mass. 485. )

All interlocutory motions and other interlocutory matters should
be disposed of at nisi prius, saving to the parties their rights of
exception or appeal, if any. They should not be sent to the Law
Court even upon report at the request of the parties, except at such
stage of the case, or upon sach stipulation, that a decision of the
question may, in one alternative at least, dispose of the case itself.
The legislature in constituting the Law Court and defining its juris-
diction (R. S., ch. 79, sec. 46,) did not intend it to be uvsed as a sub-
stitute for presiding Justices nor to relieve Judges in the trial courts
from the duty of deciding, as they arise, mere interlocutory questions
incident to the progress of the trial or the case. .

As well might motions for the appointment of auditors or sur-
veyors, or questions of the admissibility of evidence, or requests for
instructions, &e., be sent to the Law Court for original decision. Itis
evident, that even by agreement of parties, a trial should not
be interrupted or postponed in order to obtain the opinion of the
Law Court upon such questions, at least unless the parties stipulate
that the opinion in some alternative shall practically end the case.
Noble v. Boston, 111 Mass. 485. The result of the trial may
entirely eliminate the interlocutory matier from the case. Thus, in
this case, if the motion be granted, the defendant may yet obtain a
verdict and judgment, and vice versa. In such event the ruling upon
the motion will become immaterial and a decision upon it useless.
The Iaw Court cannot be required and indeed has no jurisdiction to
decide, prematurely, interlocutory questions which the subsequent
proceedings in the case may show to be wholly immaterial, unless, as
already stated, the parties stipulate that the decision may, in one
alternative at least, supersede further proceedings.

Report discharged.
Case dismissed from the law docket,
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In Equity.

AMERICAN WOOLEN COMPANY vs. KENNEBEC WATER DISTRICT.
Kennebee. Opinion November 30, 1906.

Waters and Water courses. ¢ Great Ponds.” Diversion of waters for public pur-
poses. Compensation. Condemnation proceedings. Damages. Colonial Ordi-
nance, 1641-7.  Private and Special Laws, 1899, chapler 200, section 3.

1. Lakes and ponds of more than ten acres in extent are known as ‘“great
ponds” and are under the ownership and control of the State for the
benefit of the public. The State can at its discretion authorize the diver-
sion of their waters for public purposes without providing compensation
to riparian owners upon the ponds or their outlets. Auburn v. Union
Water Power Co., 90 Maine, 516, affirmed to the above extent.

2. When the legislature has directly granted authority to divert water from
a great pond for public purposes without requiring as a prerequisite any
proceedings for condemnation, or for the ascertainment and payment of
damages, the grantee can begin such diversion at once, and a bill in equity
to restrain such diversion until such proceedings are had cannot be sus-
tained.

In equity. On report. Bill dismissed.

Bill in equity praying that the defendant, its servants, agents or
attorneys be enjoined and restrained by temporary and perpetual
injunction from taking its supply of water from China lake in
Kennebec County until certain condemnation proceedings, which the
plaintiff alleges are required by law, shall have been had, and for
such other and further relief as the nature of the case may require.
The gist of the bill is stated in the opinion. To this bill the defend-
ant filed a general demurrer.

At the hearing before the Justice of the first instance, and by
agreement of the parties, it was ordered that the cause be “reported
to the Law Court to be heard on the bill and demurrer.”

The case appears in the opinion.

Raymond & Gordon and Charles F. Johnson, for plaintiff.
Harvey D. Eaton, for defendant.
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Srrring:  WisweLL, C. J., EMERY, WHITEHOUSE, SAVAGE,
PEABODY, SPEAR, JJ.

EMery, J. Thisis a case in equity reported upon demurrer to
the bill.  The material allegations in the bill may be stated concisely as
follows: China Lake in Kennebec County has an area of some six
square miles and the outlet of its waters is through Mile Brook into
the Sebasticook River. The defendant corporation, the Kennebec
Water District, composed of the territory and people of Waterville
and Fairfield Village, had legislative authority by chap. 200 of
Private Laws of 1899 to take water from China Lake for the pur-
pose of supplying the inhabitants and municipalities of Waterville,
Fairfield Village, Benton and Winslow with pure water for domestic
and municipal purposes. Acting under this authority the Water
District has laid a large pipe from China Lake to its pumping station
in Waterville with an intake lower than the bed of the natural outlet
of the lake, and through this pipe is constantly drawing a large
quantity of water from the lake materially lowering its natural level
and the natural flow of water through the outlet down Mile Brook.
This diversion of water fromn the lake materially reduces the capacity
efficiency and value of a pre-existing mill privilege and mill of the
plaintiff on Mile Brook below the outlet.

The Water District was not requived by its charter to go through
any process of condemnation of the right to take water from China
Lake and did not do so. It simply laid its pipe and diverted the
water as under a grant from one having the full right. By its
charter, however, the Water District was made liable for all damages
that should ¢ be sustained by any person or corporations in their
property by taking of any land whatsoever, or mill privileges within
the district or water from Snow Pond, or by flowage, or by excavating
through any land for the purpose of laying pipes, building dams or
constructing reservoirs. If any person sustaining damages as afore-
said and said corporation shall not mutually agree upon the sum to
be paid therefor, such person may cause his damages to be ascertained
in the same manner and under the same conditions, restrictions and
limitations as are or may be prescribed in case of damages by the
laying out of highways.” Sec. 3 of charter.
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The prayer of the bill is that the Water District be enjoined from
taking any water from China Lake until it shall have acquired the
right to do so by due proceedings for condemnation ; hence the ques-
tion now presented is, not whether the plaintiff is entitled to any com-
pensation for the injury done its property by the Water District’s
diversion of water from China I.ake, but is whether the water dis-
trict could lawfully begin and continue such diversion for the pur-
poses named in its charter without first going through some pro-
cess of condemnation to acquire the right. If it could, then of course
the plaintiff must be remitted to its claim for compensation and
must assert that claim by some other process than a bill in equity.

China Lake is a “great pond”” being of more than ten acres in
extent, and hence with its waters is public property owned and con-
trolled by the State for the benefit of the public. 'The Colonial
Ordinance of 1641-7, reserving to the government full ownership and
sovereignty over great ponds, was extended to the territory of Maine
with the same force as in Massachusetts. The extent of that owner-
ship and sovereignty came before the court in Massachusetts in the case
Watuppa Reservoir Co. v. Full River, 147 Mass. 548. The question
there presented was whether the legislature could lawfully and
effectually grant to the City of Ifall River the right to take water
from North Watuppa Pond,

public uses without providing for compensation to be made for

a “great pond,” for domestic and

damage caused thereby to mills and mill privileges on the outlet
stream below the pond. In an elaborate opinion it was held in effect
that under the Colonial Ordinance, except as to grants made prior to
the ordinance, the State had full propriety in, and sovereignty over,
the waters of great ponds, and could at discretion divert the waters
and authorize their diversion for public uses without providing com-
pensation to riparian owners injured thereby ; that riparian lands on
a river or stream flowing out of a great pond are subject to this right
of the State to authorize a diversion of the water of the pond for
public purposes and must bear without compensation any damage
caused by the exercise of that right by the State unless the State
shall choose to make compensation ; that where the State, in granting
authority to divert the water, has not required compensation to be
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made to riparian owners for damages sustained, none need be made.
True, three Justices dissented but the concurring Justices were
Morton, Chief Justice and sometime Governor of the Commonwealth,
Field, afterward Chief Justice, Devens at one time U. S. Attorney
General, and Holmes, now a Justice of the U. S. Supreme Court; a
notable array of eminent jurists. Their opinion has never been over-
ruled. In Aubwurn v. Union Water Power Co., 90 Maine, 576, the
same doctrine in all its extent was without dissent declared to be the
law of this State. The grounds of the doctrine are fully and con-
vincingly stated in the cases cited and there is no need to iterate them
here. Indeed, the plaintiff’s counsel do not now question the author-
ity of the Massachusetts case. They only contend that this court in
the Auburn case cited (90 Maine, 576) erroneously went beyond the
Massachusetts case and erroneously held that the legislature could
not lawfully require its grantee of the right to take water from a
great pond for public purposes to make compensation for property
injured thereby. Upon this contention we have now no cccasion to
express or form any opinion as the question has not yet been pre-
sented.

Such being the settled law, it follows that the authority given to
the Water District in its charter was not merely authority to exercise
the power of eminent domain, authority to acquire by some condem-
nation proceedings the right to take water from the lake, but was
authority to take directly and at once. The grant, as to China Lake,
was of authority to take public property not private property. No
proceedings by way of condemnation were necessary to vest in the
grantee the right granted, and none were required. Condemnation
proceedings of public property or public rights already directly
granted would be anomalous and superfluous.

Conceding, arguendo, that by the terms of its charter the Water
District is made liable to plaintiff for all damages done, its mill privi-
lege and mill, nowhere in the charter do we find any stipulation
that these damages must be paid, or even adjudicated, before the
Water District begins to take water. No authority is given the
District to initiate proceedings for that purpose. It is for the
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persons or corporations ¢ sustaining damage’ to begin such pro-
ceedings. Sec. 3 of Charter.

In fine, it does not yet appear that the Water District is taking

water from China Lake without right. Hence the injunction
prayed for should not be ordered. ~Whether the district should pay
the plaintiff for damages caused by such taking is another question
to be determined in another proceeding.

3.

Bill dismissed with costs.

Warter S. CusuiNg vs. GEORGE H. WEBB.

Somerset. Opinion November 30, 1906.

Ways. Petitions.  Description of Ways.. Jurisdiction of Selectmen. Notice.
Selectmen’s Return. Evidence. Prima Facie Presumptions. R. S., 1883,
chapter 18, section 14; R. S., 1903, chapter 23, section 1.

A petition for a way is necessary to give selectmen jurisdiction to lay out
a town way under the statute.

The way must be described in the petition, and with such definiteness
that, when notice of it is given, the public and property owners will be
apprised with reasonable certainty where the way is sought to be located.

The selectmen’s return is prima facie evidence of the fact that they gave
notice on the petition, and also, of such other facts as were required by law
to be embraced in the notice, such as that the notice contained a descrip-
tion of the way, and what it was.

In a case where the original petition is not in existence, and the return
of the selectinen states that it was for a town way, *“beginning on the
north side of West Front Street, and running fowards the Kennebec river,”’
that they gave notice of their intention to lay out *‘ the same,”” and that
they stated in their notice the ‘¢ termini thereof,” and when it appears
that the use of the way has been acquiesced in many years, it is held that
there is a prima facie presumnption, at least, that the petition was sufficient
in form to give the selectmen jurisdiction to act, and it is not open to
collateral attack.

In such acase, it is also to be presumed that the laying out was in accord-
ance with the petition.
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6. In such a case it is no objection that the way as laid out consisted of
two streets running at an angle with each other, which were described
separately in the return, but connecting and forming one way, it not being
shown that the petition with the termini named in it called for only one
street substantially in one direction. The presumption as to the petition
is otherwise. )

~

The acceptance by the town of a “road as laid out by the selectmen
from ““ West Front Street to Alder Street’” was suflicient though it appears
that the road consisted of two connecting streets, running at an angle with
each other.

On agreed statement of facts. Judgment for defendant.
Action of trespass quare clausum fregit for breaking and enter-

ing the plaintiff’s close, the same being a lot on the south side of the
Kennebee River in the village of Skowhegan. The defendant was
the duly qualified road commissioner for the town of Skowhegan
on the day of the entry. He admitted the entry but claimed a
justification by reason of the fact that the locus was within the limits
of Bridge Street which he claimed was a duly located town way in
Skowhegan. The existence of such a way was denied by the plain-
tiff.  This raised the issue whether ov not Bridge Street was ever
legally laid out as a town way, and so accepted by the town.

At the March term, 1906, of the Supreme Judicial Court, Somer-
set County, an- agreed statement of facts was filed and the case sent
to the Law Court for determination with the agreement that if the
entry by the defendant was without authority of law judgment
should be rendered for the plaintiff for nominal damages ; otherwise
judgment to be for the defendant.

All the material facts are stated in the opinion.

fould & Lwwrence, for plaintiff.
Butler & Butler, for defendant.

Srrring:  WISweLL, C. J., EMERY, SAVAGE, PowERs, PEABODY,
SPEAR, JJ.

Savacg, J.  Trespass quare clausum. The title of the plaintiff
and the entry by the defendant are admitted. The defendant, who
was the road commissioner of Skowhegan, claims a justification by
reason of the fact that the locus was within the limits of Bridge
Street, a duly located town way in Skowhegan. The existence of
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such a town way is denied by the plaintifi. The only question
raised is whether Bridge Street was ever legally laid out as a town
way, and so accepted by the town.

The records of the town show that in 1885 and 1886 proceedings
relative to the location of a town way or ways in Skowhegan village
were had, as shown by the return of the selectmen and the warrant
for a town meeting and the vote of the town thereon, as follows, so
far as necessary to quote i—

“The subscribers, selectmen of Skowhegan, upon application of
James B. Dascomb and others to lay out a town way in said town,
beginning on the north side of West Front Street and ruming
towards the Kennebec river, having given seven days’ notice of onr
intentions to lay out the same and stated in said notice the termini
thereof by posting said notice in two public places. . .o

“ We therefore lay out said way as follows: Beginning in the
northerly side of West Front Street at the southerly corner of
George W. Durrell’s lot and 20 feet easterly from said corner ;
thence north 15 degrees west 12 rods; thence north 19 degrees west
41 rods ; all of said distances are over the land of John Turner.

“Said line is the center line and said street is to be forty feet wide.

“Also another street leading easterly from the above street.
Beginning at the southwesterly corner of the Morrill lot and one and
one half rods southerly from said corner, thence north fifty seven
degrees east 15 rods over land of John Turner to line between said
Turner and land belonging to the Parker estate to Alder Street :
said line is the center line and said street is to be three rods wide
.« . . 7 This return was signed by the selectmen, and was
dated February 15, 1886. The road laid out in the second of the
above descriptions is Bridge Street, and is the locus of the entry
complained of.

The warraat for the annual meeting of 1886 contained the follow-
ing article: —

“To see if the town will vote to accept the following roads as laid
out by the selectmen. First, a road from West Front Street to
Alder Street.”

Under that article the following vote was passed : —
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“Voted to accept the road as laid out by the selectmen, a road

from West Front Street to Alder Street.”
It is admitted that the original petition asking for the laying out

of the road from West Front Street towards the Kennebec River is

not now in existence, having been lost or destroyed.
A reference to the accompanying sketch will show the situation

more plainly.
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The statute, R. S., 1883, ch. 18, sect. 14, under which the select-
men acted is as follows: “The municipal officers of a town may
personally or by agency lay out, alter or widen town ways and
private ways, . . ., . on petition therefor. They shall give
written notice of their intentions to be posted for seven days, in two

public places in the town and in the vicinity of the way, describing

it in such notice, »

The plaintiff claims that the record is insufficient to show a legal
laying out, in four particulars:—first, that the petition was insuffi-
cient for lack of definiteness, to confer jurisdiction on the selectmen ;
again, that the notice given by the selectmen was insufficient becanse
it failed to warn property holders of any specific way which could
be ascertained with any reasonable certainty; then that the actual
laying out was not justified by the petition; and finally that the
road was never accepted by the town.

It is evident that a petition for a way is necessary to give selectmen
jurisdiction to lay out a way under the statute. ~ And we think also
that such a petition must be so definite that when notice of it is given,
the public and property owners will be apprised with reasonable cer-
tainty where the way is sought to be located.  While the statute
does not in terms require the petition to describe the way, as it does
in cases of petitions to the county commissioners for the laying out of
highways, R. S., ch. 23, sect. 1, it does require the selectmen to
describe the way in their notice. And as their jurisdiction is based
upon the petition, it is reasonably to be implied that the way must be
described in the petition. For unless a way is described in the
petition, there is no proposed way to be described in the notice, and
the selectmen would be without jurisdiction to give notice.

In this case there was a petition, but it is now lost, and the plaintiff
seems to rely upon the inability of the defendant to prove affirma-
tively that the petition did describe the way with sufficient definite-
ness. But we do not think this difficulty is insurmountable. The
selectmen’s return is prima facie evidence of the fact that they gave
notice on the petition, and also, we think, of such other facts as were
required by law to be embraced in the notice, such as that the notice
contained a description of the way, and what it was. Cool v, Crommet,

vVoL. cII 11
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13 Maine, 250 ; Ink'Vts of ILimerick, Pef'rs. 18 Maine, 183.
This return states that the petition was for.a town way ¢ begin-
ning on the north side of West Front Street and running
towards the Kennebec river,” that they gave notice of their
intentions to lay out ‘“the same,” and that they stated in
their notice the “termini theregf,” that is, the termini of the way
asked for in the petition, and as asked for. The return therefore
shows that the selectmen gave notice of their intentions to lay out a
way beginning at West Front Street and running towards the Ken-
nebec river, and therein stated the termini. That must be held to be
sufficient, so far as notice was concerned. Packard v. County Coms’s,
80 Maine, 44; Hayford v. County Conu’s, 78 Maine, 156. And
while we do not say that the return should be deemed evidence of the
contents of the petition unless incorporated therein by reference or
otherwise, we think that when it appears by the return of selectmen
that they acted upon a petition for a way, in a general course, which
they state, and that they stated in their notice ¢ the termini thereof,”
meaning as we have stated, the termini of the way as asked for, and
when the use of the way has been acquiesced in for many years, there
is a prima facie presumption at least, that the petition was sufficient
in form to give the selectmen jurisdiction to act. Harlow v. Pike, 3
Maine, 438; Larryv. Lunt, 37 Maine, 69. It is not now open to
collateral attack. Higgins v. Hamor, 88 Maine, 25. This disposes
of the first two objections. :
And if our conclusions so far are sound, there is little difficulty
with the remaining ones. To the objection that the actual lay-
ing out was not justified by the petition, it is sufficient to say that
for the reasons already given, it is now to be presumed that the
laying out was in accordance with the petition. It is no objection
that the way as laid out consists of two streets, which are described
separately in the return. They connect and form one way. The
argument that the way as laid out had more than two termini, that
is that each street had two termini, and therefore was not the way
as petitioned for, would be sound, if it were shown that the petition
with the termini named in it called for ouly one street substantially
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in one direction. But that is not shown, and the presumption now
is otherwise.

Finally, the town accepted the road as laid out, namely from West
Front Street to Alder Street. This was one way, though it consisted
of two connecting streets, one of which was Bridge Street, the locus
in this action. The only objection, as it seems to us, is that the
acceptance in terms did not include so much of the first street -laid
out as lay northerly of Bridge Street. Whatever might be said
about this section of the first street, we do not think it can now be
properly held that Bridge Strect was not accepted.

Judgment for the defendant,

CAROLINE G. ALLEN, -Petitioner, vs. WarLrer H. Foss.
Washington.  Opinion November 30, 1906.

Quicting Title.  Pelition therefor cannot be maintained, when. R. S., chapter 66,
sections 33, 34, chapler 106, sections 47, 48.

1. Whether a devisee, before probate of will, can make petition to quiet
title to real estate, under R. S., chapter 106, sections 47 and 48, and after
probate, maintain the petition, quaere.

2. A petition to quiet a title to real estate, under R. 8., chapter 106, sections
47 and 48, cannot be maintained, when it appears that the respondent,
after the filing of the petition, conveyed his interest in the real estate or
was adjudged a bankrupt.

On exceptions by plaintiff. * Overruled.

Petition brought under the provisions of R. S., chapter 106, sec-
tions 47 and 48, to quiet title to real estate, to wit ““certain undivided
portions of Cross Island in the town of Cutler,” Washington County.

This petition was duly filed in the Supreme Judicial Court,
Washington County, and notice thereon was ordered and service
thereof was made as provided by R. 8., chapter 106, section 47.
The defendant then duly appeared and filed his answer to the petition,
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The matter was heard before the presiding Justice at the January
term, 1906, of said Supreme Judicial Court. After hearing had,
the presiding Justice ruled that the proceedings could not be main-"
tained and denied the petition. To this ruling the plaintiff excepted.

All the material facts are stated in the opinion. :

C. B. & E. C. Donworth and H. H. Gray, for plaintiff.

William R. Pattangall, for defendant.

SrrriNe: EMERY, WHITEHOUSE, SAVAGE, PEABODY, SPEAR, JJ.

Savacg, J. DPetition to quiet title to real estate, brought under
R. 8., ch. .106, sects. 47 and 48. The petitioner is the residuary
devisee under the will of Richard Allen, who died November 9,
1904. His will was presented for probate at the December term,
1904, of the Probate Court in Washington County. Notice was
ordered on the petition returnable at the February term, 1905. The
Probate Court admitted the will to probate, March 1, 1905. An
appeal was taken to the Supreme Court of Probate, and at the Octo-
ber term 1905, of that court, the will was finally admitted to probate.

In the meantime, the pending petition was filed December 29, ..
1904. Notice was ordered thereon returnable at the April term,
1905, of the Supreme Judicial Court. At the January term, 1905,
counsel for the respondent entered their appearance upon the docket.
On March 27, 1905, the petitioner caused a certificate, setting forth
the names of the parties, the date of the petition and the filing
thereof, and a description of the real estate in litigation, and signed
by the clerk of court, to be recorded in the registry of deeds for
Washington County. Personal service of the petition was made on
the respondent April 11, 1905. On the same day, but whether
before or after the service of the petition does not appear, the
premises were conveyed by the respondent to one McRae. On.
September 26, 1905, the respondent was duly adjudged a bankrupt-,‘
on petition of his creditors, and a trustee of his estate was appointed,
who duly qualified. The respondent in his answer alleges that he
does not claim any estate in the premises, because of the conveyance
and the adjudication in bankruptey.
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Upon these facts, the court below ruled that the proceedings could
not be maintained, and denied the petition. We think the ruling
was right. It will be noticed that when the petition was filed, the
will of Richard Allen had just been filed in the Probate Court. The
required notice had not then been given, and the will had not been
admitted to probate. It was not admitted until several months had
elapsed, and after litigation. It is, of course, true that when the
will was finally probated, the petitioner’s title to the premises related
back to the death of the testator. She was entitled to the rents
and profits from that time. Her deed in the meantime would have
conveyed the estate, subject only to the right of the executor to take
and sell it to meet the necessities of administration. And it might
turn out after the administration that there was no residuum, and
hence that the petitioner for that reason took no title, or at best a
defeasible one.

But whatever may have been her rights after final probate of the
will, a different question is presented, when the petitioner, before
probate, begins a proceeding of this kind against an outsider, to try
titles. Her title was not contingent in law, but it was not established
“in fact. It required proof. It might be sustained, it might not be.
While it may be that so far as prima facie title is concerned, the
petitioner might have maintained a real action commenced when this
petition was and tried after the will was probated, Rand v. Hubbard,
4 Met. 261, it may not necessarily follow that this petition can be
maintained. The decree, if for the petitioner, must be based upon
a finding “that the allegations in the petition are true,” R. S,
chapter 106, section 48, that is, the allegations of facts as
existing at the date of the petition. And we think that it may
well be doubted whether by the statute it was intended to per-
mit one to begin proceedings to quiet title, when his own title
is not established, and cannot be without further legal procedure, and
perhaps litigation. It would seem hardly just to permit one to hale
a supposed adversary into court, when at the time he is unable to
prove his own title, and may never be able to prove it. The will
may turn out to be void because of the mental incapacity of the
testator, or because of the undue influence of some one, or because of
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the want of essentials in execution. Nor is there need that an
expectant devisee should thus seek to protect his estate. The statute,
R. S., ch. 66, sects. 33 and 34, provides for the appointment of
special administrators, when there is a delay in granting letters
testamentary, and such administrators may preserve and protect all
the estate, both real and personal, and for that purpose may maintain
suits.  Libby v. Cobb, 76 Maine, 471.

But, without considering this point further, we think there is in
another respect an insuperable obstacle to the maintenance of this
petition. The respondent has conveyed his interests in the estate.
He has also been adjudged a bankrupt. He disclaims any existing
estate. The prayer of the petitioner is that the respondent show
cause why he should not bring an action to try his title. 1f the
petition is sustained, the decree will be that he bring an appropriate
action, which in this case is a real action. Ie will be directed to
become a demandant of the premises. The suit when commenced
must have all the ordinary incidents of a real action, both in plead-
ings and proof. The allegations and proof must be made with
reference to the date of the writ.  Berry v. Whitaker, 58 Maine, 422,
It will not be sufficient for the demandant to allege and prove that
he was seized at some time within twenty years, but is so seized no
longer. 'The judgment must inevitably be for the defendant. The
real cause of litigation will not be tried. Nothing will be decided
except that the demandant conveyed before suit was brought. This
proceeding is purely a statutory one, and the statute authorizing it
does not reach a situation like this. It is casus omissus. Whether
it would be wise and practicable so to amend the statute as to pro-
vide for such a cage is not for the court to say.

It is urged, however, that the present proceeding is lis pendens as
to the purchaser, and that he will be bound by the judgment, if suit
is brought, or barred, if the order of the court is disobeyed.

But we do not think so. If the respondent should attempt to
obey an order of court to bring an action, the purchaser, even assum-
ing the common law doctrine of lis pendens to apply, would be bound
by the judgment only so far as the litigated issues might be decided,
which in this case would be only that the demandant had parted
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with title before suit. That question would lie at the threshold of
the case, and must necessarily be the only one decided. The judg-
ment therefore would not bind the purchaser upon the question now
sought to be litigated. If the present respondent had commenced a
real action before he conveyed and the case had bzen tried upon the
general issue, no doubt his grantee would have been bound by the
judgment.  Berry v. Whitaker, 58 Maine, 422. But even then, by
proper plea and proof, the defendant might have obtained judgment
on the ground that the demandant had conveyed, Rowell v. Hayden,
40 Maine, 582, and the real cause of the controversy would have
remained undecided.

Now since an attempt on the part of the respondent to obey an
order to try title would be entirely futile, the order itself would be
nugatory, and it would seem that no one’s right would be affected.
It would be a strange thing indeed for a court to make an order
which cannot be executed, when the only purpose for making it is to
apply the doctrine of lis pendens to a third party, in case of failure
to obey. We do not think the statute R. S., chap. 106, sects. 47

and 48 contemplates such a proceeding.
Exceptions overruled.
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In Equity.
HorAck A. STONE, Trustee, vs. CARA A. McLAIN, et als.

Penobscot.  Opinion December 1, 1906.

Wills.  Construction. Trust. Termination of trust. ‘‘Family.”

The fourth clause of the will of Mary J. Stewart is as follows: ‘“All the rest
and remainder of my estate of every kind real and personal I give and
devise to said Gertrude, Martha and Cara, wives of my sons Charles,
Edward and Rowland, and to my son Harry D. Stewart, equally share and
share alike, and I wish that the indebtedness of Thos. J. Stewart & Co.
shall be deducted from the shares and property so given and devised to
the said wives of my sons Charles, Edward and Rowland, and that the
property so as above given to said three wives of my three sons be for the
education of their children and the support of their families respectively—
and I enjoin them to so use and expend it.”” Since the death of the testa-
trix, Rowland has deceased leaving no children, and the wife Cara has
married.

Held : that she is no longer a member of the family of Rowland; that by
said clause she took the entire beneficial interest in the estate devised to
her subject to a particular and temporary charge; that the purposes of
the trust created upon said estate have been accomplished and the trust
thereby terminated ; and that said estate should be paid and turned over
to her. :

See Clifford v. Stewart, 95 Maine, 38.

In equity. On report. Decree according to opinion.

Bill in equity brought by the plaintiff as trustee under the last
will and testament of Mary M. Stewart, late of Bangor, deceased,
asking the court to determine whether or not a certain trust created
under the last will and testament of said deceased had been termi-
nated, and if so to determine to whom the property held by the plain-
tiff as trustee under said last will and testament should be paid and
turned over.

The facts are stated in the bill which, omitting formal parts, is as
follows:

“Horace A. Stone of Bangor in said Penobscot County, a Trustee
under the will of Mary M. Stewart, as hereinafter set forth, com-
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plains against Cara A. McLain of Cannon City in Fremont County,
State of Colorado, and against Milton 8. Clifford of said Bangor,
Administrator with the will annexed of Mary M. Stewart late of
said Bangor, deceased, and against Arthur Chapin of said Bangor,
Administrator of the estate of Rowland W. Stewart, late of said
Bangor deceased, and against Charles M. Stewart, Gertrude H.
Stewart and Harry D. Stewart all of said Bangor and against
Edward L. Stewart and Martha J. Stewart, both of Sault Ste Marie
in the Province of Ontario in the Dominion of Canada, and says:

“First. Mary M. Stewart, formerly of said Bangor, died on the
fourteenth day of August, A. D. 1899, and left a last will and testa-
ment, which was duly approved and allowed by the Probate Court
of said Penobscot County at the December Term of said Court,
A. D. 1899, and said Milton S. Clifford was duly appointed and
qualified as Administrator with said will annexed of said Mary M.
Stewart. A copy of said will is attached, marked ¢Exhibit A’
and made a part of this bill as though fully recited at length herein.

“Second. By the fourth paragraph of said will the testatrix, said
Mary M. Stewart, made bequests in the following terms, viz:
‘IV. All the rest and remainder of my estate of every kind real
and personal I give and devise to said Gertrude, Martha and Cara,
wives of my sons Charles, Edward and Rowland and to my son
Harry D. Stewart equally, share and share alike, and I wish that
the indebtedness of Thos. J. Stewart & Co. shall be deducted from
the shares and property so given and devised to the said wives of my
sons, Charles, Edward and Rowland, and that the property so as
above given to said three wives of my three sons be for the education
of their children and the support of their families respectively —and
I enjoin upon them so to use and expend it.’

“Third. The defendants, Charles M. Stewart, Edward L. Stewart
and Harry D. Stewart, together with Rowland W. Stewart (then
alive but since deceased) were the only children and heirs at law of
said Mary M. Stewart, and all said children survived her; the
defendant Cara A. McLain was at the date of the death of Mary M.
Stewart the wife of Rowland W. Stewart, and Gertrude H. Stewart
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was then and still is the wife of Charles M. Stewart and Martha J.
Stewart was then and still is the wife of Edward L. Stewart;
“Fourth. As to the property bequeathed to said Cara, wife of
Rowland W. Stewart, by the fourth paragraph of the aforesaid will
the testatrix, said Mary M. Stewart, created a trust, and said Cara
having failed to qualify as Trustee upon due proceedings had at the
September Term of the Probate Court for said Penobscot County
A. D. 1901 said Rowland W. Stewart was appointed and thereupon
qualified as Trustee to administer said trust, and received the trust
funds and administered them till his death, but no part of the prin-
cipal or interest of said fund was paid out to or for any cestui que
trust.

“Tifth. Said Rowland W. Stewart died the twenty-ninth day of
September, A. D. 1904, and upon due proceedings had your com-
plainant, Horace A. Stone, was appointed Trustee in the place of
.said Rowland W. Stewart at the April Term of said Probate Court
A. D. 1905, and has qualified as said Trustee, and received the trust
funds, and is now such Trustee.

“Sixth. At the December Term of said Probate Court A. D.
1904 said Arthur Chapin was appointed Administrator of the estate
of said Rowland W. Stewart, and has qualified as such and is now
such Administrator;

“Seventh. Ior more than three years next previous to the death
of said Rowland W. Stewart said Rowland W. Stewart and said Cara
did not live together as husband and wife, and since the death of said
Rowland W. said Cara A. has married and her name is now Cara A.
Mecl.ain; no children were ever born to said Rowland W. Stewart
and his wife Cara, and the defendants Charles M. Stewart, Edward
L. Stewart and Harry D. Stewart are the sole heirs of said Rowland
W. Stewart ;

“Kighth. All the property in the hands of the trustee is personal
property, and aggregates about eleven thousand dollars. ( $11,000)

¢« Wherefore your complainant prays this Honorable Court to
determine and decree,
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“1. Tf said trust has been terminated and if the Court shall so
decree then to determine and decree to whom the property held by
your complainant as Trustee as aforesaid shall be paid and turned
over.

«“2. If the said trust has not been terminated then to determine
and decree to whom he shall pay and turn over the trust property in
his hands and how much thereof, principal and income, and at what
times.

“That the complainant may have such other and further relief as
the nature of the case may require.”

The defendants in their answers admitted the allegations of fact in
the bill to be true and joined in the prayer of the bill.

The will of the said Mary M. Stewart which is dated July 8,
1899, and was by her duly executed, is as follows:

«“I, Mary M. Stewart, of Bangor, Maine, do muke this my last
will.

“J. I give to my grandchildren one thousand $1,000 to each
one and I wish and direct that this shall be devoted and expended
for their education.

“II. I give to each of my sons one hundred dollars, to each
($100.)

“TII. I give to Gertrude . Stewart, wife of Charles my son,
to Martha J. Stewart, wife of IEdward my son, to Georgia Stewart,
wife of Harry, my son, and Cara A. wife of Rowland, my son—
being the wives of my four sons, all the furniture, plate, books, in
my homestead equally, share and share alike except certain pieces
and articles a memorandum of which to be made by me or under my
direction which I wish given to the persons named in said memo-
randum and I enjoin and request my sons and their wives to deliver
the articles to the persons as named in said memorandum, which I
will have made by Mrs. Eva Parker. .

“IV. All the rest and remainder of my estate of every kind real
and personal I give and devise to said Gertrude, Martha and Cara
wives of my sons, Charles, Edward and Rowland and to my son
Harry D. Stewart equally, share and share alike, and I wish that



172 STONE ¥. MCLAIN. (102

the indebtedness of Thos. J. Stewart & Co. shall be deducted from
the shares and property so given and devised to the said wives of my
sons, Charles, Edward and Rowland, and that the property so as
above given to said three wives of my three sons be for the education
of their children and the support of their families respectively —and
I enjoin upon them so to use and expend it.

“T hope that my sons and their wives shall in the settlement of
my estate and the division of the property given them act harmoni-
ously and without dissension or dispute.

“J appoint my four sons Edward, Charles, Rowland and Harry
and Charles P. Stetson executors under this will and it is my wish
that they should not be required to give bonds.”

Hearing on the matter was had before the Justice of the first
instance at the February Rules, 1906, where it was agreed that the
cause should be reported to the Law Court ¢ upon bill and answers
for determination thereof.” ‘

F. H. Appleton and Hugh R. Chaplin, for plaintiff.

E. C. Ryder, for defendants Cara A. McLain and Arthur Chapin.

Milton 8. Clifford, pro se.

Terrence B. Towle and Matthew Laughlin, for defendants Charles
M. Stewart, Edward D. Stewart, Gertrude H. Stewart and Martha
J. Stewart.

StrriNg: WHITEHOUSE, SAVAGE, PowERs, PEABODY, SPEAR, JJ.

Powegrs, J. Bill in equity to construe the following eclanse of
the will of Mary J. Stewart.

“«IV. All the rest and remainder of my estate of every kind
real and personal I give and devise to said Gertrude, Martha and
Cara, wives of my sons Charles, Edward and Rowland, and to my
son Harry D. Stewart, equally share and share alike, and I wish
that the indebtedness of Thos. J. Stewart & Co., shall be deducted
from the shares and property so given and devised to the said wives
of my sons Charles, Edward and Rowland, and that the property so
as above given to said three wives of my three sons be for the educa-
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tion of their children and the support of their families, respectively—
and I enjoin upon them so to use and expend it.”

This clause was before the court for construction in Clifford v.
Stewart, 95 Maine, 38, and it was there held “that the testatrix intended
to create a trust upon the estate bequeathed to the wives to the extent
of securing the education of her sons’ children and the support of
their families.” The court however, at that time declined to declare
what persons had any interest under this clause of the will and the
extent, amount and nature of such interest. Since then Rowland has
deceased leaving no children, and his wife, the defendant Cara A.
MecLain, has remarried. She never qualified as trustee, but her hus-
band Rowland was appointed by the Probate Court to administer
said trust, and since his decease the plaintiff Stone was appointed
and qualified as trustee in his place. The trust fund in the hands of
the trustee amounts to about eleven thousand dollars in personal
property. No part of the fund has been paid out to or for any
cestui que trust.

This court 1s asked to determine:

1. If said trust has been terminated, and if this court shall so
decree, then to determine and decree to whom the property held by
said trustee shall be paid and turned over.

2. If the said trust has not been terminated then to determine
and decree to whom he shall pay and turn over the trust property in
his hands and how much thereof, principal and income and at what
times.

At the date of the will, the three sons, Charles, Edward and
Rowland, constituting the firm of Thomas J. Stewart & Sons, were
indebted to the creditors of the firm in a sum exceeding its assets in
addition to some ten thousand dollars owed by them to the testatrix.
What she desired was the education of the children, the support of
the families of the sons, to save the legacies from their creditors and
that the residue of the estate should be divided equally and fairly
among all her sons. To the son who was solvent she gave one fourth,
and to the wives of the other three sons she gave each one- fourth
charged with a trust to the extent of securing the education of the
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children of the three sons and the support of their families. Thus
much appears and is settled in the case above cited.

We find nothing in the will or in the surrounding circumstances
to show that the testatrix used the word family in any other than its
common, ordinary sense, of those who live under the same roof and
form the fireside of the father or head of the family. At the date
of the will the family of Rowland consisted of his wife and himself.
After his death and the remarriage of his wife, his family as a family,
ceased to exist. 'The trust was for the education of the children and-
for the support of the individuals composing the respective families
named, so long as they remained members thereof. The festatrix in
the case of the children could not have intended that they should not
only have been educated and supported while members of the
family but should also be supported from the trust fund during their
entire lives, even after they had married, become the heads of their
own families, living apart and no longer counstituting a part of the
families of her sons. Yet such would be the result in case the sup-
port provided was for the individuals who at one time composed the
family without regard to whether they continued to remain members
of it. In the case of Cara, the wife of Rowland, having become by
her marriage a member of the family of Mr. McLain, she can no
longer be held to be a member of Rowland’s family entitled to sup-
port out of the trust fund. In the closely analogous case of
Bradlee v. Andrews, 137 Mass. 50, a trust was created for the sup-
port, maintenance and comfort of the testator’s son and three
daughters and their families. It is there said: ¢ The word ¢ family’
as used by the testator, would include his son and daughters,
together with their respective children so long as they should live
together and form a portion of the same household, or from their
tender years be entitled to be treated as its members. It would also
include the wife of the son, if she continued to reside with, or be
entitled to support from, him.”

The purposes of the trust created upon the estate given to Cara
having been accomplished, the trust itself is thereby terminated, and
the only question remaining is to whom shall the trustee turn over
the property. Theanswer depends upon whether the property was
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given to Cara for a particular purpose with no intent that she should
take any beneficial interest, or whether the intention was to give her
a valuable interest, subject to a particular and temporary charge. It
is claimed for Cara that she took the entire beneficial interest, and by
the other defendants that she took no beneficial interest and that,
the trust declared having terminated, there is a resulting trust in
favor of the heirs at law of the testatrix. The intention of the
testatrix must govern. We have already seen that the testatrix had
in mind certain things, that her sons should share equally in the
benefits of her estate and that in the cases of Charles, Edward and
Rowland, their shares should not be subjected to the claims of their
creditors. She could not accomplish both these purposes by giving
the property directly to these three sons; she therefore gave it to
their wives subject to a trust for the education of their children and
the support of their families. If the share so given to Cara is to be
regarded as intestate property a large portion might be subjected to
the claims of the creditors of Charles, Edward and Rowland,
contrary to the testatrix’s intention. The testatrix divided the
residuum of her property into four equal shaves. The entire interest
in one of these shares was given to her son Harry D. Stewart and we '
cannot escape the conviction that it was the intention of the testatrix
to give to each of the wives of the other three sons the entire interest
in one of these shares subject to the trust imposed upon it for the
benefit of the children and family of her husband. Asis said in
Stewart v. Clifford ; ¢ No reason is shown why she wished to diserimi-
nate in favor of one and against the other three, and the will strongly
shows that she did not.” A construction which gives a beneficial
interest to the wives is more in harmony with her intention to make
equal division of the benefits among the sons. The legatees were
daughters in law, and the relation in which they stood to the testa-
trix is of some weight in determining whether it was intended that
they should take a beneficial interest. In the fourth clause of the
will the wives of the sons take the property by the same words in
which the entire interest in the share of Harry D. Stewart is given
to him, and then after providing that the indebtedness of each son to
the testatrix is to be deducted from the shares “so given and devised
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to the wives of my said sons,” the trust is created upon those shares.
Immediately after clause IV of the will, she again says that she hopes
that her sons and their wives in the settlement of her estate “and
the division of the property given them” will act in harmony and

without dispute or dissention.

Our conclusion is that it was the intention of the testatrix that the

wives of her sons Charles, Edward and Rowland should take the
entire beneficial interest in the shares of the residuum given and
devised to each of them ‘severally, subject to the trust created upon
it, and that the property held by the plaintiff as trustee should be
paid and turned over to Cara A. McLain.

Decree accordingly.

Oscar FROMMEL et al. vs. GEORGE L. Foss.

Aroostook.  Opinion December 3, 1906.

Contracts. Sales. Non-delivery. Justification~ Options. Same must be
seasonably exercised.

The defendant, in February 1004, agreed to deliver to the plaintiffs ten car-

[

loads of potatoes at New York City in the following March ; and by another
contract in the same February to deliver ten other cars of potatoes at New
York City in the same month of March; and by another contract in the
same February, to deliver fifteen other cars of potatoes to the plaintiffs at
New York City in the same March or the first of April. And in the last
case, the proposition accepted was to deliver in March if the defendant
could get the cars. All the potatoes were to be shipped on the plaintiffs’
orders, and were to be shipped from Aroostook County. Up to the night
of March 24, only five cars had been ordered out by the plaintiffs, and they,
one each day from March 22. On March 24, the defendant refused to per-
form the contracts, for the alleged reason that the plaintiffs had not season-
ably ordered out the potatoes. Held :

That the plaintiffs having the option when to order out the potatoes, it
was their duty seasonably to order the shipments, so that the defend-
ant could secure the cars, prepare them for use, load them, and deliver in
New York, in the month of March, all the potatoes contracted to be
delivered there under the first two contracts.
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2. That the evidence shows clearly that the plaintiffs failed to order out the
potatoes in season for the defendant to obtain cars, fit them, load them
and deliver the potatoes in New York in March, it being practically
impossible to do so in the time after March 24.

3. That time was of the essence of the contract, and that the defendant had
a right to be permitted to deliver the potatoes in March, and as the plain-
tiffs failed to afford him the opportunityso to do, he was justified in refus-
ing to perform.

4. That as to the third contract, the defendant had the right to deliver the
potatoes at New York in March if cars could be had ; that he was entitled
to have an opportunity seasonably to try to secure cars; and that it was
the duty of the plaintiffy, by giving orders seasonably, to atford the defend-
ant a reasonable opportunity to performn his contract in March, or to
endeavor to perform it. This they failed to do.

5. By reason of the failure of the plaintiffs to perform their clear duty, the
defendant was justified in cancelling the orders, and upon the evidence,
the action for the breaches of the three contracts, by way of non-delivery,
is not sustainable.

On motion and exceptions by defendant.  Motion sustained.
Exceptions not considered.

Action of assumpsit to recover damages for the alleged breaches
of contracts to deliver to the plaintiffs certain carloads of potatoes
which they had bought of the defendant. The plaintiffs were potato
dealers in New York City, and the defendant was a potato dealer in
Aroostook County, Maine.

The declaration in the plaintiffs’ writ contained three counts which
are as follows: ’

“In a plea of the case for that on the 17th day of February,
1904, at Fort Fairfield, in said county, to wit:— At Caribou, in con-
sideration that the plaintiffs, at the special request of the said defend-
ant, had bought of the said defendant a large quantity of potatoes to
wit:—Ten car loads of the variety known as ‘Green Mountain’
potatoes, at the price of $2.70 per barrel for each and every barrel
thereof, to be delivered at New York City, in the State of New
York, in March, then next ensuing, and had then and there prom-
ised said defendant to accept all the said potatoes, and to pay for the
same at the price aforesaid, the said defendant then and there
promised and agreed to deliver the said ten carloads of ¢Green
Mountain’ potatoes to the plaintiffs at New York City, in the State
of New York, in March, then next ensuing, at the price of $2.70 per
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barrel, as aforesaid, and the plaintiffs aver that they, on the 24th day
of March, 1904, requested the said defendant to deliver them the
said ten carloads of potatoes, as aforesaid, in accordance with the
terms of his agreement, and the plaintiffs aver that they were then
and there ready and willing to accept the said potatoes and pay for the
same in accordance with the terms of their agreement and were then and
there ready, and offered to accept and receive the said potatoes from
the said defendant. Yet the said defendant then and there refused,
and though often thereto requested has ever since neglected and
refused, to deliver to the said plaintiffs the said potatoes in acccord-
ance with the terms of his said agreement.

“ Also for that on the 18th day of February, 1904, at Fort Fair-
field, in said county, to wit : — At Caribou, in consideration that the
plaintiffs, at the special request of the said defendant, had bought of
the said defendant a large quantity of potatoes, to wit:-— Five cars
of the variety known as ¢ Green Mountain’ potatoes, and five cars of
the variety known as ¢ Hebron’ potatoes, at the price of $2.70 per
barrel for each and every barrel thereof, to be delivered at New
York City, in the State of New York, in March, then next ensuing
and had then and there promised said defendant to accept all the said
potatoes, and to pay for the same at the price aforesaid, the said
defendant then and there promised and agreed to deliver the said five
cars of ¢Green Mountain’ potatoes, and the said five cars of
‘Hebron’ potatoes, to the plaintiffs at New York City, in the State
of New York, in March, then next ensuing, at the price of $2.70 per
barrel, as aforesaid, and the plaintiffs aver that they, on the 24th day
of March, 1904, requested the said defendant to deliver them the
said ten carloads of potatoes, as aforesaid, in accordance with the
terms of his agreement, and the plaintiffs aver that